
 

This agenda was published on 20 September 2024 

Pensions Committee 

Agenda 

Monday, 30 September 2024 at 6.30 p.m. 
Committee Room - Tower Hamlets Town Hall, 
160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 

Members: 

Chair: Councillor Ana Miah 

Vice Chair: Councillor Jahed Choudhury 

 
Councillor Saied Ahmed, Councillor Kamrul Hussain, Councillor Faroque Ahmed, 
Councillor Maisha Begum and Councillor Abdal Ullah 

Co-opted Members:  
Kehinde Akintunde (Trade Union Representative) 

Substitutes: Councillor Asma Begum, Councillor Iqbal Hossain, Councillor 

Shahaveer Shubo Hussain, Councillor Maium Talukdar and Councillor Abdul Wahid 

[The quorum for the Pensions Committee is 3 voting Members] 

Contact for further enquiries:  

Farhana Zia, Democratic Services Officer, 

farhana.zia@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

020 7364 0842  

2nd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London, E1 1BJ  

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee 

 

Public Pack



 

 

 
Public Information  
 
Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings 
 
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting online.  
 
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting 
room for observers may be limited due to health and safety measures. You are advised 
to contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place. 

 
Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 

Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website from day of publication.   

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for the relevant 
committee and meeting date.  

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android apps 

Scan this QR code to view the electronic agenda  

 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 

 

 

A Guide to Pensions Committee 
 
 

To consider pension matters and meet the obligations and the duties of the Council 
under the Superannuation Act 1972, and the various statutory requirements in respect of 
investment matters. 
 

Public Engagement 
Meetings of the committee are open to the public to attend, and a timetable for meeting 
dates and deadlines can be found on the council’s website.  
 

http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/mgAgendaManagementTimetable.aspx?RP=327


 

 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

Pensions Committee  

 
Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
6.30 p.m. 

 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (PAGES 7 - 8) 

Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest, identified in the Code of 
Conduct for Members to determine: whether they have an interest in any agenda item 
and any action they should take. For further details, see the attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Members are also reminded to declare the nature of the interest at the earliest 
opportunity and the agenda item it relates to. Please note that ultimately it is the 
Members’ responsibility to identify any interests and also update their register of 
interest form as required by the Code. 
 
If in doubt as to the nature of an interest, you are advised to seek advice prior the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services. 
 

2. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) (PAGES 9 
- 16) 

To confirm as a correct record the unrestricted minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 1st July 2024. 
 
 

3. PETITIONS  

To receive any petitions relating to matters for which the Committee is responsible. 
 

4. SUBMISSIONS / REFERRALS FROM PENSION BOARD 

5. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 

5 .1 Training by Hymans Robertson - Triennial Actuarial Valuation (Pages 19 - 42) 
 

5 .2 Employer Engagement and Communications Report (Pages 43 - 64) 
 

5 .3 Governance Report (Pages 65 - 196) 



 
 

  

 
5 .4 Pensions Administration Report - June 2024 (Pages 197 - 204) 

 
5 .5 Pension Fund Risk Register - 30 June 2024 (Pages 205 - 214) 

 
5 .6 Training (Pages 215 - 222) 

 
5 .7 Work Programme (Pages 223 - 242) 

 

6. ANY OTHER  BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT 

7. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  

In view of the contents of the remaining items on the agenda the Committee is 
recommended to adopt the following motion: “That, under the provisions of Section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985, the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting for the consideration of the Section Two business on the grounds that it 
contains information defined as Exempt in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act,1972.”  
 
EXEMPT SECTION (Pink Papers)  
The Exempt/Confidential (pink) papers for consideration at the meeting will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be 
divulged to third parties. If you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, 
please hand them to the Democratic Services Officer present or dispose of them in the 
confidential bins. 
 
 

7 .1 RESTRICTED MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) (Pages 243 - 252) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the restricted minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 1st July 2024. 
 
 

7 .2 Triennial Actuarial Valuation 2025 and Funding Update (Pages 253 - 262) 
 

7 .3 Draft Annual Report and Accounts 2023-24 - Update (Pages 263 - 300) 
 

7 .4 Changing Membership and Sustainability of the Pension Fund  
 
“To Follow” 
 
 

7 .5 Liquidity and Cashflow Monitoring - 30 June 2024 (Pages 301 - 306) 
 

7 .6 Quarterly Investment Review - June 2024 (Pages 307 - 392) 
 



 
 

  

Next Meeting of the Pensions Committee 
Monday, 11 November 2024 at 6.30 p.m. to be held in Committee Room - Tower 
Hamlets Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive. 

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In such 
matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding Non DPI 
- interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



Further Advice contact: Linda Walker, Interim Director of Legal and Monitoring Officer, Tel: 0207 

364 4348 

APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

Page 8



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE PENSIONS COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 6.32 P.M. ON MONDAY, 1 JULY 2024 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM - TOWER HAMLETS TOWN HALL, 160 WHITECHAPEL 
ROAD, LONDON E1 1BJ 

 
Members Present in Person: 
 
Councillor Ana Miah Chair 
Councillor Jahed Choudhury  Vice-Chair 
Councillor Saied Ahmed (Cabinet Member for Resources and the Cost of 

Living) 
Councillor Kamrul Hussain (Cabinet Member for Culture and Recreation) 
Councillor Faroque Ahmed  
Councillor Maisha Begum*  
Kehinde Akintunde GMB Union Representative 

 
Members In Attendance Virtually: 
 
Councillor Abdal Ullah  

 
 

Apologies: 
 
  

 
Others Present in Person: 

Steve Turner  Mercer 
Sandeep Chandarana Mercer 
Colin Robertson  Independent Adviser 

 
Officers Present in Person: 

Paul Audu (Interim Head of Pensions & Treasury) 
Abdulrazak Kassim (Director Finance, Procurement and Audit) 
Farhana Zia (Democratic Services Officer, Committees, 

Governance) 
 
 

Officers In Attendance Virtually: 

Carole S Bowes (Employment Lawyer, Legal Services, Directorate 
Law, Probity and Governance) 

 
*Councillor Maisha Begum arrived late for the meeting.  
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of pecuniary interest declared by members of the 
Committee.  
 
Mr Colin Roberston, independent adviser to the Committee, declared a non-
pecuniary interest and said he was about to commence work for a Fund 
Manager who might be a sub-manager for a London CIV fund in which the 
Tower Hamlets fund might invest. He thought this should not have an impact 
on his ability to advice the Committee.  
 

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
Councillor Saied Ahmed moved, and Councillor Kamrul Hussain seconded, 
that Councillor Jahed Choudhury be appointed as the Vice-Chair of the 
Pensions Committee for the 2024-25 municipal year.  
 
This was put to the vote and was agreed:  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED:  
 

1. That Councillor Jahed Choudhury be appointed Vice-Chair of the Audit 
Committee for the 2024-25 municipal year. 

 
3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  

 
The unrestricted minutes of 25th March 2024 were AGREED to be an 
accurate record of the meeting and were APPROVED by the Committee.  
 

4. PETITIONS  
 
No Petitions relating to the matters for which the Pensions Committee is 
responsible had been received by the Officer.  
 

5. SUBMISSIONS / REFERRALS FROM PENSION BOARD  
 
There were no submissions from the Pension Board. The Board meets after 
the Committee on this occasion on the 8th July 2024. The Independent Chair, 
Mr John Jones will submit a report for the next meeting of the Committee.  
 

6. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

6.1 Pensions Committee Terms of Reference, Membership, Quorum and 
Dates of Meetings 2024-25  
 
Ms Farhana Zia, Democratic Services Officer introduced the standard Terms 
of Reference report. She explained that each Committee is presented with its 
Terms of Reference and related information for noting.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to: 
 

Page 10



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

1. Note the Terms of Reference, Quorum, Membership and Dates of 
future meetings as set out in Appendices 1,2, and 3 of the report. 

2. Determined the preferred time at which to schedule meetings will be 
6:30 p.m. 

 
6.2 Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Closing 2023/24 and External Audit  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury presented the Pension 
Fund year-end closing for the 2023/24 accounts and provided an update on 
the external audit work.  
 
He said EY were preparing to audit the accounts which were appended to the 
report at appendix 1. The Committee would have a further opportunity to 
approve the accounts once they had been audited.  
 
In response to comments and questions from members the following was 
noted:  
 

 Members asked if there were any queries that had been raised by the 
external auditors. Mr Audu said EY were in the preliminary stages of 
preparing to audit the Pension Fund accounts and said this would be 
addressed by the time the accounts are ready for sign off.  

 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the report and the draft unaudited Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
Statement of Accounts, included in the Council’s draft Annual Financial 
report 2023/24 as appended to the report at appendix 1.  

 
6.3 Governance and Compliance Statement  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury introduced the report 
stating the Pension Fund was required to have an updated Governance 
Compliance Statement. He said officers were developing the Statement which 
would be presented to the Board and the Committee in September 2024.  
 
In response to comments and questions from members the following was 
noted: 
 

 Referring to paragraph 3.5 of the report, members asked why the 
Statement had not been updated previously. Mr Audu responded 
saying there was nothing controversial about updating the statement, 
as it was considered good practice to regularly review and update the 
Compliance statement, so changes made to the LGPS environment 
are picked up and refined. He said this was needed so to ensure the 
document was up to date.  

 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

Page 11



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

1. Note the report and the current TH Pension Fund Governance 
Compliance Policy including the compliance statement appended at 
appendix 1, which requires updating.  

 
6.4 Admissions Policy  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury presented the 
Admissions policy report. He said the LGPS regulations set out the types of 
employers that can join the Fund and this was set out in paragraph 3.1 of the 
report. He said it was recommended the admission policy be reviewed once 
every three years and as such officers would be reviewing the policy in 
consultation with the Fund Actuary. He said that the updated policy would be 
presented to the Committee and Board in September 2024. 
 
In response to comments and questions from members the following was 
noted:  
 

 Referring to paragraph 3.11 of the report and the 10 outstanding legacy 
cases of unfinished employer admissions, members asked what had 
been done to resolve this. Mr Audu stated active steps were being 
taken to rectify this, by engaging with stakeholders and prospective 
external employers who wanted to join the scheme.  

 Mr Audu clarified that the admissions policy would come into effect 
once this had been approved by the Board and Committee.  

 In answer to what had been done to mitigate risk so new employers 
joining the scheme were not a liability to the scheme, Mr Audu said any 
prospective employer needed to apply to the scheme and were 
required to meet the criteria. He said the Actuary and Council lawyers 
were involved in the process and would provide the advice needed 
before an employer is admitted into the scheme.  

 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the current TH Pension Fund Admissions Policy included in the 
report at Appendix 1; 

2. Note the current TH Pension Fund’s standard Admission Agreement 
template included in the report at Appendix 2; and  

3. Note that officers have identified 10 outstanding legacy Admission 
Agreements with employers and are working in collaboration with the 
employers, TH legal and procurement services, and the Fund Actuary 
to resolve any issues and complete them if possible.  

 
6.5 Training Strategy  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury introduced the report 
stating the Pensions training strategy set out the expectations for Board and 
Committee training considering their responsibility and remit. 
 
He said members needed to be knowledgeable and skilled in the work of the 
Pensions Committee and Board and said training was an essential part of 
this. He referred to paragraph 3.1 in the report which listed the governance 

Page 12



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

structure and framework for training. He said the Committee and the Board 
would be provided with a refreshed training strategy to consider at its next 
meeting in September 2024.  
 
In response to comments and questions from members the following was 
noted:  
 

 Councillor Choudhury commented that the Pensions Committee had at 
its last meeting requested to meet with Fund Managers at their place of 
business and asked if this had been organised? He said this would 
provide members with useful insight and give them a better 
understanding of how investments are made. Mr Audu said this had not 
been done but he would try to organise this.  

o ACTION: Mr Audu to arrange a visit to a Fund Manager’s place of 
business for Pension Committee members.  

 Mr Audu proceeded to inform members of the various types of training 
available to them, from attending conferences and seminars to 
accessing online training programmes.  

 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the report and the scope of the proposed draft training strategy to 
be provided to the Pensions Board on the 16th September and 
Pensions Committee on 30th September 2024 for consideration and 
approval respectively.  

2. Note the current TH Pension Fund Training and Development Policy.  
 

6.6 Annual Benefits Statements (ABS) 2024  
 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury stated the Annual 
Benefit Statements for active and deferred members of the scheme had to be 
produced by the 31st August 2024. He said work was underway to meet this 
deadline. He referred to paragraph 3.3 onwards which set out the changes 
that had been applied. Referring to paragraph 3.6, he said data quality was 
paramount and his team was working with third party providers to ensure the 
information it had was correct and complete.  
 
In response to comments and questions from members the following was 
noted:  
 

 Mr Audu said he was hoping to achieve a 99% success rate in the 
production of the Annual Benefits Statements. He said the process 
outlined at paragraph 3.5 would benefit from the data cleanse.  

 In response to anomalies in data, with some pensioners over or under 
paid, Mr Audu said officers were working with third party providers such 
as Zellis and Heywood to ensure information was correct on both the 
payroll and pensions systems respectively. He said historical errors 
were being investigated to see how overpayments could be recouped 
and underpayments rectified.  

Page 13



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

 In response to what contingency plans were in place, for data sharing 
with third parties, Mr Audu said a clear process was in place. There 
was a secure system in exchanging data.  

 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the report and work being carried out by the Pension 
Administration Team to ensure the timely provision of the 2024 Annual 
Benefit Statements.  

 
7. TRAINING EVENTS  

 
Mr Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury stated that this was a 
standing item on the agenda, used to report on training undertaken by 
members. He said he had earlier in the meeting spoken about training and 
said relevant training would be provided to members.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the comments of Mr Audu and welcomed the opportunity of 
participating in upcoming training events. 

 
8. PENSIONS COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  

 
Mr Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury said the workplan set out 
the reports coming the Committee for the year ahead – municipal year 
2024/25. He said that he would try to adhere to the workplan however it was 
subject to change when required. He said the policies he had spoken about 
would be brought back to the Committee for consideration.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the work plan for the Committee.  
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  
 
There was no other business to be discussed.  
 

10. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
The Chair MOVED and it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 
1985, the press and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for 
the consideration of the Section Two business on the grounds that it contains 
information defined as Exempt in Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act,1972. 
 

Page 14



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

10.1 RESTRICTED MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  
 
The restricted minutes of the meeting of 25th March 2024 were agreed to be 
an accurate record of the meeting and were approved by the Committee.  
 

10.2 City Gateway Cessation report for South Quay College  
 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury presented his report, 
stating the Committee was being asked to consider the City Gateway 
Cessation report for South Quay College.  
 
Following discussion Committee members did not agree with the 
recommendations within the report.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Receive a further report once Officers had done further work on the 
report.  

 
10.3 Quarterly Investment Review – March 2024  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury stated the report 
informed members of the performance of the Pension Fund investments and 
its investments managers for the quarter ending March 2024. 
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the content of the report;  
2. Note the monitoring report for Quarter to 31st March 2024 from Mercer 

(Appendix 1)  
3. Note the advice from Mercer, supported by the Independent Advisor, 

and agreed to rebalance the Fund’s index-linked gilt allocation back to 
its target, with this increase in allocation being funded from a 
commensurate reduction in the allocation to LGIM Passive Low Carbon 
equities.  The rebalancing action was delegated to Officers. (Appendix 
2)  

4. Note the update from the independent adviser for Quarter to 31st March 
2024 (Appendix 3) 

5. Instruct Mercer to prepare a paper for the September Pensions 
Committee meeting summarising the extent of any exposure to Israel 
and the Middle East within the Fund’s invested assets.  The paper 
should also discuss the course of action the Committee could take 
should it consider reducing this exposure.  

 
10.4 Carbon Metrics Review  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury stated the report 
informed members of the progress made by the Fund in relation to the 
Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI), over the year to 31st March 2023. 
Mr Sandeep Chandarana from Mercer referred to the key highlights and 

Page 15



PENSIONS COMMITTEE, 01/07/2024 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

8 

summary in the appended report and explained the progress made by the 
Fund.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the content of the report; and  
2. Note the Mercer LBTH Carbon Metrics Report 2023 appended at 

Appendix 1, in particular the proposed actions stated on page 2 of the 
report.  

 
10.5 Draft Updated Investment Strategy Statement  

 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury stated the Investment 
Strategy appended to the report had been revised and updated. Mr Steve 
Turner from Mercer explained the changes made to the strategy referring to 
the tables within the report.  
 
Following discussion, the Committee partially agreed with the report.  
 
The Pensions Committee RESOLVED to:  
 

1. Note the content of the report; and  
2. Asked for further clarity to be provided in relation to Affordable Housing 

and Renewable Energy in the ISS.  
 

10.6 Independent Adviser Report – Q1, 2024  
 
Mr Paul Audu, Interim Head of Pensions and Treasury clarified the additional 
item. He explained the Independent Adviser report formed part of item 10.3 as 
appendix 3 and was not intended to be presented to the Committee 
separately.  
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 9.03 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Ana Miah 
Pensions Committee 

 

Page 16



Pension Board Submission to the Pensions Committee 

 

To: Pensions Committee 

From: John Jones Independent Chair Tower Hamlets Pension 

Board 

Date:30th September 2024 

 

1. The Pensions Board held a hybrid meeting on Monday 16th 

September. The main items on the agenda were a presentation 

from Hymans Robertson on the 2025 Triennial Actuarial Valuation; a 

review of the Pension Fund Risk Register; the current position in 

Pensions administration; and consideration of the work plan for 

2024/25 and training needs for Board Members. The meeting was 

well attended with 6 members present in the room or online. 

 

2. The presentation from Hymans Robertson was well received with 

several questions from members of the Board. These included the 

impact of longevity nationally and in particular in Tower Hamlets; 

the effect of changes in prudence on the investment strategy; the 

age profile of members and the calculation of future liabilities. The 

Board will be updated on the development of the triennial actuarial 

valuation with the review at a future meeting.  

 

3. The Board considered the report on Employer Engagement and 

Communications and are fully supportive of the proposal to hold a 

forum for employers and members early in 2025. Linked to this the 

Board’s full support for new initiatives to engage with employees on 

the benefits of the LGPS Pension Scheme and to encourage those 

who are not currently members to join the Fund. The 

communications plan attached to the new strategy statement sets 

out a range of means and targets. These should be monitored and 

reported on as part of the regular performance statement on 

Pensions Administration. 

 

4. The Board reviewed the Governance report setting out the 

Governments Actuary’s review of the LGPS fund valuations. It was 

noted that the Actuary had not raised any red flags in respect of the 

Tower Hamlets fund; and the current very good funding level of the 

Fund was welcomed.  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



5. In previous reports I have highlighted the importance of training 

and development for both Committee and Board members. A report 

setting out proposals for an online learning was discussed and fully 

supported by the Board. I would encourage the Committee to also 

consider their individual training requirements given the emphasis 

placed by the Pensions Regulator on knowledge and skills training 

for Committee members. LBTH officers will be liaising with Board 

and Committee members on the new training arrangements. 

 

6. The Board considered the update on pensions administration and 

noted the generally good progress being made, albeit there were 

mixed performance figures reported. Questions were asked on 

membership numbers and those who remain undecided; the 

arrangements for despatching annual benefit statements; the 

current position on the i connect system; and staffing levels and 

vacancies in the pensions team. In order to address backlogs of 

work and improve performance, it is very important that the team 

has a full complement of staff with the right skills. This is an issue 

that the Board monitors on a regular basis. 

 

7. A report on the updated risk register was reviewed and discussed 

by the Board. It was suggested that the report be amended to 

include more information on the mitigation actions being taken, and 

for target dates for completing tasks be included in future. The 

importance of the ongoing data cleansing exercise was discussed 

and noted. I have highlighted the importance of this in previous 

reports to the Committee.  

 

8. The Board had a long discussion on the implications arising from 

Human Rights issues and how this interacts with the Fund’s current 

investments. The view of the Board is that these should be 

considered in the context of the Fund’s policy on ESG issues, and 

the Fund’s investment strategy. 

 

9. The Board were also updated on the current position in finalising the 

outstanding audits of accounts; and the liquidity and cash flow 

monitoring report. It was agreed to hold a training session at a 

future meeting on the issues arising from a maturing pension fund. 

         John Jones  

19th September 2024 

 

 

Page 18



Hymans Robertson LLP® is a limited liability partnership registered in England 

and Wales with registered number OC310282. Authorised and regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority and licensed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries 

for a range of investment business activities. 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Pension Fund

Pensions Committee/Board Actuarial training 

September 2024

Barry Dodds FFA

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 5.1



Actuarial valuation basics

P
age 20



3

How the Fund works

Collect money
(contributions)

Pay money out 
(benefits)

Invest money
(its assets)

Overriding goal of the valuation is to make sure there is enough money to pay the benefits

P
age 21



4

How do we get the sides to balance?

Employer contributions are the main tool we can control to meet the balance of cost

Benefits

Investment returns

Employee 

Contributions

Employer 

Contributions

P
age 22



5

Why else we do a valuation?

Calculate employer contribution rates

Compliance with legislation

Analyse actual experience vs assumptions

Review Funding Strategy Statement

Part of continual ‘health check’ on Fund solvency

The triennial valuation is a key risk management exercise for the Fund

P
age 23



6

How we do the valuation

Ratio of assets held against 

benefits promised to date

“Funding level”

Estimated cost of future benefit 

accrual

“Primary Contribution Rate”

Estimated cost to fund benefits 

promised to date

“Secondary Contribution Rate”

Data for lots of 

members

Financial assumptions

Demographic 

assumptions

LGPS benefit structure

Inputs Actuary’s models Primary outputs

P
age 24



7

Key decision of the valuation

Benefits 

earned to 

date

Assets 

today

Future 
investment

returns

Future 

contributions

ManagersLiabilities Assets

Benefits 

earned in 

future

Funding level

Comparison of ‘assets today’ vs. 

‘benefits earned to date’

Balance sheet snapshot of Fund at 

valuation date

Key funding strategy decision  

How much to rely on contributions 

vs investment returns?

P
age 25



8

Setting strategy is a balancing act

High risk funding strategy

Cost of 

benefits

Investment 
returns Cost of 

benefits

Contributions

Investment 
returns

Contributions

Low risk funding strategy

We must set employer contributions with an appropriate level of prudence (i.e. risk)

P
age 26



Funding update and change 
in environment

P
age 27



10

What’s happened since 2022?

Funding level has improved since 2022 (was 

123%)

Assets returns were lower than expected up to 

September 2023 but have since improved 

Rising interest rates & high inflation

General insights

Higher expected return on the Fund’s assets

The funding level has risen to 163% at 30 June 2024

P
age 28



11

High inflation

High inflation increases the cost of benefits

Pension increases of 10.1% (2023) and 6.7% (2024)

Future inflation remains uncertain

General insights

Immediate impact on Fund’s net cashflow position

Monitoring inflation is important to manage long-term benefit cost and short-term cashflow risks

UK inflation over past 10 years

P
age 29



12

Investment outlook

Expected returns are higher for all asset classes

Higher returns driven by increased interest rates

Leads to a lower value placed on Fund’s liabilities

General insights

Caution required at 2025 valuation

The improvement in funding level is being driven by higher expected future investment returns

Expected future investment returns

P
age 30



Key funding risks

P
age 31



14

Key uncertainty: Investment returns

Future investment performance is uncertain during periods of increased market volatility

Future investment returns remain uncertain

Funding position is based on 65% likelihood

General insights

Prudence levels will be reviewed at 2025 valuation

P
age 32



15

Key uncertainty: Cashflow position

Focus on cashflow is increasing due to inflation and potential impact of contribution reductions

Cashflow negativity becoming more likely

Sensitive to future levels of inflation

Contribution reductions would worsen the position

General insights

Cashflow monitoring to be carried out more 

frequently

Projected cashflows and net cashflow position

Source: LGPS Sample Fund

P
age 33



16

Key uncertainty: Life expectancy

Socio-economic factors can make a big difference to longevity  

Source: Club Vita, map available at https://maps.clubvita.co.uk

P
age 34

https://maps.clubvita.co.uk/


17

Recent longevity trends

Improvements slowing down

Long term impact of the pandemic uncertain

LGPS ‘bucking the trend’ on excess deaths

General insights

Monitoring longevity trends is key to setting life expectancy assumptions 

Source: CMI_2022 model. Life expectancies calculated using projected qx rates, using calibration data, with W2020 through W2022 set to 100% and Sκ set to 0%.

P
age 35



18

Key uncertainty: Climate risk

Factor in extreme risks when exploring strategy at 2025 valuation

Climate damages could be extreme

Sectors have strong correlations under stress

Events can cascade through supply chains

General insights

The low-carbon transition may be sudden

Global food supply shock (example)

P
age 36



19

Market risk

• High inflation

• Interest rates

• Market volatility

A challenging environment?

19

New economic cycle?  What are the key risks to future funding…

Longevity risk

• Increased deaths

• Longevity trends

• Future improvements

Climate risk

• Inflation

• Investment returns

• Longevity

Cashflow risk

• High inflation

• Reduced contributions

• Liquidity risks

Covenant risk

• Economic environment

• Demographic changes

• Regulatory environment

P
age 37



2025 valuation

P
age 38



21

Surplus – what now?

Benefits 

earned to 

date

Assets 

today

Future 
investment

returns

Future 

contributions

Liabilities Assets

Benefits 

earned in 

future

Funding level is ‘past service’ only 

Majority of benefits yet to be earned

Balance future contributions vs investment risk

General insights

Setting contributions requires careful management

Key risk 

decision

Where to 

draw this 

line?

P
age 39



22

Surplus – what are the options?

Seek to balance employer affordability with long term sustainability

1. Reduce employer 

contributions

2. Change 

investment strategy

3. Increase 

prudence levels
4. Retain the surplus

P
age 40



23

2025 valuation – key dates

Q3
Q4

Q2

Model council contribution 
rates Sept ‘25 – Oct ‘25

Plan agreed 
July ‘24

Planning, strategy and decision making Data, calculations and reporting

Q1 Q3

Q4

Project End

Review funding policies 
and principles                   

Autumn/Winter ‘24

Pre-valuation work    
(e.g. Data cleansing)                    

March ‘25

Finalise 
assumptions 

June ‘25

Whole fund results     
September ‘25

Funding strategy statement 
December ’25 – February ‘26

Final valuation report 
& employer rates 

March ‘26

31 March 2025

Employer results     
November ’25 –  
December ‘25

P
age 41



Thank you

The material and charts included herewith are provided as background information for illustration purposes only. 

This PowerPoint presentation is not a definitive analysis of the subjects covered and should not be regarded as a 

substitute for specific advice in relation to the matters addressed. It is not advice and should not be relied upon. 

This PowerPoint presentation contains confidential information belonging to Hymans Robertson LLP (HR) and 

should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any third party without prior consent from HR. HR accept no 

liability for errors or omissions or reliance upon any statement or opinion herein.

© Hymans Robertson LLP. All rights reserved. 

P
age 42



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources  

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Employer Engagement and Communications Report 

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report updates the Pensions Committee on Employer engagement and 
communications from the Fund. 

 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the content of this report. 
 

2. Agree officers’ proposal to hold a Pension Fund Information Forum for 
scheme employers and members in January 2025, at TH Town Hall, date 
and the event agenda to be agreed with the Fund Actuary and Investment 
Consultant. 

 
3. Note that officers will provide an update on the proposed Forum planning 

including a draft agenda to the Committee in November for consideration 
and, if satisfied, approval. 

 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 Communication and early engagement with stakeholders is central to the 

Pension Fund’s success.  This report is seeking Committee approval to hold 
a Pension Fund Information Forum in January 2025.  

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 None. 

 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5.2



3.1 Tower Hamlets Pension Fund’s Communications Policy is maintained in 
accordance with regulation 61 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Administration) Regulations 2013. It outlines the approach to communicating 
with its diverse stakeholders including: 

 Scheme members (active, deferred, retired and dependant); 

 representatives of scheme members; 

 prospective scheme members;  

 scheme employers; and 

 various external bodies 
 

3.2 The LGPS is facing new risks and opportunities requiring robust communication 
with the Fund’s many internal and external stakeholders to promote their 
understanding of how the changing LGPS landscape might impact them.  

 

 The estimated funding position has improved significantly since the last 
formal actuarial valuation in 2022.  As the next valuation in 2025 
approaches, scheme employers will be seeking to understand the 
implications of the current funding position for them. 

 The Fund recently issued Annual Benefit Statements to active and deferred 
scheme members as at 31 August. The statements can be the catalyst for 
enquiries about retirement planning and information requests. 

 The Pension Fund annual financial statements are undergoing statutory 
external audit and the Fund is obliged to provide the audited financial 
statements to various stakeholders. 

 The government has launched a Call for Evidence as part of phase 1 of the 
recently announced comprehensive Pensions Review aimed at the LGPS 
to drive further efficiencies in assets pooling and other non-investment 
areas. 

 Climate change, geo-political tensions, armed conflicts, the global economic 
environment, cost-of-living crisis, and longevity considerations are 
focussing scheme members’ minds on the nature and rationale of the 
Fund’s investment strategy, and how they might influence the Fund’s 
investment beliefs. 

 Many employers are experiencing cost pressures and would welcome some 
insights into the factors driving employer contributions, valuation data and 
assumptions, the wider dynamics of funding and investment strategies, and 
the need for prudence. 

 
3.3 Officers are proposing to hold a Pension Fund Information Forum in January 

2025, subject to Committee approval. The proposed event would enable the 
Fund to share information with its stakeholders and stakeholders’ views to be 
captured and reflected in the development of the Fund’s policies and strategies, 
and routine pensions administration service. 
 

3.4 Strong and proactive engagement with employers would encourage them to 
provide information to the Fund periodically to help officers to monitor covenant 
and other risks and inform the funding and investment strategy decisions. 

 

Page 44



3.5 Officers will provide an update on the event planning to the Committee in 
November.   
 

4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no direct equalities implications on the content of this report.  
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 

 Data Protection / Privacy Impact Assessment. 
 

Risk Management  
 

5.2 All material, financial, and business risks have been considered and addressed 
within the report and its appendices. The actuarial report and funding strategy 
statement will provide the Pension Fund with a solid framework in which to 
achieve a full funding status over the long term. 

 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications of the report. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 

7.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 None  
 
Appendices 

 TH Pension Fund Communications Strategy and Policy  
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

Page 45



List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 None  
 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu, Head of Pensions & Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ  

     Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
       
 
 

Page 46

mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets Pension Fund 
Communications  Strategy Statement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

       

 
  

Page 47



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 2 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

 
 

 

Introduction .................................................................................................................. 3 

Regulatory framework ................................................................................................. 3 

Stakeholders of the Fund ............................................................................................ 4 

Key objectives .............................................................................................................. 4 

Accessibility ................................................................................................................. 5 

Investment Communication ........................................................................................ 5 

Responsible Investment .............................................................................................. 5 

Freedom of Information ............................................................................................... 5 

Communication Channel ............................................................................................. 5 

Communicating with members ................................................................................... 9 

Communicating with Pension Fund Staff ................................................................. 10 

Communicating with the Pension Fund Committee and Local Pension Board ….11 

Communicating with external bodies ....................................................................... 11 

Data Protection ........................................................................................................... 12 

Review ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Further Information .................................................................................................... 12 

APPENDIX A – COMMUNICATION PLAN  

 

 

 

Page 48



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 3 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

Introduction 
 
This is the communication strategy for the Tower Hamlets Pension Fund administered by 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets (the Administering Authority). Communication is at the 
heart of everything the Fund does and has a dedicated communication team in place to 
help the Fund meet its current and future communication challenges.  
This Policy provides an overview of how the Tower Hamlets Pension Fund will 
communicate with its full range of stakeholders. An effective communication strategy is 
vital for the Fund to meet its objective of providing a high quality and consistent service to 
the stakeholders. 
 
The Fund has over 34 employers (March 2023) with contributing members and a total 
membership of over 23,000 scheme members, which are split into the categories below 
and with the approximate numbers of members in each category: 

 

 
Type of membership 

 
Type of Membership 

Active scheme members 
 

7,757 

Deferred scheme members  
 

8,398 

Pensioner members 
 

7,186 

 

The policy outlines the Fund’s strategic approach to communications. This Policy 
should be read in conjunction with the Communication Plan which is detailed in 
Appendix A of this document. 
 
Vision 
 
Everyone with any interest in the Fund should have readily available access to all 
information that they require. 
 
Regulatory framework 
 
The policy has been produced in accordance with regulation 61 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2013. The regulation 
requires that: 
  
1. An administering authority must prepare, maintain, and publish a written 

statement setting out its policy concerning communications with: 
a) scheme members (active, deferred, retired and dependant) 
b) representatives of scheme members 
c) prospective scheme members 
d) scheme employers 
 

2. The statement must set out its policy on: 
a) the provision of information and publicity about the scheme 
b) the format, frequency, and method of distributing such information or  

               publicity 

Page 49



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 4 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

c) the promotion of the scheme to prospective scheme members and their 
               employers. 
 
The strategy must be revised and published by the administering authority following a 
material change in their policy on any matters referred to in paragraph (2). 
 
 
Stakeholders of the Fund 
 
The Fund has a varied audience of stakeholders with whom it communicates, 
including: 

• Scheme members (active, deferred, pensioner and dependant members) 

• Prospective scheme members 

• Scheme employers 

• Pension Fund staff 

• Pension Fund Committee 

• Local Pension Board 

• London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV) 

• External bodies: 
o Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC) 
o Department of Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
o Trades Unions 
o Pension Fund Investment Managers, Advisers and Actuaries 
o Pension Fund Custodian 
o The Pensions Regulator (tPR) 
o The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) 
o The Local Government Association (LGA) 
o Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) 
o Pension Officers Groups 
o Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA) 
o Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
o The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) 
o Council Taxpayers, members of the public and other cohorts not 

directly linked to the scheme.  
 
Key objectives 
 
To ensure that Fund delivers clear, timely and accessible communication with a broad 
range of stakeholders. To achieve this, the Fund will: 
 

• Communicate information about the Scheme’s rules and regulations in an 
effective, friendly, and timely manner to the different groups of stakeholders. 

• Communicate information about the investment decision made by the Fund. 

• Inform customers and stake holders to enable them to make the decisions 
regarding pension matters. 

• Inform customers and stakeholders about the management and administration 
of the Fund. 

• Consult with key stakeholders on changes to policies and procedures that affect 
the Fund and its stakeholders; 

Page 50



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 5 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

• Support employers to enable them to fulfil their responsibility to communicate 
and share information with members in relation to the scheme. 

• Seek continuous improvement in the way the Fund communicates. 
 
Accessibility 
 
The Fund is committed to ensuring communications are accessible to all stakeholders 
and is committed to develop further use of electronic means of communicating through 
e-mail and internet site (including a Member Self Service Portal). Wherever possible, 
responses are sent to stakeholders by electronic means. However, more traditional 
methods of communications will continue to be offered as required. 
 
The Fund also make sure that communications are easy to understand through use of 
Plain English accreditation and readability scores in line with Council policy. 
 
Investment Communication 
 
The Fund has seen an increase interest in its investments from Scheme Members, 
Scheme Employers and the wider public. The Fund maintains a large portfolio of 
assets, which it uses to pay out LGPS benefits when they become due. This is made 
up of pension contributions paid in by Scheme Members and Scheme Employers, and 
any investment income and capital growth. To reduce risk, the Fund diversifies its 
investments across a wide range of assets both in the UK and Global market. 
 
Responsible Investment 
 
As a responsible investor the Fund Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
issues are fundamental to the Fund’s investment strategy. The Fund has focused 
communications to stakeholders about its investments. The Fund will regularly report 
to Scheme Employers and Scheme Members about its investments and the Fund’s 
approach to ESG issues. 
 
Freedom of Information 
 
Anyone has a right under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act to request any 
information held by the Fund which is not already made available. FOI requests will 
be dealt with openly and swiftly. Requests should be made in writing to the Freedom 
of Information Officer at the address at the end of this document. 
 
A fee may be charged, and the Fund reserves the right to refuse if the cost of providing 
the information is disproportionately high. 
 
Communication Channel 
 
The table below shows the Fund main method of communication with different 
stakeholders. 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
Stakeholder 
 

 
Communication 
 

 
Key message /Objectives 
 

Active members 
 

• Annual benefit statements 

• Biannual Newsletters 

• Member self service 

• Website 

• Pensions team telephone line 

• Scheme Literature 

• Calculation and costings (e.g., 
estimates) 

• Presentations – face to face / online via 
Microsoft Teams 

• Promotion on internal systems, e.g., the 
Bridge 

• Active Member surveys 

• Your pension is a valuable benefit. 

• Your employer contributes to help you save for your 
retirement. 

• You need to make sure you're saving enough for 
retirement. 

• To improve your understanding of how the LGPS works. 

• You understand the impact of any changes in legislation. 

• To advise scheme members of their rights and benefits. 

• To make pensions information more readily available. 

• To answer member’s queries regarding their benefits 

• To give you more ways that you can contact us or get 
information. 

• To provide a method for members to give feedback. 
 

Deferred members 
 

• Annual benefit statements 

• Annual Newsletter 

• Member self service 

• Website 

• Telephone helpline 

• Scheme Literature 

• Calculation and costings (e.g., 
estimates) 

• Your pension is a valuable benefit 

• You are saving enough for retirement 

• You keep in touch with the Fund e.g. provide us with 
address changes 

• How the LGPS works now, and the impact of any changes 
in legislation 

• Understand the implication of transferring out of the 
scheme 

• To improve understanding of how the LGPS works 

• We will update you of any changes 
 

Pensioner members 
 

• Member self service 

• Pensions Increase letters 

• P60 

• You keep in touch with the Fund e.g., provide us with 
address 

• changes 

P
age 52



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 7 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

• Calculation and costings (e.g., 
estimates) 

• Website 

• Telephone helpline 

• Annual newsletter 

• Pensioner member Survey 

• We are here to help with any questions you might have. 

• The LGPS is still a valuable part of your retirement 
package. 

• How your funds are invested. 

• To improve understanding of how the LGPS works. 

• The impact of any changes in legislation. 

• The impact in the larger pension community (e.g., Brexit.) 
 

Dependent 
members 
 

• Member self service 

• Payslip 

• P60 

• Calculation and costings (e.g., 
estimates) 

• Website 

• Telephone helpline 

• You keep in touch with the Fund e.g., provide us with 
address and bank changes. 

• We are here to help with any questions you might have. 

• The LGPS is still a valuable part of your retirement 
package. 

• The impact of any changes in legislation. 
 

Scheme employers 
 

• Ad hoc email alerts 

• Quarterly newsletters 

• Website 

• Webinars 

• Telephone helpline 

• Scheme information and guides 

• Annual Employer survey 

• You need to be aware of your responsibilities regarding 
the LGPS. 

• Your employer contributes to help you save for your 
retirement. 

• You understand the impact of any changes in legislation. 

• To improve relationships 

• Continue to improve the accuracy of data being provided 
to us. 

 

Potential Scheme 
Members including 
Opt Outs 
 

• Website 

• Telephone helpline 

• Scheme information and guides 

• You understand the impact of any changes in legislation 

• Your employer contributes to help you save for your 
retirement. 

• The LGPS is still one of the best pension arrangements 
available 

• Increase understanding of how the scheme works and 
what benefits are provided 

P
age 53



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 8 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

• To improve take up of the LGPS 
 

Pension Fund Staff 
 

• Team meeting 

• 1:1 / Appraisals 

• Training & development 

• Training Matrix 

• Ad hoc meetings 

• Monthly newsletter 

• Ensure staff are kept up to date with important information 

• regarding the service, the employing authority, and the 
wider world of pensions as a whole 

• Management to feedback to staff regarding their individual 

• progress 

• For staff to feel a fully integrated member of the team 
 

Pension Fund 
Committee and 
Local Pension 
Board 
 

• Committee/Board Papers 

• Trainings 

• Minutes 

• Presentations 

• Ensure members are kept up to date with important 
information regarding the Fund. 

• Monitor success against the agreed measures 
 

External bodies 
 

• Response to enquiries and 
consultations 

•  Respond to enquiries/statutory requirements 

 

P
age 54



Communicating with members 
 
There are 3 categories of scheme member: 
 

• Active members who are contributing to the Scheme. 

• Deferred members who have left the Scheme but have not yet accessed their 
pension benefits. 

• Pensioner members who are in receipt of their LGPS benefits from the Fund. 
 
The Fund recognises that communication with each category requires a different, 
specific approach and therefore uses a variety of methods to communicate with 
members. 
 
To ensure members can access services easily, we employ a range of media to 
educate them about the LGPS and their pension benefits, delivered in a clear and 
easily understood way to ensure that members can make informed decisions about 
their benefits. 
 

• Website - The Fund has a dedicated Pensions website 
www.towerhamletspensionfund.org/, 
which has general information about Tower Hamlets Pension Fund and about 
being a member of the LGPS. There are also scheme forms and guides 
available to copy or print. 

 

• Telephone Helpline - We provide a helpline service for all our members to use 
if they need to contact us by telephone or email. There is a dedicated helpline 
for members to call 0207 364 4251. 
 

• General Correspondence – The Fund provide a generic email address which 
enables members to email their queries. The emails are picked up and passed 
to the relevant member of staff.  
pensions@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

• Member Self Service - Members can access their pension account using the 
My Pension Portal. This is a secure area that allows members to see the 
personal details Fund holds about them. They can also update personal 
information. Contributing and deferred members can view their annual pension 
statements. There are also scheme forms and guides available to copy or print. 

 

• Visits to our office - Members are welcome to visit our offices if they prefer to 
speak to us face to face. Ideally, members should make an appointment in 
advance so we can make sure that someone is available to see them. The Fund 
remains in operation during this time and members can contact us at the 
address at the end of this document.  
 

• Annual Benefit Statements – The Fund issues an Annual Benefit Statement 
(ABS) to all active members, showing the pension they have built up to the 
previous 31st March. They are subject to the members Scheme Employer 
providing timely year end information to the Pensions Administration Team. The 
ABS are available for members to view on Member Self Service Pension Portal. 

Page 55

mailto:pensions@towerhamlets.gov.uk


London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 10 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

 

• Presentations / Roadshows / Drop-in Sessions available to active scheme 
members. 

 

• Newsletters - The Fund issues periodic newsletters to Members to update them 
on topical Pensions matters and changes. 

 

• Pay advice, Pension Increase letters and P60s - We issue paper pay advice to 
pensioner members every March, April, and May. Members can also access 
their pay advice monthly via My View. 

 
Communicating with Pension Fund Staff 
 
The Fund recognises that its staff are its greatest resource and that they are kept 
informed about the Fund’s aims to deliver a quality and accurate service as well 
Administering Authorities updates. This is achieved via use of email, Council 
newsletters, internal meetings, as well as internal and external training events on 
specific topics. 
 
The Fund communicates with staff in several ways. 
 

• LBTH Internal Communications bulletins – TH Now Weekly Update. 
 

• Performance conversations– the Fund managers ensure that Fund staff have 
performance conversations at least twice yearly, these establish clear 
objectives and any necessary support that staff members and the team need. 
Staff members also meet with managers monthly (1-2-1).  

 

• Training - Staff regularly attend LGA and CIPFA training as appropriate, and 
receive inhouse training from actuary, fund managers, on the job training via 
line manager or colleagues and via Team Leaders. 
Professional courses are also offered on request. These are recorded via a staff 
skills matrix. Ad hoc training courses are produced as the LGPS regulations 
change. Each member of staff is required to keep record of training. 
 

• Staff Feedback on Fund Communications - Staff are encouraged to report back 
on any feedback given to them by other stakeholders. 

 

• Weekly update – senior managers send weekly emails to keep staff updated 
on current issues. 
 

• LGA bulletins - senior managers circulate monthly LGA bulletins to all staff to 
ensure staff are kept up to date with current LGPS issues.  
 

• Team meetings – the Head of Pensions & Treasury meets with all staff monthly 
to keep staff updated on current issues including legislative issues.   

 

Page 56



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 11 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

• Administering Authority Internal Communications - keep all staff updated on 
current LGPS legislation changes, new staff and those leaving and upcoming 
training courses, etc. 

 
Communicating with the Pension Fund Committee and Local Pension Board 
 
The administering authority, London Borough of Tower Hamlets, has established a 
Pensions Committee including elected Councillors to discharge the functions of the 
Council in governing and administering The Tower Hamlets Pension Fund. The 
Pensions Committee is the decision-making body for the Fund, and this includes 
responsibility for setting the Fund’s investment strategy, appointing investment 
managers, and approving Fund budget, business plan and policies. 
 
The Council also established Local Pension Board in 2015 to assist the Committee in 
securing compliance with the scheme regulations and the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of the LGPS. 
 
The Pension Fund Committee and Local Pension Board communicate by: 
 

• Committee and Board meetings - Members of the Pensions Committee and 
Local Board meet at least quarterly to discuss Pensions issues, following which 
the Local Board may make suggestions and recommendations, and the 
Pensions Committee may make decisions. 

 

• Fund officer reports - Members of the Pensions Committee and Local Board 
receive monitoring reports from Fund staff. This includes the Fund’s internal 
managers delivering reports and presentations to members at Committee and 
Board meetings. 
 

• Investment Manager Reports – Members receive quarterly investment reports 
from the Fund officers, investment adviser and independent investment adviser 
on the performance of the Fund’s investment. 

 

• Training – An annual training plan is presented to Pensions Committee and 
Local Board to approve. Members receive regular training to ensure they have 
the knowledge and capacity to carry out their roles. 
 

• All Pensions Committee and Local Board members have access to Hymans 
Aspire LGPS Online training portal.  The online training course mirrors the 
topics of the National Knowledge Assessment, and covers all key areas needed 
to successfully manage the running of a fund: Committee Role and Pensions 
Legislation, Pensions Governance, Pensions Administration, Pensions 
Accounting and Audit Standards, Procurement and Relationship Management.  
 

• Quarterly Update - Members of the Pensions Committee and the Local Board 
receive update from Interim Head of Pensions & Treasury on London CIV and 
Pension Administration. 
 
 

Communicating with external bodies 

Page 57



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 12 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

 
The Fund engages proactively communicates with a number of external bodies.  
These include: 
 

• London Collective Investment Vehicle Pool, Pension Fund Investment 
Managers, Advisers and Actuaries – The Fund has regular meetings with: 

o London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV) and Independent Fund 
managers who make investments on behalf of the Fund. 

o Investment Advisers who provide help and advice on the investment 
strategy of the Fund. 

o Fund Actuary to discuss Funding levels, employers’ contributions, and 
valuation of the liabilities of the Fund. 

 

• Pension Fund Custodian - The Fund’s Custodian is Northern Trust, who 
ensures the safekeeping of the Funds investment transactions. 

 

• Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA) - The Fund is a member of 
PLSA, which provides an opportunity for administering authorities to discuss 
issues of common interest and share best practice. 

 

• Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) - LAPFF is a collaborative 
shareholder engagement group representing most of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Funds and UK Pension Pools, including London CIV Pool. Its 
aim is to engage with companies to promote the highest standards of corporate 
governance and corporate responsibility amongst investee companies. 

 

• Mercer - The Fund had also Mercer as its Investment adviser. 
 

• The Fund has appointed – Colin Robertson as its Independent Investment 
adviser. 

 
 
Data Protection 
 
The Pension Fund has a duty to protect personal information and will process personal 
data in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 and any amendments to the act. 
The Fund may, if it chooses, pass certain details to a third party, if the third party is 
carrying out an administrative function of the Fund, for example the Fund’s Actuary or 
AVC provider. 
 
Review 
The policy will be reviewed annually and updated sooner if the communications 
arrangements or other matters included within it merit reconsideration. 
 
Further Information 
If you have any queries about this Communications Policy, please get in touch: 
 
Pension Services 
3rd Floor 
Town Hall 

Page 58



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 13 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

160 Whitechapel Road 
 London, E1 1BJ 
0207 364 4251 
pensions@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 
If you have any Freedom of Information requests, please send them to: 
 
Freedom of Information Officer 
Information Governance  
Town Hall 
160 Whitechapel Road 
London, E1 1BJ 
020 7364 4161 
foi@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

mailto:foi@towerhamlets.gov.uk


Appendix A – Communication Plan 
Method of 

Method of 
Communication 

Media Scheme Target 
Frequency of Issue  

Frequency of Issue in 
Accordance with Legislative 
Requirement 

Method of 
Distribution 

Audience 
Group 

Send a notification of 
joining the LGPS to a 
Scheme Member 
– Contractual 
Enrolment 

Electronic Within 40 working days of 
receiving new starter 
information from 
employer 
 

2 months from date of joining 
the scheme 
 

E-mail or Letter to 
Home Address 
where email not 
known. 
 

New 
Members 

Send a notification of 
joining the LGPS to a 
scheme member 
– Automatic 
Enrolment/Re- 
Enrolment 

Various Within 1 month of 
receiving jobholder 
information where the 
individual is being 
automatically 
enrolled/re-enrolled 

Within 1 month of receiving 
jobholder information were 
the individual is being 
automatically enrolled/re-
enrolled 

Employer New 
Members 

Inform a member 
who left the Scheme 
of their leaver rights 
and options  

Paper Based 
or Electronic 

Within 40 working days 
from receipt of leaver 
information. 

As soon as practicable and no 
more than 2 months from date 
of notification (from employer 
or from scheme member)  

E-mail or letter to 
Home Address 
where email not 
known 

Members 
leaving the 
scheme  

Obtain transfer 
details for transfer in, 
and calculate and 
provide quotation to 
member 

Paper Based 
or Electronic 

Within 10 workings days 
from date of request 

2 months from date of request Letter to Home 
Address or 
Member 
Self Service 

Active 
Member 

Provide details of 
transfer value for 
transfer out, on 
request 
 

Paper Based 
or Electronic 

Within 10 workings days 
from date of request 
(CETV estimate or 
Divorce) unless there has 
already been a request in 
the last 12 months. 
 

3 months from date of request 
(CETV estimate) 
 

Letter to Home 
Address, Member 
Self Service or 
IFA 
 

Deferred 
Member 

P
age 60



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 15 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

Provide a retirement 
quotation on request 
 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Within 15 working days 
from date of request 
 

As soon as practicable, but no 
more than 2 months from date 
of request unless there has 
already been a request in the 
last 12 months 
 

Letter to Home 
Address or 
Member 
Self Service 
 

Active and 
Deferred 
Member 

Notify the amount of 
retirement benefits 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Within 15 working days 
from receipt of all 
information 

1 month from date of 
retirement if on or after Normal 
Pension Age (NPA), or 2 
months 
from date of retirement if 
before NPA 

Letter to Home 
Address or 
Member 
Self Service 

Active and 
Deferred 
Member 

Calculate and notify 
dependant(s) of 
amount of death 
benefits 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Initial letter sent no more 
than 15 days from date of 
becoming aware of 
death, and notification of 
benefit letter sent no 
more than 15 days from 
receiving correctly 
completed forms. 

As soon as possible but in any 
event no more than 2 months 
from date of becoming aware of 
death, or from date of request 
by a third party (e.g., Personal 
representative) 

Letter to 
Dependants 
Home Address 

Dependant 
Member 

Provide all Active and 
Deferred members 
with an Annual 
Benefit Statement 
(ABS) 
Member Self Service 
or Statement to 
Home Address 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

By 31 August each year By 31 August each year Member Self 
Service 
or Statement to 
Home Address 

Active and 
Deferred 
Member 

Provide Pension 
Saving Statement to 
eligible members 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

By 6 October each year By 6 October each year Letter to Home 
Address, email, or 
Member 
Self Service 

Active 
Member 

P
age 61



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 16 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

General Member 
Enquiries 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Within 15 working days  Email or Letter to 
Home Address 

All 
Members 

Pensions Increase 
Letters  

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic via 
My View   
 

By 30 April each year By 30 April each year Member Self 
Service, My View 
Online Payslip 
Portal or Letter to 
Home Address 

Pensioner 
Member 

Pensioner P60s 
(HMRC requirement) 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic via  
My View 
Online payslip 
Portal 
 

By 31 May each year By 31 May each year Member Self 
Service, My View 
Online Payslip 
Portal or Letter to 
Home Address 

Pensioner 
Member 

Member Scheme 
Guide 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Always Available Online 
(Link also in New Starter 
Pack) 

Within 2 months of request Fund Website or 
Member Self 
Service  

All 
members 

Active Member 
Newsletters 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Spring newsletter by 1 
April (in line with Annual 
Updates) and Autumn 
newsletter by 31 August 
(in line with ABS) 

 Member Self 
Service or Letter 
to Home Address 

Active 
Member 

Deferred Member 
Newsletters 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

By 31 August in line with 
ABS 

 Member Self 
Service or Letter 
to Home Address 

Deferred 
Member 

Pensioner Member 
Newsletters 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 

By 30 April in line with 
Pension Increase Letter    

 Member Self 
Service or Letter 
to Home Address 

Pensioner 
Member 

P
age 62



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 17 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

Paper 
Based or 
Electronic 
 

Presentations/Roads
hows 

Paper Based 
or Electronic 
 

Twice per year per or as 
required     

 Via Fund  Active 
Member 

Drop-In Sessions Face to Face As required by employers 
or scheme member  

 Via Fund  Active 
Member 

Material Alterations to 
Basic Scheme 
Information  

Electronic As soon as possible and 
within 3 months after the 
change takes effect 

A soon as possible and within 3 
months after the change takes 
effect 

E-mail or letter to 
Home Address 

All 
Members 

Employer Training Face to 
Face/Microsoft 
Teams 

As requested  Via Fund Scheme 
Employer 

Employer Guides  Electronic Online/On request  LGPS Regs 
Website 

Scheme 
Employer 

Employer 
Notifications 

Electronic 
or Paper 
Based on 
Request 

As required   E-mail to Fund 
Contacts 

Scheme 
Employer 

Member, employer, 
or third-party 
enquiries 

Incoming via 
post 

Workflow cases created 
based on enquiry type 
and associated SLA 

 Telephone 
Email 

All Groups 

Member Self Service Electronic, 
Paper Based 
or Face to 
Face   

Promotional events and 
campaigns to be 
discussed and agreed to 
promote sign up to 
Member Self Service. 

 Various Active and 
Deferred 
Members 

ISA19/FRS102 
Accounting Reports 

Electronic Annually  E-mail or via 
actuary portal 

Scheme 
Employer 

P
age 63



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund Accounts 2011/12  

Page 18 of 18 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
2023/24 
 

Annual General 
Meeting 

Microsoft 
Teams/Face to 
Face 

Provie availability to 
promote MSS at the AGM 

 Via Fund All Groups 

Pension Fund Report 
and Accounts 

Electronic  Annually  E-mail All Groups 

Website  Always available and 
reviewed as and when 
required    

  All Groups 

Pensions Team 
Helpline 

    All Groups 

Pensions 
Administration 
Strategy  

Electronic Always available 
(reviewed at least every 3 
years or in event of 
legislation change)   

 E-mail Scheme 
Employer 

Pension Fund 
Valuation Report  

Electronic Triennially  E-mail Scheme 
Employer 

 

P
age 64



Non-Executive Report of the: 
 

 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Governance Report 

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report updates the Committee on governance and legislative issues affecting the 
Fund, developments in the LGPS and regulatory environment, policy changes and 
pooling.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) 2022 Section 13 
Report published on 14 August 2024 (Appendix 1); 

2. Note the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) 2022 Section 13 
Report published on 14 August 2024 – separate appendices (Appendix 
2); 

3. Note the TH Pension Fund’s 2022 Section 13 results; 
4. Note the implications of the GAD 2022 Section 13 report on the 2025 

actuarial valuation; 
5. Note the exit credit cases currently under consideration; and 
6. Note the current government action to pursue efficiencies in the LGPS 

including a Pensions Investment Review and a Call for Evidence.  
 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1. The matters contained in this report relate to Governance Compliance set   

out in LBTH’s arrangements for discharging its responsibilities as 
Administering Authority of Tower Hamlets   Pension Fund in accordance with 
Clause 55 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 
2013.    

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5.3



2.1 Non-compliance with Governance requirement exposes the Fund and the 
Council, as administering authority, to action by the Pensions Regulator. 

 
 3.  DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
  
  Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) Section 13 Report 
 
3.1 The Government Actuary was appointed by the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), formerly the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to undertake the review of 
the 2022 actuarial valuations of LGPS Funds in England and Wales. It was 
carried out under section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and 
examined whether the Fund valuations have achieved the following aims: 

 compliance 
 consistency 
 solvency 
 long-term cost efficiency 

 
3.2  The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) published its 2022 Section 13 

Report on 14 August 2024. The GAD 2022 Section 13 Report is included in 
this report (Appendix 1) together with the separate appendices containing the 
detailed results of all LGPS Funds in England and Wales (Appendix 2). 

  
3.3 The key points are: 

 The Section 13 Report shows each LGPS Fund’s position relative to its 
peers based on some metrics; and 

 The report identifies some of the areas that could impact the results of 
the 2025 actuarial valuations. 

 Pages 12 and 13 of Appendix 2 illustrate all LGPS Funds’ funding levels 
relative to the SAB standard result on a like-for-like basis. Chart B1 on 
page 12 shows the funding levels relative to the “local” bases of the 
Funds’ own valuation reports. Chart B2 illustrates the differences when 
the funding levels are converted from the “local” bases to the standard 
basis relative to other Funds. It is important to note that the chart ignores 
the differences in Funds’ investment strategies. 

 Table C2 (Pages 33-38) of Appendix 2 shows the solvency metrics 
indicating as follows: 

o Green flags – GAD has no concerns. 
o White flags – GAD has some general concerns but insufficient to 

warrant an Amber or Red flag. 
o Amber flags – potential material issue that Funds should be aware 

of. 
o Red flags - material issue that may undermine the aims of Section 

13 being met. 
o Some white flags are raised under “SAB funding level”, “asset 

shock” and “non-statutory employees” 

 Table D2 (pages 45-49) shows the long-term cost-efficiency metrics.  
Most Funds are green, but a few have been flagged white and amber for 
the following reasons: 

o Deficit period – the implied deficit recovery period too long 

Page 66



o Return scope – the required investment return is inconsistent with 
the Fund’s expected return based on the investment strategy. 

o Deficit recovery plan – contributions should not have been 
reduced as they were. 

 
Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 2022 Section 13 Results 
  

3.4 The 2022 Section 13 results for Tower Hamlets Pension Fund are on page 36 
and page 48 of Appendix 2.  The Fund received Green flags from GAD’s 
analysis, based on the data provided by the Fund Actuary in May 2023. 

 
 Implications for the 2025 Actuarial Valuation  
 
3.5 The publication of GAD’s 2022 Section 13 Report is much closer to the next 

valuation in 2025 compared to previous periods. GAD’s recommendations 
could impact the upcoming valuation process: 

 SAB to consider whether greater consistency is needed to allow easier 
comparison between Funds and better understanding of risks. 

 SAB to consider emerging issues and whether guidance is required to 
support greater consistency, and that the climate change principles 
document continues to be developed ahead of the 2025 valuation. 

 SAB to consider whether further guidance is needed to support Funds in 
surplus and those in deficit – for the former in balancing different 
considerations and the latter, to ensure that the deficit recovery plans 
are demonstrably a continuation of the previous plans.  

 
Exit Credit Considerations 

 
3.6 The Pensions Committee, at its meeting on 1 July 2024, considered the City 

Gateway Cessation report for South Quay College.  The Committee resolved 
that officers should seek legal advice and further actuarial support to develop a 
clear rationale and justification for any determinations the Fund wishes to make 
in line with the Fund’s Exit Credit Policy. 

 
3.7 Officers are working with the Council’s procurement team to procure legal 

support through the LGPS Framework. 
 
3.8 Cessation valuations are crystallisation events. Therefore, from an actuarial 

perspective, the key issue is uncertainty with respect to inflation (short and long-
term) and future investment return. Inflation levels impact the Fund as scheme 
benefits increase in line with the UK Consumer Price Index (CPI). The 
indexation assumption used the Fund Actuary derives from the approach 
adopted for the 2022 actuarial valuation set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS).  The inflation assumption used has a direct effect on the value 
placed on the liabilities at exit. 

 
3.9 The assumption for future investment return used for the cessation valuation is 

in line with the approach used for the 2022 actuarial valuation and set out in the 
FSS. It equates to the annualised yield on long-dated government bonds at the 
cessation date, with no further outperformance margin. Currently, this metric 

Page 67



(bond yields) is significantly higher than at the 2022 valuation because of the 
spike in global interest rates since 2022. This has led to much lower values 
placed on employers’ liabilities at exit. 

 
3.10 The Committee wishes to ensure that there’s a very high probability that the 

assets left behind after employers exit the Fund are sufficient to pay members’ 
benefits going forward. The exit credit cases currently under consideration and 
the Actuary’s cessation valuations are summarised below: 

 
Exiting Employer Date Issued Cessation 

Valuation 
Surplus (£) 

Considered 
by Pensions 
Committee? 

City Gateway (South Quay College) 30 April 2024 £248,000 Yes 

Medequip 10 June 2024 £51,000 No 

Gateway Housing 25 June 2024 £130,000 No 

   
 A cessation report for Greenwich Leisure (GLL) was issued on 23 April 2024, 

however this was an indicative cessation position at a specified date and on 
that basis an exit credit cannot be determined.  

   
 Efficiencies in Local Government and the management of Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Funds. 
 
3.11 On 15 May 2024, the then Minister for Local Government, Simon Hoare, wrote 

to Chief Executives and Section 151 Officers of LGPS Administering Authorities 
in England seeking responses to the following themes: 

 How Funds will complete the process of asset pooling to deliver greater 
scale; and 

 How administering authorities ensure that Funds are efficiently run, 
including governance considerations  

 
3.12 The Letter from the then Minister for Local Government together with the draft 

response by The Society of London Treasurers (SLT) on behalf of London 
LGPS Funds is included in this report (Appendix 3). 

 
 Pensions Review 
 
3.13 The government has launched a pensions investment review with the LGPS 

the key focus.  Links to the announcement and the Terms of Reference for 
Phase One published in July and August 2024 respectively are included in this 
report. The aim of the review is to ‘boost growth and make every part of Britain 
better off’. The government is seeking to unleash the full potential of the LGPS 
to drive UK growth. 

 
3.14 The Review will work in collaboration with the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government (MHCLG) to consider how to unlock the investment 
potential of LGPS Funds and to tackle the estimated £2 billion spent on fees 
annually.  The first stage of the review will examine actions including legislating 
to mandate pooling if insufficient progress is made by March 2025, and will 
report in the next few months and consider further measures to support the 
Pensions Bill.  The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) will be inviting all LGPS 

Page 68



Pension Committee Chairs to a Teams meeting on Monday 14th October 2024 
for a discussion about pooling. The meeting will involve the Chair of the SAB, 
Cllr Roger Phillips and hopefully the Local Government Minister, Jim McMahon 
MP. 

 
3.15 At the time of writing the government has published a Call for Evidence, inviting 

input, data and information from interested parties to inform the first phase of 
the Pensions Investment Review. The Call for Evidence closes on 25 
September 2024. A link to the website is included in this report. 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no specific equalities implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no specific statutory implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
 Risk Management 
 
5.2 Section 249A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 
(a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
(b) in accordance with the requirements of the law. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 This is a noting report. There are no direct financial implications arising because 

of this report.  
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1  Section 249B of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 

  (a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
  (b) in accordance with the requirements of the law 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

Page 69



 Triennial Actuarial Valuation 2025 and Funding Update 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – GAD Review of LGPS Fund Valuations as at 31 March 2022 
under Section 13 (published 14 August 2024). 

 Appendix 2 - GAD Review of LGPS Fund Valuations as at 31 March 2022 under 
Section 13 Appendices (published 14 August 2024) 

 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report. 

 Chancellor vows 'big bang on growth' to boost investment and savings - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 Terms of Reference - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 Pensions Investment Review: Call for Evidence - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu – Head of Pensions and Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 
Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk  

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pensions-review-terms-of-reference-phase-one/terms-of-reference
https://www.gov.uk/government/calls-for-evidence/pensions-investment-review-call-for-evidence
mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
England and Wales 
Review of LGPS fund valuations as at 31 March 2022 
under Section 13 

Fiona Dunsire FIA and Aidan Smith FIA 

14 August 2024 

The Government Actuary’s Department is proud  to  be  accredited under  
the Institute  and Faculty of Actuaries’ Quality Assurance Scheme.  
Our website describes the standards we apply.  

P
age 71

https://www.actuaries.org.uk/upholding-standards/quality-assurance-scheme-qas
https://www.gov.uk/gad/terms-of-reference


 
 

 
  

 

 

     

    

    

    

    

    

     

 

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary ............................................3 

2. Introduction .........................................................9 

3. Progress ............................................................15 

4. Compliance........................................................18 

5. Consistency.......................................................20 

6. Solvency ............................................................33 

7. Long term cost efficiency .................................40 

P
age 72



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
  

 
 

  
    

 
  

   

 
 

  

  

  

  

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
 

 
 

   

   
   

 
  

 

   
   

 
  

 

 
  

 

   
 

 

   
  

  
 

     

    
  

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

1. Executive Summary 
1.1 The Government Actuary has been appointed by the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) (formerly the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) to report under 
section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, in 
connection with the 2022 actuarial valuations of the 
funds in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (LGPS or “the scheme”). 

1.2 Section 13 requires the Government Actuary to report 
on whether the following aims are achieved: 

• Compliance 

• Consistency 

• Solvency 

• Long term cost efficiency 

1.3 This is the third formal section 13 report. Section 13 was 
applied for the first time to the fund valuations as at 31 
March 2016 and a second exercise was undertaken as 
at 31 March 2019. 

1.4 This report is based on the actuarial valuations of the 
funds, other data provided by the funds and their 
actuaries, and engagement exercises with relevant 
funds. We are grateful to all stakeholders for their 
assistance in preparing this report. We are committed to 
preparing a section 13 report that makes practical 
recommendations to advance the aims listed above. We 

will continue to work with stakeholders to advance these 
aims and expect that our approach to section 13 will 
continue to evolve to reflect ever changing 
circumstances and feedback received. 

Progress since 2019 

1.5 We made four recommendations as part of the 2019 
section 13 report. In summary, we recommended that: 

1. Consideration should be given to the impact of 
inconsistency on the funds, particularly in relation 
to emerging risks including climate change. 

2. Funds should ensure that their deficit recovery 
plans can be demonstrated to be a continuation of 
their previous plan. 

3. Additional information about contributions, discount 
rates and reconciling deficit recovery plans should 
be added to the dashboard. 

4. Governance around asset transfer arrangements 
from local authorities should be reviewed to ensure 
any such arrangements meet the fund’s long term 
funding objectives. 

1.6 We are pleased to note good progress has been made 
in relation to recommendations 1 and 3. However, 
further actions in relation to recommendations 1, 2 and 
4 are suggested. 

1.7 We set out our comments on this progress in more 
detail in Chapter 3. 

Page 3 of 56 

P
age 73



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

    
  

  

 

  

 
     

 
  

 

 
 

  
 

 
  

  
 

  

    
  

  
   

  

    
   

 
 

 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Funding position at 2022 

1.8 In aggregate, the funding position of the LGPS has 
improved since 31 March 2019 and the scheme appears 
to be in a strong financial position, specifically: 

•  Total assets have  grown from  £290bn  in  2019 to  
£366bn  in 2022  (taking the value used in the local 
fund valuations).  

•  Total liabilities disclosed in the  2022 local 
valuation reports amounted to  £344bn. The local 
funding bases are required to incorporate  
prudence (i.e.  there is intended to be  a greater 
than 50:50  likelihood  of actual future experience  
being better than  the assumptions, in the  opinion  
of the fund actuary).  

•  The aggregate funding level on  these  prudent  
local bases has improved from  98%  (at 2019) to  
106%  (at 2022).   However individual funds have  
seen  a range  of funding level changes from  a  
decrease of  2.6%  to an increase of just under 
30%.  

•  At the date  of writing, we are aware that many 
funds are likely to have seen  further subsequent 
improvements in their funding position.  However, 
this will depend  on individual fund  circumstances.  

•  Whilst the  aggregate funding position  has 
improved, not all funds were in surplus at 31  
March 2022, with  26  out of 87 being in  deficit. 

• The improved aggregate funding level is due in 
large part to strong asset returns over the 3 year 
period to March 2022. Investment returns 
averaged around 9% pa over the period. Funding 
also improved due to the continuation of 
substantial financial contributions from most LGPS 
employers. 

• The aggregate funding level on the Government 
Actuary’s Department’s (GAD’s) best estimate 
basis is 119% (at 2022). GAD’s best estimate 
basis is the set of assumptions derived by GAD 
without allowance for prudence. There is intended 
to be a 50:50 likelihood of actual future experience 
being better or worse than the best estimate 
assumptions, in our opinion. More information on 
this basis is set out in Appendix G. 

• The improved funding position has increased the 
focus on how funds treat surpluses, with relevant 
considerations including balancing 
intergenerational fairness with the priority given to 
stability of contributions. 

• Material solvency risks continue to exist given the 
range of funding positions across the scheme, the 
sensitivity of funding levels to future experience 
(especially investment market conditions) and 
competing pressures on employers’ budgets. 

Page 4 of 56 

1.9  We set out below our findings on  each of the four aims 
and  our recommendations. 

P
age 74



  
 

 
  

   

 

  
 

 

  
  

 
 

  
  

 
  

  

  
  

   
  

   
 

 
   

  

 
 

   

  
  

 

    
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 

   

  

     
     

     
    

      
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Compliance 

1.10 Our review indicated that fund valuations were 
compliant with relevant regulations. 

Consistency 

1.11 Section 13 requires each fund’s valuation to be carried 
out in a way that is not inconsistent with other LGPS 
fund valuations. We interpret “not inconsistent” to mean 
that methodologies and assumptions used, in 
conjunction with adequate disclosure in valuation 
reports, should facilitate comparison by a reader of the 
reports. Local circumstances may merit different 
assumptions. For example, financial assumptions are 
affected by the current and future planned investment 
strategy, and different financial circumstances might 
lead to different levels of prudence being adopted. 

1.12 Further to our recommendations from previous section 
13 reports, we are pleased to note all funds have 
continued to adopt a consistent “dashboard” and that 
additional information requested following the 2019 
section 13 report has been provided. We consider this a 
useful resource to aid stakeholders’ understanding, 
because information is presented in a consistent way in 
the dashboards. We consider it important to continue to 
review the information contained within the dashboard 
to ensure it remains helpful to stakeholders. We will 
discuss with fund actuaries if further information could 
be provided to inform stakeholders on the different 
approaches to removing surpluses. 

1.13 However, even given consistency in presentation in the 
dashboards, differences in the underlying methodology 

and assumptions (which we call evidential 
inconsistency) mean that it is not possible to make a like 
for like comparison between funds. 

1.14 There is no indication of significant improvement in 
evidential consistency since the previous review. Local 
variations may merit different assumptions and the 
approaches and assumptions adopted appear compliant 
with the relevant requirements. However, these 
differences will lead to different outcomes, for example 
in ongoing contribution rates. The Scheme Advisory 
Board (SAB) are facilitating a review of the Funding 
Strategy Statement guidance. Therefore, as part of this 
review, we encourage stakeholders to consider potential 
benefits of greater presentational and evidential 
consistency among other relevant factors. 

Recommendation 1: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
consider whether greater consistency could and 
should be achieved to allow easier comparison 
between funds and better understanding of risks. 

1.15 We are grateful to the fund actuaries and MHCLG for 
engaging on climate risk analysis since the previous 
review.  We believe that the climate risk analysis 
principles document agreed ahead of the 2022 
valuations (see Appendix B) helped to improve 
consistency across the scheme in this area. We 
recognise the significant progress made by funds and 
actuarial advisors in the presentation of climate risk 
analysis as part of the actuarial valuation process. We 

Page 5 of 56 

P
age 75



  
 

 
  

   

 
   

     

  
  

 
 

  
 

    
 

  

     
    
     

 

     
    

     

 

      
      

        
       
    
      

    
 

   

   

 

  

 

 
 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

strongly promote the further development of climate risk 
analysis and its integration into decision-making by 
funds. This remains a rapidly evolving area and we 
recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board considers 
with other stakeholders what common principles should 
be adopted for the 2025 fund valuations to facilitate 
consistency in climate risk analysis across the scheme. 

1.16 The landscape in which the scheme operates is 
continually changing such that the scheme will face 
different challenges over time. We support the SAB 
continuing to proactively engage with stakeholders on 
such issues and provide guidance where appropriate to 
ensure greater consistency across funds. 

Recommendation 2: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
continue to consider emerging issues and, where 
appropriate, whether guidance would be helpful to 
support greater consistency. 

As part of greater consistency on climate risk, we 
recommend that work continues to refine the climate 
change principles document in advance of the 2025 
fund valuations. 

Solvency 

Under solvency and long term cost efficiency we 
have designed a number of metrics and raised flags 
against these metrics, to highlight areas where risk 
may be present, or further investigation is required, 
using a red/amber/green rating approach. Where we 
do not expect specific action, we have maintained 
the white “for information” flag approach introduced 
in 2019. 

1.17 As currently set out in CIPFA’s Funding Strategy 
Statement Guidance, the employer contribution rate is 
appropriate to ensure solvency if: 

• the rate of employer contributions is set to target a 
funding level for the whole fund of 100% over an 
appropriate time period and using appropriate 
actuarial assumptions 

and either: 

• employers collectively have the financial capacity 
to increase employer contributions, should future 
circumstances require, in order to continue to 
target a funding level of 100% 

or 

• there is an appropriate plan in place should there 
be an expectation of a future reduction in the 
number of fund employers, or a material reduction 

Page 6 of 56 

P
age 76

https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/board-guidance


  
 

 
  

 

   

  
 

   
 

   

   
 

 
 

    
    

   
    

  

  

  
   

  

  

   
  

 
  

   

 
  

    
   

   

 
 

 
   

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
  

  
 

  

  
  

    
 

  
 

  
  

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

in the capacity of fund employers to increase 
contributions as might be needed 

1.18 

1.19 

The improvement in the funding position of the scheme 
has reduced the immediate solvency concerns. We 
have raised no red or amber flags in relation to 
solvency. However, risks clearly do remain which are 
important for funds to consider, particularly in the 
context of competing pressures on employer budgets 
and noting the sensitivity of funding levels to future 
experience (especially investment market conditions). 

Some councils have made a commitment to transfer 
some property assets to their pension funds at a future 
date. Whilst we are not aware of any new arrangements 
or any currently under consideration, we note these are 
complex and, in some cases, established with a long 
time horizon. For these reasons care needs to be taken 
to ensure they are suitable investments for a pension 
fund and that they are compliant with the wider local 
government capital framework. The governance around 
any such asset transfer arrangements requires careful 
consideration, and we recommend that these 
arrangements are considered as part of the Funding 
Strategy Statement guidance review as set out in 
recommendation 3. 

Long term cost efficiency 

1.20 As currently set out in CIPFA’s Funding Strategy 
Statement Guidance, we consider that the rate of 
employer contributions has been set at an appropriate 
level to ensure long term cost efficiency, if it is sufficient 
to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, 

with an appropriate adjustment to that rate for any 
surplus or deficit in the fund. 

1.21 In 2022, we are flagging two funds as raising potential 
concern in relation to long term cost efficiency under the 
deficit period measure. 

1.22 For a further fund, we are concerned that employer 
contribution rates are decreasing (reducing the burden 
on current taxpayers) at the same time as the deficit 
recovery is being extended further into the future 
(increasing the burden on future taxpayers). 

1.23 Different approaches have been taken by different funds 
at the 2022 valuations to determine how surplus is 
utilised. GAD has not flagged any funds on the 
utilisation of surplus at this review. Funds appear to 
have made decisions having considered relevant 
factors. However, we also note inconsistencies in 
outcomes will arise where funds place different weights 
on these factors, and we recognise the importance of 
considering intergenerational fairness i.e. the balance 
between the interests of current and future taxpayers 
and employers. 

1.24 We set out in the long term cost efficiency chapter of 
this report the approach that we intend to use for future 
section 13 reviews to assess how funds have utilised 
surpluses at future valuations. The approach is a mix of 
qualitative and quantitative analysis, to reflect the range 
of relevant considerations and approaches. We will 
expect administering authorities to have considered 
relevant factors and the trade-off between competing 
priorities. 

Page 7 of 56 

P
age 77

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition


  
 

 
  

 

   

    
    

 
  

 

 

  

     
   

        
     
   

        
    

   
  

     
       

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

1.25  We  have illustrated the potential implications of different  
approaches to surplus management in our Asset 
Liability Modelling (ALM), as well as the  uncertainty of  
long term contributions and funding and therefore the  
link to solvency risks.  

1.26 We support the SAB in facilitating the review of the 
guidance on Funding Strategy Statements mentioned 
above. We recommend that the treatment of surpluses 
and deficits, together with the governance on asset 
transfers, should be included as part of this review. 

Recommendation 3: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
consider the following: 

• Where funds are in surplus, whether additional 
guidance can be provided to support funds in 
balancing different considerations. 

• Where deficits exist, how can all funds ensure 
that the deficit recovery plan can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation of the 
previous plan. 

• Whether additional guidance is required in 
relation to the treatment of asset transfers from 
local authorities. 

Page 8 of 56 

P
age 78



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
      

 
 

  

   

    
 

  

  
     
   

 
  

   
  

  
 

   
 

 
   

 
   

   
   

  
 

   
   

  
 

 
  

 
 

    
   

    
    

  
   

   
 

 
     

  
  

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

2. Introduction 
2.1 This introduction provides background information on 

the local government pension scheme and the review 
we have undertaken, including: 

• Valuations within the LGPS 

• Section 13 and the statutory requirements 

• The approach that we adopt to carry out the 
required section 13 review 

What are Local Government Pension 
Scheme valuations?The Local Government Pension 

Scheme in England and Wales (LGPS, or “the scheme”) is a 
funded scheme comprising 87 different funds. Each individual 
fund has its own liabilities and assets, and periodic assessments 
are needed to ensure the fund has sufficient assets to meet its 
liabilities. 

2.3 Each LGPS pension fund is required to appoint their 
own fund actuary, who carries out the fund's valuation 
every three years. The fund actuary uses a number of 
assumptions to value the liabilities of the fund. Costs are 
split between those that relate to benefits already 
earned in the past (the past service cost) and those that 
relate to benefits being earned in the future (the future 
service cost). The results of the valuation may lead to 
changes in employer contribution rates for both future 
and past service costs. 

2.4 In addition to the individual valuations carried out by 
each fund, GAD carries out the following valuations: 

• A valuation of the whole scheme, with the latest 
such valuation occurring as at 31 March 2020: 
Local Government Pension Scheme (England and 
Wales). This valuation evaluates the cost of LGPS 
benefits and assesses if any changes need to be 
considered to meet an agreed cost control 
mechanism under directions set by HM Treasury. 
The Government’s intention is that the cost control 
mechanism is only triggered by “extraordinary, 
unpredictable events”. As at 31 March 2020 the 
cost control mechanism was not breached. The 
next review will be as at 31 March 2024. 

• SAB Cost Management Process (CMP) where the 
cost of the scheme is considered by the LGPS 
England and Wales Scheme Advisory Board 
(SAB) relative to a target cost for the scheme. The 
SAB CMP follows the valuation of the whole 
scheme described above. 

2.5 Scheme regulations set out member benefits to be paid 
and when valuations are to be carried out. We have 
based our assessment on current scheme regulations 
and benefits (with an allowance for agreement to 
equalise benefits under “McCloud”). The benefits paid to 
members are not dependent on the funding position of 
any particular fund. See Appendix C for further 
information. 

Page 9 of 56 

P
age 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2020-valuation-local-government-pension-scheme-england-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2020-valuation-local-government-pension-scheme-england-wales


  
 

 
  

 

   

  

  
  

  
 

  
  

  
  

    
 

 

 

   
  

 

  
  

 
  

  
  

 

 
    

 

  
 

   
 

 
   

 

  
 

   

 
 

  
 

  
  

   

     

  
 

   
 

    

   
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

What is section 13? 

2.6 Section 13 is a requirement under the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013. 

2.7 The Government Actuary has been appointed by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) to report under section 13 of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 in connection with the 
actuarial valuations of the 87 funds in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales. 

2.8 This is the third formal section 13 report and sets out the 
Government Actuary’s findings following the fund 
valuations as at 31 March 2022. 

Statutory requirements 

2.9 This report is addressed to MHCLG as the responsible 
authority for the purposes of subsection (4) of section 13 
of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (the Act). GAD 
has prepared this report setting out the results of our 
review of the 2022 funding valuations of the LGPS. This 
report will be of relevance to administering authorities 
and other employers, actuaries performing valuations 
for the funds within the LGPS, the LGPS Scheme 
Advisory Board (SAB), HM Treasury (HMT) and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA), as well as other LGPS stakeholders. 

2.10 Subsection (4) of section 13 requires the Government 
Actuary, as the person appointed by MHCLG, to report 
on whether the four main aims are achieved, namely: 

• Compliance: whether the fund’s valuation is in 
accordance with the scheme regulations 

• Consistency: whether the fund’s valuation has 
been carried out in a way which is not inconsistent 
with the other fund valuations within the Local 
Government Pension Scheme England and Wales 
(LGPS) 

• Solvency: whether the rate of employer 
contributions is set at an appropriate level to 
ensure the solvency of the pension fund 

• Long term cost efficiency: whether the rate of 
employer contributions is set at an appropriate 
level to ensure the long term cost efficiency of the 
pension fund 

2.11 Section 13, subsection (6) states that if any of the aims 
of subsection (4) are not achieved 

a. the report may recommend remedial steps 

b. the scheme manager must -

i. take such remedial steps as the scheme 
manager considers appropriate, and 

ii. publish details of those steps and the 
reasons for taking them 

c. the responsible authority may -

i. require the scheme manager to report on 
progress in taking remedial steps 

Page 10 of 56 

P
age 80



  
 

 
  

 

   

   

 

  

  
  

 
  

Colour  Interpretation  

Red  

Amber  

White  

Green  

A  material issue that may result in the aims of  
section  13  not being  met. In such circumstances 
remedial action to ensure solvency and/or long  
term cost efficiency may be considered.  

A  potential issue  that we would expect funds to  
be aware of. In isolation this would not usually 
contribute to a recommendation  for remedial 
action in order to  ensure solvency and/or long  
term cost efficiency.  

An advisory flag that highlights a general issue  
but one which does not require  an  action in  
isolation. It may have been  an  amber flag if we  
had  broader concerns.  

There are no material issues that may contribute  
to a recommendation for remedial action in order 
to ensure solvency or long  term cost efficiency.  

  

   
 

  
  

 

  
  

  

 

 
 

  

 
  

 
 

 
  
  

  

   
  

   
 

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

ii. direct the scheme manager to take such
remedial steps as the responsible authority
considers appropriate.

GAD’s approach 

2.12 We have looked at a range of metrics to identify 
potential exceptions under the solvency and long term 
cost efficiency objectives. Each fund is given a colour-
coded flag under each measure: 

2.13 The trigger points for these flags are based on a 
combination of absolute measures and measures 
relative to the funds in scope. Where appropriate, we 
have maintained consistency with the approach adopted 
in 2019. 

2.14 While they should not represent targets, these 
measures and flags help us determine whether a more 
detailed review is required. For example, we would have 
a concern where multiple measures are triggered amber 
for a given fund. 

2.15 These flags are intended to highlight areas where risk 
may be present or further investigation is required. For 
example, where an amber flag remains following 
engagement, we believe this relates to an area where 
some risk remains that administering authorities and 
pension boards should be aware of. There is no 
implication that the administering authority was 
previously unaware of the risk. 

2.16 A green or white flag does not necessarily indicate that 
no risk is present and similarly the fact that we are not 
specifically suggesting remedial action does not mean 
that scheme managers should not consider actions. 

2.17 We have had regard to the particular circumstances of 
some funds, following engagement with the 
administering authority and the fund actuary. In some 
cases, the action taken or proposed has been sufficient 
to remove flags. We have described these outcomes in 
the relevant sections below. 

Page 11 of 56 

P
age 81



  
 

 
  

 

   

    
  

  

   

 
    

  
 

   
 

   
  

   

  
 

  

   

  
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
     

   
  

 

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
  

  
  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

2.18 The metrics shown in the tables in this report are based 
on publicly available information and/or information 
provided to GAD. 

2.19 Further detail of the metrics and fund engagement is 
provided in the solvency and long term cost efficiency 
chapters and appendices. In addition, we have 
considered the overall funding position of the funds 
within the LGPS in our funding analysis report published 
alongside this document. 

2.20 Within an LGPS fund, contribution rates may vary 
between employers. Our analysis and metrics focus on 
the aggregate fund position except where stated. When 
reading this report, it is important to note that individual 
employers’ contribution rates and funding situations 
might differ from the aggregate fund position. 

2.21 Local valuation outputs depend on both the 
administering authorities’ Funding Strategy Statements 
and the actuary's work on the valuation. We have 
reported where valuation outcomes raised concerns in 
relation to the aims of section 13. It is not our role to 
express an opinion as to whether that conclusion was 
driven by the actions of authorities or their actuaries, or 
other stakeholders. 

2.22 The following key has been used to identify the actuarial 
advisers for each fund: 

Adviser  Colour  

Aon  

Barnett Waddingham  

Hymans Robertson  

Mercer  

Purple  

Green  

Grey  

 

2.23 The Environment Agency Closed Pension Fund is 
different from other LGPS funds. The benefits payable 
and costs of the fund are met by Grant-in-Aid funding by 
the Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs, thus guaranteeing the security of these benefits. 
Details of this can be found in the Environment Agency 
Closed Pension Fund valuation published on the LGPS 
SAB website. In general, the fund has been excluded 
from the analyses that follow. 

Standardised bases used in our approach 

2.24 There are some areas of inconsistency highlighted in 
Chapter 5 which make meaningful comparison of local 
valuation results difficult. To address this, we have 
referred to results restated on two bases: 

• The SAB standard basis was established by the
SAB and is used by fund actuaries to calculate
liabilities on a consistent basis allowing
comparison of funds.

• Where we consider the potential impact of future
funding levels on solvency and long term cost

Page 12 of 56 

Blue 

P
age 82

https://www.lgpsboard.org/images/Valuations2022/EnvironmentClosedValuation2022.pdf
https://www.lgpsboard.org/images/Valuations2022/EnvironmentClosedValuation2022.pdf


  
 

 
  

 

   

       
    

 
  

   
 

  
 

     
 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
  

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

    
 

  
  

 

 
  

    
 

 
  

   

 
 

  

  

  

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

efficiency we need to compare the value of a 
fund’s assets and liabilities. Therefore, we require 
a market consistent basis. As the SAB standard 
basis is not a market related basis GAD calculates 
liabilities on a consistent best estimate basis, 
which is based on market conditions as at 31 
March 2022. 

Additional information on both these bases can be found 
in Appendix G. 

2.25 These bases facilitate comparison but are not suitable 
for funding purposes, as we would expect a funding 
basis to reflect the local characteristics of a fund. We 
note that: 

• The SAB standard basis is not consistent with 
current market conditions and is not suitable for 
considering possible impacts on solvency and 
long term cost efficiency. 

• The GAD best estimate basis is based on our 
views of likely future returns on each broad asset 
class across the Scheme. Regulations and CIPFA 
guidance call for prudence to be adopted when 
setting a funding basis. Our best estimate basis 
does not include prudence and is based on the 
aggregate investment strategy for the overall 
scheme, so will not be pertinent to any given 
fund’s particular investment strategy. Further, 
future asset returns are uncertain and there are 
other reasonable best estimate bases which may 
give materially different results. 

2.26 The local valuations and our calculations underlying this 
report are based on specific assumptions about the 
future. Future experience will differ from these 
assumptions. Some of our solvency measures are 
stress tests but they are not intended to indicate a worst 
case scenario. 

Other important information 

2.27 The previous section 13 report was published on 16 
December 2021 following the valuations as at 31 March 
2019, details of which can be found in the Local 
Government Pension Scheme: review of the actuarial 
valuations of funds as at 31 March 2019. 

2.28 The SAB have collated individual fund valuation reports, 
together with a summary on their website. 

2.29 Appendices, dated 14 August 2024, are contained in a 
separate document. 

2.30 GAD have also published a funding analysis report, 
dated 14 August 2024. This is a factual document 
summarising the results of the funds’ valuations. 

2.31 In performing this analysis, we are grateful for helpful 
discussions with and cooperation from: 

• Actuarial advisors 

• CIPFA 

• MHCLG 

• Fund administrators 

Page 13 of 56 

P
age 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-pension-scheme-review-of-the-actuarial-valuations-of-funds-as-at-31-march-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-pension-scheme-review-of-the-actuarial-valuations-of-funds-as-at-31-march-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-pension-scheme-review-of-the-actuarial-valuations-of-funds-as-at-31-march-2019
https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/fund-valuations-2022


  
 

 
  

 

   

  

   

   
 

  
 
 

   
 

    
    

  
 

  

   
 

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  

 

   
   

  
 
 

 
  

 

 

   
 

 
 

  
 

  
   

  
   

 
   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

• HM Treasury 

• LGPS SAB 

2.32 This report is GAD’s alone, and the stakeholders above 
are not responsible for the content. 

2.33 GAD would like to acknowledge the commitment shown 
by the funds and their advisors, which is illustrated 
through their engagement with this process and the 
improvement in the funding position of funds since the 
previous valuation. 

2.34 GAD has no liability to any person or third party other 
than MHCLG for any act or omission taken, either in 
whole or in part, on the basis of this report. No decisions 
should be taken on the basis of this report alone without 
having received proper advice. GAD is not responsible 
for any such decisions taken. 

2.35 We understand and assume that there is no regulatory 
authority assumed by or conferred on the Government 
Actuary in preparing this or any future section 13 report. 
The appointment to report under section 13 does not 
give the Government Actuary any statutory power to 
enforce actions on scheme managers (or others). 

2.36 This work has been carried out in accordance with the 
applicable Technical Actuarial Standard: TAS 100 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC). The 
FRC sets technical standards for actuarial work in the 
UK. 

Future review 

2.37 We are grateful to stakeholders for their assistance in 
preparing this report. We are committed to preparing a 
section 13 report that makes practical recommendations 
to advance the aims in the legislation. We will continue 
to work with stakeholders to advance these aims ahead 
of the 2025 actuarial valuations and expect that our 
approach to section 13 will continue to evolve to reflect 
ever changing circumstances and feedback received. 

Limitations 

2.38 We recognise that the use of data and models has 
limitations. For instance, the data that we have from 
valuation submissions and publicly available financial 
information is likely to be less detailed than that 
available to funds. Our risk assessment framework 
enables us to broadly assess scheme risks and decide 
on our engagement with funds on an indicative basis. It 
is the responsibility of administering authorities and their 
advisors to consider and manage their risks. 

2.39 Because of the nature of this exercise, we have not 
generally allowed for experience since the fund 
valuations, except for any specific actions described 
where we have engaged with funds. 

Page 14 of 56 

P
age 84



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
        

   

  

 
 

    
  

  

     
  

  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
   

 

 
 

  
      

 
  

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

3. Progress
3.1 We made four recommendations and a general risk comment in the 2019 section 13 report. We have reported on the progress 

made against each of these recommendations in the table below: 

2019 Recommendation Progress 

1: The SAB should consider the impact of inconsistency 
on the funds, participating employers and other 
stakeholders. It should specifically consider whether a 
consistent approach needs to be adopted for 
conversions to academies, and for assessing the impact 
of emerging issues, including McCloud. 

The SAB have actively engaged with both areas that the 2019 report 
focused on, namely academies and equalisation of benefits following the 
“McCloud” remedy. 

The SAB have prepared guidance on academy conversion. This is a 
positive improvement with regard to presentational consistency although 
little has changed in respect of evidential consistency, i.e. the underlying 
differences in approaches remain. 

In relation to McCloud liabilities all funds quantified the estimated impact 
as a percentage of liabilities on the dashboard, which was helpful in 
communicating the impact. Regulations to equalise for McCloud remedy 
have been introduced since the last review in 2019 and, therefore, we 
make no further recommendations in this area. 

More broadly, the potential for inconsistency remains particularly where 
new issues emerge. Therefore, we are supportive of the SAB maintaining 
a watching brief and engaging with stakeholders in relation to current 
issues such as the recent working group on surpluses and the proposal to 
host a climate change working group. We also encourage the SAB and 
other stakeholders to consider the benefits of improving consistency 
across funds as part of the review of Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) 
guidance, which they are co-ordinating. 

Page 15 of 56 

P
age 85



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

2019 Recommendation Progress 

2: We recommend the  SAB consider how all funds 
ensure that the deficit recovery plan can  be  
demonstrated to be  a continuation of the previous plan, 
after allowing for actual fund experience.   

The principles underlying a deficit recovery plan will be set out in each  
fund’s FSS.  The  SAB is engaging with stakeholders to update the  
guidance  on FSS and  will consider the recommendation in these  
discussions.  

3: We recommend fund actuaries provide  additional 
information  about total contributions, discount rates and  
reconciling  deficit recovery plans in the dashboard.  

We  are grateful to  the fund  actuaries for providing this additional 
information, which we  believe is helpful to stakeholders wishing to  
compare different LGPS funds.  

4: We recommend the  SAB review asset transfer 
arrangements from local authorities to ensure that  
appropriate  governance is in place around any such  
transfers to achieve long term cost efficiency.  

With improvements in funding positions, we understand  that no new asset 
transfer arrangements have  been put in place. Fund advisors have not 
reported  any recent asset transfer arrangements in their data submission  
to GAD. The  SAB intend to consider this point during their review of the  
guidance  on  FSS.  

Page 16 of 56 

P
age 86



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

  
  

 
 

  
   

 
 

  

 
  

  

  

    
  

  
   

 
     

 
 

   
 

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

General risk comment Progress 

Local authorities have finite resources and in recent 
years, the size of pension funds has increased 
considerably more than local authority budgets. Given 
that pension funding levels change, it is not unlikely that 
a period of increased pension contributions may be 
required at some point in the future. 

If additional spending is required for pension 
contributions, this may lead to a strain on local authority 
budgets. 

We would expect that administering authorities are 
aware of this risk in relation to solvency and would 
monitor it over time. Administering authorities may wish 
to discuss the potential volatility of future contributions 
with employers in relation to overall affordability. 

We understand from discussions with fund advisors that administering 
authorities are generally mindful of the risks of a future deterioration in 
funding levels requiring increased pension contributions, with this causing 
a strain on local authority budgets. In many cases, this has been an 
important consideration when setting contribution rates for funds in 
surplus. Specifically, we note the focus of employers on stability when 
setting their contribution rates, which may help funds manage future 
increases in contributions. 

In light of the widely reported pressures on council funding impacting local 
authorities and other employers within the LGPS, it is important that the 
consequences of volatility and the risk of any future significant requirement 
to increase employer contributions continue to be monitored. 

Page 17 of 56 

P
age 87



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

 

    

   

 

   
   

  

    

  
 

   
   

   

    

 

 
 

   
  

  
   

 

 
  

 

   
    

    
 

  
  

  
 

 

   
 

 
  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

4. Compliance

Key Compliance findings 

• All reports checked contained a statement of compliance.

• The reports checked contained confirmation of all material 
requirements of regulation 62 of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.

• We concluded the aims of section 13 were achieved under 
the heading of Compliance, in terms of valuation reporting.

Statutory requirement and chapter content 

4.1 Under section 13(4)(a) of the Act, the Government 
Actuary must report on whether the actuarial valuations 
of the funds have been completed in accordance with 
the scheme regulations. 

4.2 In this Chapter we set out our approach to reviewing 
compliance and our conclusions from that review. 

Review of compliance outcomes 

4.3 Valuation reports complied with the required regulations. 

4.4 There is a great deal of consistency in the actuarial 
methodologies and the presentation of the actuarial 
valuation reports for funds that are advised by the same 
firm of actuarial advisors (see Chapter 5 on 
Consistency). Accordingly, GAD has selected one fund 
as a representative example from each of the firms of 
actuarial advisors and has assessed whether these 
reports have been completed in accordance with 
Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 (the statutory instrument 
governing actuarial valuations of the LGPS in England 
and Wales). Each actuarial firm confirmed that the 
selected fund valuation report was representative. 

4.5 We found that the actuarial valuation reports have been 
completed in accordance with Regulation 62 and have 
therefore concluded that the compliance criteria of 
section 13 have been achieved. This is not a legal 
opinion. 

4.6 We were pleased to note improvements in the clarity of 
references to the assumptions on which the Rates and 
Adjustment Certificate (the certificate setting out 
employer contributions) was based, following our 
comment in the previous section 13 report. 

4.7 In line with the required actuarial standards, we noted 
that the four valuation reports reviewed contained 
confirmation that the required Technical Actuarial 
Standards had been met. 

Page 18 of 56 

P
age 88



  
 

 
  

 

   

 
  

   
 

  
  

 
 

    

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

4.8 Our review of compliance is focused on the actuarial 
valuation reports produced under Regulation 62. We 
have not, for example, systematically reviewed Funding 
Strategy Statements prepared under Regulation 58. 

4.9 The comments we make in subsequent chapters on 
consistency, solvency and long term cost efficiency do 
not imply that we believe that the valuations are not 
compliant with the regulations. These comments relate 
to whether the valuations appear to achieve the aims of 
section 13. 

Page 19 of 56 

P
age 89



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

 

  
 

  
  

 

  
  

 
 

 
 

 

   
 

  
  

 
  

  
    

   

 

 

      
  

 

  

  

   
 

   
 

 
 

 

  
 
 

  

     
  

  
 

    

    

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

5. Consistency

Key Consistency findings 

• Presentational consistency was evident in the 2022
valuations and the continued use of the dashboard greatly
aids stakeholders’ understanding. The additional information
provided following the 2019 section 13 review has helped to
improve presentational consistency.

• There is no indication of significant improvement in evidential
consistency since the 2019 section 13 review. Local
variations may merit different assumptions and the
approaches and assumptions adopted appear compliant with
the relevant requirements. However, these differences will
lead to different outcomes, for example in ongoing
contribution rates.

• We recognise the significant progress made by funds and
actuarial advisers in the presentation of climate risk analysis
as part of the 2022 fund valuations. Most funds have followed
the broad climate risk principles paper agreed between
MHCLG, fund actuaries and GAD. We recommend that the
Scheme Advisory Board engage with stakeholders to
continue to develop these principles with the aim of improving
the analysis and ensuring consistency across funds for 2025
valuations, given the continued evolution across the industry.

Statutory requirement and chapter content 

5.1 Under Section 13(4)(b) of the Act, the Government 
Actuary must report on whether each actuarial valuation 
has been carried out in a way which is not inconsistent 
with other valuations. This requires both presentational 
and evidential consistency. 

5.2 In this chapter, we: 

• Provide background on the legislative requirement
and importance of consistency

• Consider recent changes to the dashboard and
improved presentational consistency

• Consider the remaining differences in evidential
consistency and the likely consequences of such
differences

• Note the significant improvements in climate risk
analysis by funds and propose actions to support
further improvements

Types of Consistency 

5.3 Presentational Consistency - Information may be 
presented in different ways in different reports, and 
sometimes information is contained in some reports but 
not others, so readers may have some difficulties in 
locating the information they wish to compare. We call 
this presentational inconsistency. 

5.4 Evidential Consistency - When the reader has located 
the relevant information (e.g. funding levels), differences 

Page 20 of 56 

P
age 90



  
 

 
  

 

   

   

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

  
 

 

    
 

    
 

 
 
  

  

 
 

   
   

  
  

 
  

  

  
 

  

 
 

 

  
 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 

  
 
   

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

in the underlying methodology and assumptions mean 
that it is not possible to make a like for like comparison. 
We call this evidential inconsistency. We believe that 
local circumstances may merit different assumptions 
(e.g. financial assumptions are affected by the current 
and future planned investment strategy or different 
levels of prudence) but that wherever possible, 
information should be presented in a way that facilitates 
comparisons. 

Importance of Consistency 

5.5 LGPS is a pension scheme providing a common benefit 
structure which is locally administered by separate 
Administering Authorities. Section 13 requires 
valuations to be carried out in a way that is not 
inconsistent with other LGPS fund valuations. This is 
important to enable readers to draw comparisons 
between the results from two valuation reports and also 
has wider benefits. 

5.6 Where members build up identical benefits, it can be 
hard to justify large variations in the apparent cost of 
these benefits. This is particularly pronounced where 
one employer participates in different LGPS funds and 
can be required to contribute differing amounts. In this 
situation, it is important to understand what is driving the 
difference and ensure that this is clear to employers. 
The greater the difference in cost between different 
funds, the more significant this issue. 

5.7 A specific example of this has arisen in recent years 
regarding academy conversions. When a local authority 
school converts to an academy, the contribution rates 
payable by the academy reflect both the funding 

position and the approach used (for example how 
assets and liabilities are attributed to the academy and 
whether the academy is grouped together with other 
employers). Differences in approaches can lead to 
significantly different contribution requirements. 

5.8 Furthermore, it is not unusual for members to transfer 
between funds. The greater the variation in funding 
bases, the greater the potential strain on a fund under 
such a transfer. In relation to bulk transfers of members, 
discussions on the appropriate transfer basis are not 
helped by differences in funding bases. 

Reasons for local variation 

5.9 Differences in approaches and assumptions across 
funds are to be expected under the valuation 
requirements and reflect: 

• Differences in circumstances (for example, 
different investment strategies, types of 
employers, attitudes to risk or demographic 
experience) 

• Differences in views of unknown future experience 
(for example, of future investment returns or 
longevity improvements) 

• Different methodologies, where a single approach 
is not prescribed 

5.10 Whilst differences in assumptions are justifiable, they 
should be evidence-based (where appropriate), clearly 
explained and the impact understood, to support 
evidential consistency. 

Page 21 of 56 

P
age 91



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

   

     
 

 

    

 
 

  
 

 

 
  

    
 

  
 

 
   

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Presentational Consistency  

5.11  We  noted  a high degree of similarity between  reports 
produced  by each consultancy. Therefore, we have  
taken, at random, a report produced by each  actuarial 
advisor to assess whether the information  disclosed is 
consistent across all four advisors. We do not have any 
specific concerns about the selected  funds and have  
confirmed with  the actuaries that these funds are 
representative  of a typical valuation report that they  
produce. None  of these funds raise any amber or red  
flags. These  funds are:   

 

Powys County Council Pension
Fund  (Aon)  

Buckinghamshire Pension  
Fund  (Barnett Waddingham)  

London  Borough of Croydon  
Pension Fund  (Hymans 

Robertson)  

 

Clwyd Pension Fund  (Mercer)  

Information provided within valuation reports  

5.12  We  note that valuation  reports contain detailed  
information  on  the financial position of a  fund  and what 
future contributions are required to  meet their  statutory 
obligations.  We have reviewed  the information  
contained in the sample funds’ valuation reports to  
consider how consistently key information has been  
presented  and hence  the extent to which a reader can  
easily make comparisons.  

Contribution rates 

5.13 Contribution rates include the following components: 

• Primary contribution rate (employer)

• Secondary contribution rate (employer)

• Member contribution rate

5.14 Regulations require contribution rates to be split into 
primary and secondary contribution rates for employers, 
and all valuation reports do note this. The primary and 
member contribution rates are easily found in valuation 
reports.  

5.15 There are differences between the valuation reports on 
what information is provided regarding secondary 
contributions and how they have changed over time. 
This inconsistency in information is addressed, in part, 
by the revised dashboard which does provide a clear 
comparison (as discussed further below in the 
subsection on dashboards). 

Change in position since the last actuarial valuation 

5.16 Each valuation report contains a section that 
summarises the changes to the funding position since 
the previous valuation. These are presented in very 
similar ways, making for easy comparison. 

5.17 Table 5.1 summarises the information provided in the 
sample valuation reports on the change in primary 
contribution rates since the previous valuation. Whilst 
two funds provide an analysis in a consistent manner to 
the analysis of the funding position, this is not the case 

Page 22 of 56 

P
age 92



for all funds. We would consider additional detail and  
consistency in approach here  to  be  helpful.  

Table 5.1 Comparison of primary rates with prior 
valuation  

  Fund Comparison provided 

  
 

 
  

 

   

 
 

  

   
 

 
 

   
  

  
  

  

 

     
    

    
    

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Powys County 
Council Pension  
Fund  

Analysis of the change in primary 
contribution rates  

Buckinghamshire  
Pension Fund  

Analysis of the change in  primary 
contribution rates  

London  Borough of 
Croydon  Pension  
Fund  

Comparison of primary rate (as % of pay) 
and secondary rate (as fixed  monetary 

amounts)  

Clwyd Pension  
 

Breakdown of the primary contribution rate 
compared with the previous valuation 

5.18 Table 5.2 sets out the information provided in the 
sample valuation reports on deficit and surplus 
strategies. Whilst we appreciate the information is 
complex, we did not find it easy to understand and 
compare funds’ strategies for utilising any surplus or 
spreading deficit over the longer term. In all cases we 
note that additional information will be included in the 
fund’s Funding Strategy Statement but that requires 
reference to a separate document. 

Table 5.2: Information provided on spreading 
surplus/deficit  

Fund  
Information provided on spreading 

surplus / deficits  

Powys County 
Council Pension  
Fund  

Statement setting out spreading of deficit 
under 100% over 13 years, across the  

fund, and  any surplus over 105% over 16  
years  

Buckinghamshire  
Pension Fund  

Statement setting out spreading of deficit 
(maximum of 11 years)  

London  Borough of
Croydon  Pension  
Fund  

 Provide funding time horizon over which 
all future and past benefits are sought to  

be fully funded  

Clwyd Pension  
 

Statement setting out spreading of deficit 
and surplus. Deficit recovery over 

average of 12 years.  

Dashboards 

5.19 All funds have provided information in the format of a 
standard dashboard following a 2016 section 13 
recommendation. The format of the revised 2022 
valuation dashboard was agreed by the SAB and 
actuarial advisors, and is shown in table B1 of Appendix 
B. This includes the key information that one might

Page 23 of 56 

Fund 
Fund 

P
age 93



  
 

 
  

 

   

 
  

   
  

   
    

 
  

   
  

  
 

 
  

  
  

 

   
 

   
   

   
  

 

  
 

 

  
  

  
  

 

      
  

  
 

 

 

  

   
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

   
 

  
    

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

expect to find in an actuarial valuation report and is 
helpful to readers in comparing funding valuations. 

5.20 We are aware that different actuarial advisors use 
different methodologies. While we would not wish a 
desire for consistency to stifle innovation, this can make 
comparisons difficult. We are grateful that Hymans 
Robertson have, for the 2022 valuations, provided 
information in the dashboard on how their future service 
discount rate is derived, although because their 
methodology does not base contributions on a single 
discount rate, comparisons with other funds remain 
difficult. 

5.21 The 2022 valuation dashboard includes further 
information on primary and secondary employer 
contributions in a standard format at both the current 
and previous valuation. We found that the additional 
information provided, especially in relation to secondary 
contributions, is helpful as this clearly sets out how 
contributions have changed over time on an easily 
comparable basis. 

5.22 We suggest that a review of the valuation dashboards is 
undertaken prior to the 2025 valuations, to consider if 
further information could be provided. In particular, to 
clarify the different approaches which funds adopt and 
to address inconsistencies in the description of the 
treatment of surpluses and deficits. 

Evidential Consistency 

5.23 We have considered whether the local fund valuations 
have been carried out in a way which is not inconsistent 
with each other, as required under regulations. We have 

found that inconsistencies in the methodologies and 
assumptions adopted remain, broadly in line with those 
observed at the 2019 section 13 review. This section 
describes these inconsistencies and the consequences 
of them, while also recognising there are valid reasons 
for local variations as noted above. 

5.24 Primary contribution rates range between 15% and 24% 
of pay in 2022. This range is a function of differences in 
age profile as well as different assumptions adopted. It 
is a slightly wider range than that from the 2019 
valuations. The range of secondary contributions 
reflects different levels of deficit and surplus across 
funds as well as differences in strategies to allow for 
deficit and surplus. 

5.25 The value assigned to liabilities in each actuarial 
valuation report has been calculated using assumptions 
set locally. Differing levels of prudence are to be 
expected and may be reflective of local variations in risk 
appetite, but care needs be taken when comparing 
results. 

Reported liabilities 

5.26 Table 5.3 shows a comparison of the local basis liability 
values with liability values calculated using the SAB 
basis, for the four valuations chosen. Whilst there are 
reasons for local variations between bases, as 
described above, this does illustrate the difficulty in 
drawing conclusions based solely on liability values due 
to variation in assumptions (including factors such as 
the levels of prudence adopted). Charts B1 and B2 in 
Appendix B show the variation between the local basis 

Page 24 of 56 

P
age 94



  
 

 
  

 

   

   
  

and SAB basis funding levels for individual funds in 
more detail for all funds. 

 Table 5.3: Liability Values 

   

    

  
   

 

 
   

  

 

   
   

 
 

  

 

  
  

 

 

  
  

 

 
 

  
     

   
  

 
  

 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Fund  
Local Basis  

(£m)  

SAB  
Standard 

Basis  
(£m)  

Difference  
between 

Local and 
SAB Basis  

Powys County 
Council Pension  
Fund  

823  759  8%  

Buckinghamshire  
Pension Fund  

3,717  3,552  5%  

London  Borough of 
Croydon  Pension  
Fund  

1,790  1,576  14%  

Clwyd Pension  
 

2,366 2,139 11% 

5.27 The liability value on the local basis is higher than that 
calculated on the SAB standard basis for the sample 
funds. Across the four funds examined, the difference 
between the liabilities calculated on the two bases 
ranges between 5% and 14%. More widely across all 
funds the range is between -5% and 33%. As noted in 
paragraph 2.25, the SAB standard basis is not useful for 
assessing liabilities for funding purposes but is helpful 
as a standard comparative measure. This analysis 

illustrates the potential range of differences in liability 
values due to different bases. 

5.28 The analysis above focuses on four funds chosen at 
random. It should not therefore be extrapolated to all 
funds advised by a particular advisor. 

Assumptions 

5.29 We compared the following key assumptions, used for 
the actuarial valuations, to consider whether variations 
in those assumptions are justified in terms of local 
conditions. 

Discount Rate 

5.30 The discount rate is the most significant assumption in 
terms of impact on the valuation results. We have 
therefore focused on the derivation of this assumption in 
this section. It is expected that different advisors will 
have different views on expected future investment 
returns, from which discount rates are derived. 

5.31 We first consider the discount rate used to value past 
service liabilities. The pre-retirement discount rate is 
derived from the expected return on assets with a 
deduction for prudence. A way of measuring the level of 
prudence included is to consider the implied asset 
outperformance within the discount rate (see Appendix 
B for more details). The range of implied asset 
outperformance by actuarial advisor is set out in Chart 
5.1 below. 

Page 25 of 56 

Fund 

P
age 95



  
 

 
  

 

   

 Chart 5.1 Implied asset outperformance range 

 

4.5% 

4.0% 

3.5% 

3.0% 

2.5% 

2.0% 

1.5% 

1.0% 

Aon Barnett Waddingham Hymans Robertson Mercer 

 

 
 

 
  

  
  

   
  

  
 

  

   
   

   
 

  
     

  
 

   
  

 
   

 
   

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Chart 5.1 illustrates the  range of  implied  asset 
  

    
 

  
  

 
 

  

5.32 Chart 5.1 shows the variance in implied asset 
outperformance by actuarial advisor. We determine the 
implied asset outperformance as the discount rate less 
the implied market risk free rate (see Appendix B). The 
coloured box in the middle represents the range of asset 
outperformance in the discount rate for the middle 50% 
of advisors’ funds i.e. the lower and upper lines for the 
shaded box represent the spread for the lower and 
upper 25% of funds. The end points represent the 
minimum and maximum discount values. The black 
diamonds represent the average asset outperformance. 

5.33 The variation in assumptions is relatively narrow with a 
great deal of overlap, albeit the range from highest to 

lowest is over 2%. Chart B3 in Appendix B shows the 
breakdown for individual funds. 

5.34 Whilst this might suggest consistency, we have 
investigated various factors that might be expected to 
influence the discount rates that funds choose to adopt. 
Our analysis showed that there was no clear influence 
due to the asset mix, prudence, funding level, type of 
employer or maturity in isolation on the discount rate 
adopted. For example, the impact of the asset allocation 
on the discount rate is illustrated in Chart B4 in 
Appendix B and shows little correlation. We conclude 
that there is variation both between fund advisors and 
within individual funds advised by each advisor, driven 

Page 26 of 56 

Hymans Robertson have the lowest level. 

outperformance by the four actuarial advisors 
(with the Environment Agency closed fund 
excluded). 

In 2022, as at the 2019 review, some funds 
advised by Barnett Waddingham have the 
highest level of asset outperformance within the 
discount rate used for assessing past service 
liability values, while some funds advised by 

P
age 96



  
 

 
  

 

   

   
  

    
 
    

 
   

   
 

   
 

 
 

 
   

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
   

  
     

 

 
  

 

 
  

  
 

  

  

 
  

 
 

 

  

 

  
 

    

   

    
 

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

by a combination of factors including risk appetite and 
past practice (which may well be related). 

5.35 The implied asset outperformance in Chart 5.1 relates to 
the discount rate for past service liabilities only. Whilst 
Aon and Barnett Waddingham adopt the same 
assumption for setting future contribution rates, Mercer 
have a different approach and Hymans Robertson use 
the same underlying model as part of a risk-based 
analysis. 

5.36 Hymans Robertson use an asset liability model to set 
contribution rates by analysing a probability of success 
(“meeting the funding target by the funding time 
horizon”) over a projection period (such as, for example, 
twenty years). We appreciate that Hymans Robertson 
have provided commentary on their methodology in the 
dashboard, although comparisons with other funds 
remain difficult since they are unable to provide a 
suitable comparative discount rate for setting future 
contributions. 

5.37 Mercer’s approach allows for contributions made after 
the valuation date receiving a future investment return 
that is not directly linked to market conditions at the 
valuation date. This resulted in a higher discount rate 
assumption for setting future contribution rates than 
used to value past service liabilities in the 2022 
valuations. 

5.38 Where discount rates reflect market conditions, all funds 
adopted a consistent approach in basing valuation 
outcomes on market conditions at the valuation date 

rather than reflecting subsequent market movements. 
Given changes in investment markets in the second half 
of 2022, particularly in relation to the gilt market, 
consideration of this aspect is especially relevant for this 
section 13 review. 

5.39 Whilst we have been unable to identify any individual 
factor driving the differences, we acknowledge that 
different views of future investment returns, different 
asset strategies and different risk appetites (among 
other factors) would suggest different discount rates. 
Hence, we do not consider the fact that funds adopt 
different discount rates to be a particular cause for 
concern. Future asset returns are highly uncertain, and 
hence there is a wide range of reasonable assumptions 
that may be adopted. 

Other assumptions 

5.40 We have compared the following assumptions used by 
funds: 

• Future mortality improvements (life expectancy)

• Commutation assumptions

5.41 We expect assumptions to vary between funds. To aid 
transparency, this variation should be justified in relation 
to local circumstances. Appendix B contains further 
information on the assumptions adopted. 

Page 27 of 56 

P
age 97



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 

 

   
    

  
   

 

    
  

  

  
 

    
  

  
    

 
   

 
 

 
 

 

  
    

 

  

     
      

      
    

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Overall 

5.42 Differences in approaches and assumptions across 
funds are to be expected under the valuation 
requirements. However, there continue to be benefits of 
greater consistency across the scheme and one of the 
aims in the Public Services Pensions Act 2013 is that 
fund valuations should be “carried out in a way which is 
not inconsistent with other valuations”. The SAB are 
facilitating a review of the Funding Strategy Statement 
guidance. Therefore, as part of this review, we 
encourage stakeholders to consider potential benefits of 
greater presentational and evidential consistency 
among other relevant factors. 

Recommendation 1: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
consider whether greater consistency could and 
should be achieved to allow easier comparison 
between funds and better understanding of risks. 

Academies 

5.43 At the 2019 section 13 review, we engaged with the 
fund actuaries to understand if there had been a move 
to greater consistency for academy conversions over 
time and whether a move to greater consistency was 
likely to occur. Whilst fund actuaries noted there was 
generally consistency between funds advised by the 
same advisor the consensus view was there was 
unlikely to be any convergence in approach between 
advisors unless mandated by regulations. 

5.44 A recommendation was made in the 2019 section 13 
report that the SAB should consider the impact of 
inconsistency on the funds, participating employers and 
other stakeholders, and specifically whether a 
consistent approach needs to be adopted for 
conversions to academies. 

5.45 The SAB subsequently convened a working group 
which included MHCLG, fund actuaries, the Department 
for Education, academy school representatives and 
GAD, which prepared SAB guidance on academy 
conversions.  This sets out common nomenclature 
which should encourage presentational consistency and 
a common understanding amongst stakeholders.  It also 
explained how differing methodologies work and their 
impacts. 

5.46 The underlying differences in conversion methodologies 
have not been addressed and therefore the contribution 
rates paid by academies continue to be inconsistent. 

Page 28 of 56 

P
age 98

https://lgpsboard.org/images/Guidance/Oct2023SABGuidanceonAcademyConversions.pdf
https://lgpsboard.org/images/Guidance/Oct2023SABGuidanceonAcademyConversions.pdf


  
 

 
  

 

   

 

 

 
    

 
 

  
  

 
 

 
  

    
 

 
 

  

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Emerging Issues 

Climate risk 

5.47 The 2019 section 13 report highlighted climate risk as 
an emerging issue and noted a desire to encourage 
dialogue to aid consistency of approach across funds on 
the presentation of climate risk analysis. GAD 
subsequently engaged with the fund actuaries and 
MHCLG to agree broad principles on such analysis 
ahead of the 2022 valuations. These principles are 
included in Appendix B. 

5.48 82 of the 87 funds carried out climate risk analysis in 
line with these broad principles with the results of the 
analyses included in the 2022 valuation reports. We are 
grateful to the fund actuaries and MHCLG for engaging 
on this issue to improve consistency across the scheme. 
We recognise the significant progress made by funds 
and actuarial advisors in the presentation of climate risk 
analysis as part of the actuarial valuation process. 

5.49 The other five funds provided their reasons for adopting 
a different approach as follows: 

Page 29 of 56 

P
age 99



  
 

 
  

 

   

 Table 5.4:  Commentary on climate change approach adopted (provided by each fund) 

    Fund Climate change approach commentary provided by the fund 

 
 

   

    
  

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

City of Westminster Pension  
Fund;  

London  Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham  
Pension Fund; and   

Royal Borough of Kensington  
and Chelsea Pension  Fund  

The approach taken by the  fund to evaluate the possible effect of climate  change risk on the  
funding strategy was set in a proportionate manner commensurate  with the Fund’s overall  
approach to risk management.  Specifically, the analysis carried  out highlighted the effect of a  
positive/delayed/neutral reaction to the climate challenge and whilst certain scenarios were shown  
to lead to a worsening  of the funding position, the  expected impact was deemed  to  be  not material 
enough  to  affect the funding strategy set at the 2022 valuation. The  Fund’s approach to evaluating  
the  effect of climate change on the funding strategy will next be reviewed at the 2025 valuation.  

Environment Agency Closed 
Fund 

The Environment Agency (as the Administering Authority to the Environment Agency Closed Fund) 
recognise that climate change, specifically the transition and physical risks this poses, could have 
an impact on the ability of pension schemes to pay benefits in the future. The risk exposure was not 
quantified at the 2022 valuation, as the Closed Fund’s funding agreement with Defra means its 
exposure to climate risk is minimal. In effect, any future shortfall that may emerge due to climate 
change risks would be met via grant-in-aid payments from Defra, and so the impact of climate 
change risks on the funding position is neutral. 

Page 30 of 56 

P
age 100

https://lgpsboard.org/images/Valuations2022/EnvironmentClosedValuation2022.pdf
https://lgpsboard.org/images/Valuations2022/EnvironmentClosedValuation2022.pdf


  
 

 
  

 

   

    

 

   
    

   
   

     
 

 
  

 
    

 
    

  

 
  

  
  

  

    
  

   
    

 
  

  
  

 

 
  

  
 

 

  
 

 
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Fund Climate change approach commentary provided by the fund 

West Midlands Pension Fund 

West Midlands Pension Fund is committed to undertaking and providing meaningful climate change 
analysis, extending to advocacy and engagement with key stakeholders to drive real change. The 
approach adopted by the West Midlands Pension Fund is based upon an integrated framework, 
which considers funding, employer covenant and investment risk. At the time that the broad 
principles document was agreed between the Fund actuaries and MHCLG our work on climate 
change, in respect of the 2022 valuations, was well advanced, supported by a range of analysis 
which has provided a foundation for engagement with stakeholders. Whilst our analysis aligned 
with the agreed climate change principles, we believe it extended beyond. We are seeking to 
achieve a consistent set of principles (including climate scenarios), across our assets, liabilities and 
employer covenant, to aid our risk-based decision making and enable meaningful onward 
engagement with key stakeholders which informs our assessment of risk. As such it was not 
appropriate to include partial and incomplete analysis in one area of reporting when a broader 
context is required to assess and manage climate change risk. 

West Midlands Pension Fund is supportive of the objective for consistency across the LGPS, as 
well as continuing to develop and enhance climate risk modelling to enable useful analysis which 
can drive real world change and will review the revised 2025 climate change principles document 
and expect to publish consistent analysis for the 2025 valuation. 

5.50 Funds which carried out climate change analysis in line 
with the principles document considered between three 
and five climate change scenarios. We have 
summarised the results in Charts B7 and B8 in 
Appendix B. This has been provided for information only 
as a high-level summary of the analysis reported. It 
should not be used to comment on differences in 
impacts across funds. This is because, under the broad 
principles agreed, different funds can reasonably adopt 
a range of assumptions within scenarios and therefore 

differences can arise due to assumptions as well as 
modelled impacts. Further, the summary presented is a 
snapshot at one point in time and therefore might 
misrepresent a more considered comparison of 
projected trajectories over time. 

5.51 MHCLG has consulted on proposals for new 
requirements for assessing and reporting on climate 
risks in line with the recommendations of the Taskforce 
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) but 

Page 31 of 56 

P
age 101



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
     

 
   

   
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

 

    
 

   
  

 
 

 
 

  

    
    

  

 

 

  

     
    
     

  

     
     

     
   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

has not yet responded to the consultation. Climate risk 
analysis is evolving rapidly and we anticipate a maturing 
in analysis for the 2025 valuations. The importance of 
climate risk analysis, and in particular the appropriate 
communication of risks relative to scenarios presented, 
was highlighted in the recent (June 2024) Institute and 
Faculty of Actuaries (IFoA) risk alert on climate change 
scenario analysis . We strongly promote the further 
development of climate risk analysis and its integration 
in decision-making by funds. We recommend that the 
SAB continue to work with stakeholders to refine the 
climate risk analysis principles document prior to the 
2025 valuations. 

Other risks 

5.52 There are a number of risks and issues which have the 
potential to affect the LGPS pension funds in future. In 
particular, the recent growth in the number of funds in 
surplus has the potential to affect risks and 
opportunities. These issues require consideration from 
the funds and their advisors as they emerge. We 
encourage continued dialogue with a view to 
recognising the benefits of consistency across the 
scheme in the 2025 valuation and beyond. 

5.53 We would encourage consistency of approach to be a 
consideration for the SAB when discussing emerging 
issues, where appropriate and among other factors. 

Recommendation 2: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
continue to consider emerging issues and, where 
appropriate, whether guidance would be helpful to 
support greater consistency. 

As part of greater consistency on climate risk, we 
recommend that work continues to refine the climate 
change principles document in advance of the 2025 
fund valuations. 

Page 32 of 56 

P
age 102

https://actuaries.org.uk/news-and-media-releases/news-articles/2024/jun/06-jun-24-ifoa-risk-alert-on-climate-change-scenario-analysis/
https://actuaries.org.uk/news-and-media-releases/news-articles/2024/jun/06-jun-24-ifoa-risk-alert-on-climate-change-scenario-analysis/
https://actuaries.org.uk/news-and-media-releases/news-articles/2024/jun/06-jun-24-ifoa-risk-alert-on-climate-change-scenario-analysis/


  
 

 
  

 

   

  

 

  
 

   
 

 
  

    
 

  

 

 
 

   
  

    
 

 

  

   
   

   
 

 

 

   
  

  
 

   

   
 

 
 

   

  

 
 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

6. Solvency

Key Solvency findings 

• Funding levels have continued to improve on local bases
since 2019, primarily due to asset outperformance. In
aggregate, the funds of the LGPS are 106% funded on their
local funding bases. This reduces current solvency concerns,
but we note future solvency risk remains an important
consideration.

• Growth of funds’ assets relative to the size of the underlying
local authorities means that those funds that are in deficit are
more likely to trigger our asset shock measure. Where this is
the only concern raised, we have considered this a white flag.

• No other solvency flags have been raised. However, risks
clearly remain particularly in the context of competing
pressures on employer budgets and noting the sensitivity of
funding levels to future experience (especially investment
market conditions).

• We encourage funds to continue to review their risks and to
respond to emerging issues, and to ensure they have
appropriate governance structures in place in relation to any
asset transfer arrangements.

Statutory requirement and chapter content 

6.1 Under section 13(4)(c) of the Act, the Government 
Actuary must report on whether the rate of employer 
contributions to the pension fund is set at an appropriate 
level to ensure the solvency of the pension fund. 

6.2 In this chapter we outline the results of our solvency 
analysis and consider more broadly how funds manage 
solvency risk. 

Definition of Solvency 

6.3 In line with the definition in CIPFA’s Funding Strategy 
Statement Guidance, which we adopt for the purposes 
of section 13, we consider that the rate of employer 
contributions has been set at an appropriate level, to 
ensure the solvency of the pension fund, if: 

• the rate of employer contributions is set to target a
funding level for the whole fund of 100% over an
appropriate time period and using appropriate
actuarial assumptions

and either: 

• employers collectively have the financial capacity
to increase employer contributions, should future
circumstances require, in order to continue to
target a funding level of 100%

or 

Page 33 of 56 

P
age 103

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition


  
 

 
  

 

   

   
 

  
  

 
  

 

   
  

 
 

 

   
 

  
 

 
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

• there is an  appropriate plan in place should there
be an expectation of a  future reduction in the 
number of fund employers, or a  material reduction 
in the capacity of fund  employers to increase 
contributions as might be needed 

Funding position at March 2022  

6.4  Over the period from 31 March 2019 to 31 March 2022,  
the  aggregate funding  position of LGPS funds has 
improved  markedly, mainly driven  by strong investment 
returns. At the date of writing, we are aware  that many 
funds are likely to have seen further subsequent 
improvements in their funding position,  although this will  
depend  on individual fund circumstances. These  
improvements in funding reduce  the immediate  
concerns around current solvency risks relative to  
previous section 13 reviews. However, the range  of 
funding positions across the scheme, the sensitivity of 
funding levels to  future experience  and competing  
pressures on employers’ budgets mean  that solvency 
risks still exist.  

6.5  To provide some context on  the current position, 
following the  2022 valuations 78  funds (90%)  were in  
surplus on GAD’s best estimate  basis, with the  
aggregate best estimate funding level being  119%. This 
compares to the position in  2019, where 62 funds  were 
in surplus with an aggregate funding level of 109%. 
GAD’s best estimate basis is the set of assumptions 
derived  by GAD without allowance for prudence, hence  
with an intended 50:50 likelihood  of actual future 
experience being  higher or lower than  the assumption  

adopted, in our opinion, across the LGPS. Where the 
funding level on such a basis is greater than 100%, we 
expect there is a greater than 50% likelihood that 
existing assets would be sufficient to cover benefits in 
respect of accrued service when they fall due. This 
basis is applied consistently across the LGPS and so 
does not reflect fund specific circumstances or 
experience. 

6.6 Not all funds are above 100% funded on GAD’s best 
estimate basis. Funding levels on this basis range from 
83% to 164% (excluding the Environment Agency 
Closed fund, as benefits payable and costs of the fund 
are met by Grant-in-Aid funding by DEFRA). 

6.7 The solvency definition above means those funds that 
are relatively poorly funded are not considered 
insolvent, but they do need to be taking adequate action 
to resolve that deficit (which is the subject of long term 
cost efficiency) and monitor the affordability of any 
additional future contributions that may be required. 

Page 34 of 56 

P
age 104



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

   
   

  
  

  

  
  

 
 

 
  

 

    
  

     

 

  
 

  
  

    
 

 
    

  
  

 
   

    
 

     

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

SAB Funding Level Metric 

6.8 Five funds have a “white” flag in relation to their SAB 
funding level as they are the poorest funded on the SAB 
basis, with the distance in percentage points below the 
average SAB funding level shown below: 

Fund  
SAB Funding 

Level Distance  
below average  

Royal County of Berkshire Pension  
Fund  

36%  

Page 35 of 56 

London  Borough of Waltham Forest 
Pension Fund  

35%  

London  Borough of Brent Pension  
Fund  

25%  

Bedfordshire Pension  Fund  22%  

London  Borough of Hillingdon Pension  
Fund  

22%  

6.9 This is a purely relative measure and we did not engage 
with funds that flag on this measure only. We consider 
this a “white” flag. However, the lowest two funds on this 
metric, London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension 
Fund and the Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund, 
are both also raising a flag in relation to long term cost 

efficiency and are considered further in the next chapter 
of this report. 

6.10 We encourage the funds shown above to monitor 
closely the risk that additional pension contributions may 
be required in the future to eliminate the deficit. 

Non-statutory Members Metric 

6.11 Different employers have different covenants. We 
consider taxpayer-backed employers to have a stronger 
covenant value than other employers and note that the 
majority of LGPS employers fall into this category.  

6.12 The London Borough of Barnet Pension Fund has over 
a third of its members employed by non taxpayer-
backed employers, for example private sector 
employers and higher education establishments. We are 
encouraged to note that Barnet actively considered the 
covenant of one of its larger such participating 
employers, Middlesex University, as part of its 2022 
valuation. We understand that the fund undertook an 
extensive engagement exercise with Middlesex 
University in 2022 and agreed a funding strategy which 
reflects and manages the relevant risks. Given the clear 
consideration given to the risk and the fact that there are 
no other flags being raised for the fund, we consider this 
a “white” flag on this metric. 

P
age 105



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

 
 

 
 

     
  

 

    
    

 
  

   
  

 

  
  

  

  
 

  
  

   

   
  

 

  
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 

  
 

  
   

  
  

 

    

 
     

 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Asset Shock Metric 

6.13 This is a stress test. It considers what may happen if 
there is a sustained reduction in the value of return-
seeking assets for tax-raising employers (those 
employers whose income is covered by core spending 
and financing data). For example, a market correction in 
which asset values do not immediately recover and 
losses are not absorbed by changes in assumptions. 

6.14 We model the additional contributions that would be 
required by tax-raising employers to meet the emerging 
deficit. This is different to considering the total 
contributions required following the shock – i.e. we are 
looking at where there is a risk of large changes to the 
contribution rate, rather than a risk of the total 
contribution rate exceeding some threshold. 

6.15 Funds with a high level of return-seeking assets are 
more exposed to asset shocks and more likely to trigger 
this flag. 

6.16 Fewer funds flag on the asset shock measure in 2022 
than in 2019. 

6.17 Funds have grown considerably, measured by the value 
of either their assets or liabilities, over recent years. The 
size of the employers, and particularly that of the 
relevant local authorities as measured by their core 
spending power and financing data, has not grown at 
the same pace as their pension assets. (Core spending 
power and financing data is used as a measure of the 

financial resource of the underlying tax-raising 
employers, as detailed in Appendix C). 

6.18 We considered this situation carefully in 2019 and 
concluded that it would be difficult for funds to take 
specific action in response to individual fund flags which 
have been primarily driven by the increase in the size of 
funds relative to the possible resource available. We 
have adopted the same approach for this review and 
are noting these concerns as a “white” flag only in 
Appendix C. This is a “for information” flag that 
highlights a risk, but which may require monitoring 
rather than action. 

6.19 This highlights an ongoing risk across the LGPS due to 
the nature of open but maturing funds. If a shock were 
to occur, that shock would be more significant now and 
in the future, as funds have grown relative to the size of 
the local authority. This also needs to be considered in 
the context of competing pressures on local authorities’ 
and other employers’ budgets. 

6.20 The table of solvency measures by fund in Appendix C 
includes the funds with a white flag (5 funds in total). 

6.21 The potential for future variations in contribution rates is 
discussed further in our Asset Liability Modelling (ALM) 
section in the long term cost efficiency chapter. 

. 

Page 36 of 56 

P
age 106



  
 

 
  

 

   

   

 

   

  
  

   

 
  

  
 

 

  
   

 

    
  

 
 

   

 
 

 
  

 

   
 

 

    
 

   
  

   

  
  

 

    
   

    
 

  
 

   

 

 
   

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Management of Risks 

Funding 

6.22 The general risk comment made in the 2019 section 13 
report remains relevant. Local authorities and other 
employers have finite resources. In recent years, the 
size of pension funds has increased more than their 
budgets and there has been increased focus on 
competing pressures on budgets. Given the sensitivity 
of pension funding levels to changes in market 
conditions and other experience, it is possible that a 
period of increased pension contributions will be 
required in the future despite current strong funding 
positions. 

6.23 If additional pension contributions are required, this may 
lead to a further strain on local authority and other 
employers’ budgets at a future date. 

6.24 We expect that administering authorities are aware of 
this risk in relation to solvency and factor this into 
funding decisions. Administering authorities should 
discuss the potential volatility of future contributions with 
employers in relation to overall affordability. 

6.25 The risk of contribution rate increases and how stability 
mechanisms might influence contribution rates over time 
are discussed further in the Asset Liability Modelling 
(ALM) section included within Chapter 7. 

Governance and other risks 

6.26 Whilst the current positive funding position of funds in 
the LGPS reduces immediate solvency concerns, there 
are new challenges which could impact future solvency 
which are discussed further in this section. 

6.27 In some circumstances, an employer can elect to leave 
the fund, at which point any debt (or surplus) in respect 
of some fund members may be crystallised. After such 
an agreement is reached, there is no further recall on 
the exiting employer for additional funds if the future 
funding position changes. Recent improvements in 
funding positions could affect employers’ preferences. It 
is important that funds understand and manage the 
implications of any employer exits on the ongoing 
solvency of the fund. 

6.28 Pension funding is long term in nature. We support the 
approach adopted by the actuarial advisors in relation to 
the 2022 valuation reports, which note the expected 
improved funding position between the valuation date 
and date of signature of the report but did not look to 
review the valuation results given the long term nature 
of pension funding. Improvements in funding positions 
could lead to requests from some employers for mid-
cycle reviews of employer contributions based on 
particular market conditions. Mid-cycle reviews of 
employer contributions are only appropriate in limited 
circumstances and both statutory and SAB guidance 
should be carefully considered prior to carrying out such 
a review. 

Page 37 of 56 

P
age 107



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
 
  

 

  
 

   

  
  

 
   

   
  
    

 
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

  
     

 

  
  

  
 

  
   

   
   

   
   

  
  

  

   
  

    
    

  
  

 
 

 
 
 

 

  

 

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

6.29 GAD does not comment on the investment strategy that 
LGPS funds should adopt or the types of investments 
which LGPS funds should invest in. Nevertheless, when 
choosing an investment strategy, we would expect 
funds to consider the ongoing cost of the benefits and 
their capacity to increase contributions if required, 
alongside the appropriateness of the investment for the 
fund. 

6.30 Concerns were raised in the 2019 section 13 report in 
relation to contingent property transfers or other asset 
transfer arrangements from local authorities within the 
LGPS. 

6.31 A contingent property transfer is where councils commit 
to transferring property they own, for example, a 
portfolio of social housing owned by the council, to the 
pension fund. The assets are not immediately 
transferred to the pension fund but at the end of the 
agreed management period often a large number of 
years into the future, the property portfolio is transferred 
to the pension fund, possibly on a contingent basis, on 
the expectation that the underlying properties will 
generate revenues and/or sales proceeds that will 
reduce or eliminate any deficit that remains in the 
pension fund at that time. In return, the council 
committing to the future transfer receives an immediate 
reduction in deficit contributions, calculated as a present 
value of the expected future revenue from the portfolio 
of properties. 

6.32 While we are not aware of any new arrangements being 
put in place over the 3 years to March 2022, competing 

pressures on employer budgets could lead to such 
options being considered in the future, particularly if 
there is a market downturn. The risks, additional 
complexity and ongoing monitoring and governance 
requirements of such arrangements need to be 
balanced against the benefits they may provide. As a 
minimum we would expect the pension fund to receive 
specialist advice on the suitability of such assets as 
pension investments and to demonstrate that the 
conflict of interest between the fund and the council has 
been appropriately recognised and managed. 

6.33 Whilst we are not commenting on the actions of any 
fund that already holds such an asset, potential 
concerns, that we expect would need to be addressed if 
any new arrangements were to be considered include: 

• Funds need to carefully consider compliance 
aspects of such arrangements, including: 

> Compliance with local authority capital 
requirements, which specify that pension 
contributions should be met via revenue 
rather than capital accounts. At the point the 
transfer is realised, this could be considered 
a capital asset transfer arrangement 

> Compliance with restrictions on employer 
related investments in the Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Investment) Regulations 
2005 (as amended) 

> Management of any conflicts of interest 

Page 38 of 56 

P
age 108



  
 

 
  

 

   

   
  

 
 

   

   
 

  
 

  

  
   

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

• The assets may not be the form of asset which
best meets a pension fund’s long term objectives

• Due to complexity, such asset transfer
arrangements are likely to be associated with high
set-up and management costs

6.34 

6.35 

These arrangements are utilised in the private sector to 
act as a security for the risk of defaults by scheme 
sponsors. The difference in covenant strength between 
private sector employers and local authorities means 
that different considerations apply. 

We recommend that the SAB consider if additional 
guidance on local authority asset transfers would be 
helpful as part of their Funding Strategy Statement 
guidance review (see Recommendation 3). 

Page 39 of 56 

P
age 109



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
  

  

   
  

  

 
  

  
 

    
  

   
     

 

   
 

 

   
  

 
   

 

 

  

   
  

 

  

    

  
 

  

  

  

 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

7. Long term cost
efficiency

Key long term cost efficiency findings 

• In 2022, we are flagging two funds in relation to deficit
recovery periods. This is the same as the number of funds
flagged in 2019.

• For a further fund, we are concerned that employer
contribution rates are decreasing (reducing the burden on
current taxpayers) at the same time as the deficit recovery is
being extended further into the future (increasing the burden
on future taxpayers).

• We acknowledge there are different approaches to the
utilisation of surpluses and funds should consider relevant
factors and the trade-off between competing priorities. We set
out the approach we intend to use to assess how funds have
utilised surpluses at future valuations.

• We propose that the Scheme Advisory Board consider the
approach to surpluses in their review of the Funding Strategy
Statement (FSS) guidance.

• We have undertaken an Asset Liability Modelling (ALM)
exercise to illustrate two different surplus sharing options.
The ALM also highlights the potential contribution volatility
and funding risks even though an “average” fund may find
itself in a strong funding position currently.

Statutory requirement and chapter content 

7.1 Under section 13(4)(c) of the Act, the Government 
Actuary must report on whether the rate of employer 
contributions to the pension fund is set at an appropriate 
level to ensure the long term cost efficiency of the 
scheme, so far as relating to the pension fund. 

7.2 This chapter sets out: 

• A definition of long term cost efficiency

• The results of our analysis on long term cost
efficiency.

• The outcome of our engagement with funds

• Future considerations in respect of fund surpluses

• Outcomes of our asset liability modelling

Definition of long term cost efficiency 

7.3 In line with the definition in CIPFA’s Funding Strategy 
Statement Guidance, which we adopt for the purposes 
of section 13, we consider that the rate of employer 
contributions has been set at an appropriate level to 
ensure long term cost efficiency if the rate of employer 
contributions is sufficient to make provision for the cost 
of current benefit accrual, with an appropriate 
adjustment to that rate for any surplus or deficit in the 
fund. We note the Funding Strategy Statement 
Guidance is currently under review. 

Page 40 of 56 

P
age 110

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/preparing-and-maintaining-a-funding-strategy-statement-in-the-lgps-2016-edition


  
 

 
  

 

   

   

   
  

   
  

  
  

  

   
  

  

 

    
    

 

    
    

  
   
 

  
  

   
   

  

 
 

    
  

  

 
 

  

  

    

  

  
  

     
 

  
  

 

   
  

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Long term cost efficiency outcomes 

7.4 Long term cost efficiency (LTCE) relates to making 
sufficient provision to meet the cost of benefit accruals 
with an appropriate adjustment to reflect the funding 
position of the fund. The LTCE part of the 2019 section 
13 review focused on deficits, and not deferring deficit 
payments too far into the future so that they affect future 
generations of taxpayers disproportionately. This 
reflected the aggregate funding position of the scheme 
at that time. Whilst this remains a key consideration, as 
more funds have moved into surplus at the 2022 
valuations, the use of surpluses has been given greater 
consideration at this review. Our focus is on 
intergenerational fairness, and whether the current 
generation of taxpayers is benefiting from any surplus 
appropriately relative to future taxpayers. 

7.5 Two funds are flagged in relation to deficit recovery 
periods in the 2022 review, the same as the number of 
funds flagged in 2019. 

7.6 For the two funds (Royal County of Berkshire Pension 
Fund and London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension 
Fund), we are concerned that flags are still being raised 
despite using the same flag thresholds as at the 2019 
section 13 review. The average funding level of funds 
has increased by 8% since 2019, which has driven a 
reduction in the number of flags. Whilst we recognise 
funding plans are long term in nature and both these 
funds have improved their funding position, where a flag 
remains, despite the generally positive movements in 

economic conditions for the scheme, this identifies some 
risk. 

7.7 We have also considered graphically the positioning of 
funds on a consistent basis. Chart 7.1 on the next page 
plots the funding level relative to the scheme average 
(normalised to the SAB basis) against total employer 
contributions (expressed as a percentage of 
pensionable earnings). The two funds identified above 
stand out as having relatively weak funding on the 
consistent basis. This combination of flag and relative 
positioning led us to engage with those funds. 

7.8 For a further fund, London Borough of Redbridge 
Pension Fund, we are concerned that employer 
contribution rates are decreasing (reducing the burden 
on current taxpayers) at the same time as the deficit 
recovery end point is being extended further into the 
future (increasing the burden on future taxpayers). This 
led to this fund raising a flag in relation to its deficit 
recovery plan. 

7.9 Some other funds raised initial flags against LTCE 
measures, but on closer review most were not 
considered to be sufficiently wide outliers or present 
sufficient risk to warrant further investigation or 
engagement. 

7.10 We have not flagged any funds on the utilisation of 
surplus at this review. We comment on the range of 
approaches adopted by funds in surplus and set out our 
approach to this issue for future valuations. 

Page 41 of 56 

P
age 111



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Deficit Metrics (Required period, required return and return scope) 

Chart 7.1 SAB relative funding level vs Employer contribution rate  

Page 42 of 56 

 

   
 

   
  

 
 

 

      

Royal County of 
Berkshire Pension 

Fund 

London Borough of 
Waltham Forest Pension 

Fund 

10% 

15% 

20% 

25% 

30% 

35% 

-40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 

E
m

p
lo

ye
r 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 r

a
te

 2
0
2
3

-2
5
 (

%
 p

a
y)

 

Funding level relative to overall average at 31 Mar 2022 (SAB basis) 

Aon 

Barnett Waddingham 

Hymans Robertson 

Mercer 

P
age 112



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

 
  

    
  

 

   
 

 
   

   
 

  
   

 
     

   
 

  
   

   
   

 

     
 

  
    

  
  

 
 

 

   
  

  
   

   
   

  

   
   

 
 

  

 
  

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund 

7.11 The Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund is one of 
the least well-funded funds on a local basis, with a 
funding level of 86%. It is the lowest funded on the 
common SAB basis (excluding the Environment Agency 
Closed fund). 

7.12 Chart 7.1 shows that, although the Royal County of 
Berkshire Pension Fund is ranked lowest on funding 
level, its employer contribution rate, whilst above 
average, is lower than around 10 funds, all of which 
have much higher funding levels on the common SAB 
basis. 

7.13 Employer contributions are 25.2% of pensionable pay. 
This has increased from 24.0% of pay in 2019. 
However, this increase is driven by an increase in 
primary rates (up 1.5% to 16.9% of pay). Average 
secondary rates have decreased slightly as a 
percentage of pay. 

7.14 The Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund raised an 
amber flag in relation to deficit recovery period (12 years 
on GAD’s best estimate basis). In other words, current 
contribution rates are not estimated to be sufficient to 
reach full funding on a best estimate basis within 10 
years. 

7.15 More generally it is positive to note the reduction in the 
number of amber flags on long term cost efficiency for 
Royal County of Berkshire Pension Fund (which have 
reduced from four in 2019 to one in 2022). 

7.16 We were also pleased to observe that the Royal County 
of Berkshire Pension Fund has retained its deficit 
recovery end point, although this remains relatively long 
at 2040. 

7.17 Following engagement with the Royal County of 
Berkshire Pension Fund, we were advised that 
employers participating in the fund have been 
continuing to increase their total contributions to reduce 
the deficit over the longer term. We were reassured by 
this long-term commitment. 

7.18 The officers we engaged with appreciated that 
additional funding will be required over a long timeframe 
and reaffirmed their commitment to do so. 

7.19 It was noted that committees have been put in place to 
assist with the management of the fund and it was noted 
that investment returns have been relatively strong in 
recent years. 

7.20 Overall we were pleased to note the improvements 
made over the past three years, however given its 
relative funding position and relative to the contribution 
rates being paid into other funds, we consider that an 
amber flag for long term cost efficiency is appropriate. 

Page 43 of 56 

P
age 113



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

    
 

  
  

    
     

  

     
  
    

 

  
  

 
     

    
 

   
    

 

    
   

 
  

    
 

   
  

  
   

    
   

 
 

     
  

 
 

    
 
   

   
  

   
  

  
    

   

    
  

 

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension Fund 

7.21 The London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension Fund 
has the second lowest funding level on a local basis at 
81%. The funding level increased by 1% since the 2019 
valuation, much less than most other funds which on 
average saw an 8% increase. It is the second lowest 
funded on the common SAB basis (excluding the 
Environment Agency Closed fund). 

7.22 Chart 7.1 shows that, although the London Borough of 
Waltham Forest Pension Fund is ranked second lowest 
on funding level, around 7 funds, all of which have 
higher funding levels on the common SAB basis, are 
receiving greater contributions. 

7.23 Employer contributions are 26.6% of pensionable pay. 
This has increased from 25.9% of pay in 2019. 
However, this increase is driven by an increase in 
primary rates (up 1.6% to 17.2% of pay). Average 
secondary rates have decreased as a percentage of 
pay. 

7.24 The secondary contribution rate for one major employer 
in the fund incorporates a deduction to reflect the 
assumed value placed on the residual property 
investments currently held as a contingent asset 
transfer that will be transferred to the Fund in 36 years’ 
time, if it is in deficit at that time. The value of the 
contingent asset is not allowed for in the asset values or 
used in our metric calculations. 

7.25 The London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension Fund 
also raised an amber flag in relation to deficit recovery 
period (just over 10 years on GAD’s best estimate 
basis). In other words, current contribution rates are not 
estimated to be sufficient to reach full funding on a best 
estimate basis within 10 years. However, we 
acknowledge that London Borough of Waltham Forest 
Pension Fund is just above the required threshold, and 
no allowance was made for the contingent asset in this 
assessment. 

7.26 We were pleased to observe that the London Borough 
of Waltham Forest Pension Fund has retained its deficit 
recovery end point, although this remains relatively long 
at 2039. 

7.27 Following engagement with the London Borough of 
Waltham Forest Pension Fund we were advised that 
employers have been adhering to their plan to remove 
the deficit by 2039. We were reassured by this long-term 
commitment to improving the funding position. 

7.28 London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension Fund also 
referred to the modest increase in funding being the 
result of below expected returns. The fund is continuing 
to monitor asset performance and has already taken 
action to improve performance since 31 March 2022. 

7.29 The London Borough of Waltham Forest Pension Fund 
also provided additional information on the contingent 
asset arrangement referred to in their 2022 valuation 
report. The allowance for this when setting contributions 
is dependent on the fund receiving satisfactory legal 

Page 44 of 56 

P
age 114



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
  

  
  

  
    

  
 
   

 
 

    
 

    
 

 
 

 

 

  
 

 
  

  
  

  

  
   

   
 

  
 

 
  

  
  

    
  

   

   
 

    

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

confirmation on the arrangement, with GAD’s 
understanding being that this is now the case. GAD 
highlighted the points raised in the 2019 section 13 
report, which London Borough of Waltham Forest 
Pension Fund were aware of. Through our engagement, 
we have been made aware by the London Borough of 
Waltham Forest Pension Fund that the governance 
structure in place, in relation to the contingent asset 
referred to above, was strengthened as part of the 2022 
valuation and this includes a regular flow of information 
between the relevant parties and annual ratification of 
the arrangement’s viability provided to the Pension 
Committee. 

7.30 We acknowledge that the London Borough of Waltham 
Forest Pension Fund has increased contributions but 
given its relative funding position and relative to the 
contribution rates being paid into other funds, we 
consider that an amber flag for long term cost efficiency 
is appropriate. 

Deficit Reconciliation 

7.31 Where a fund is in deficit administering authorities 
should avoid continually extending the deficit recovery 
period end point at subsequent actuarial valuations as 
this will not meet the LTCE requirements. Over time and 
given stable, or better than expected market conditions, 
administering authorities should aim to: 

• Maintain the levels of contributions and/or 

• Reduce deficit recovery periods by maintaining the 
end point of the recovery period 

7.32 We believe it is appropriate for funds to consider their 
plans for the duration of the deficit recovery period, so 
that future contributions are recognised and these form 
part of employers’ budgeting process. 

7.33 We would not normally expect to see employer 
contribution rates decreasing (reducing the burden on 
current taxpayers) at the same time as the deficit 
recovery end point is being extended further into the 
future (increasing the burden on future taxpayers). This 
expectation balances intergenerational fairness between 
current and future generations of taxpayers, which is 
required for LTCE. 

7.34 We appreciate there may be circumstances where new 
deficit emerges between valuations, as a result of the 
fund’s experience, where it may then be appropriate to 
extend the recovery period. For example, if a fund within 
the last three years of its deficit recovery period 

Page 45 of 56 

P
age 115



  
 

 
  

 

   

   

 

 
  

  

   
  

   

  

 
   

  
 

  

 

   
 

    
 

 

   
 

  
   

  
    

  
  

    
   

   
  

 

   
 

   
    
    

  
  

 
  

     
  

   
     

 
  

    
  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

experienced a material reduction in its funding level, it 
would not be appropriate in the context of 
intergenerational fairness to repay that new deficit within 
three years also. 

7.35 We consider that reconciliation of the deficit recovery 
plan is an essential component for all funds to 
demonstrate they meet LTCE requirements. 

7.36 We note that most funds have maintained their deficit 
recovery end points in accordance with 
recommendation 2 from our 2019 section 13 report. 

7.37 The 2019 section 13 review recommended the inclusion 
of additional information on total contributions, discount 
rates and reconciliation of the deficit recovery plans in 
the dashboard. We are grateful that funds have 
disclosed this additional information, which has aided 
our analysis on deficit reconciliation. 

7.38 Hymans Robertson use stochastic techniques to set 
contribution rates, analysing the probability of success 
(“meeting the funding target by the funding time 
horizon”) over a projection period (for example, twenty 
years). This makes reconciliation as outlined in 7.31 
difficult, as additional information is required to illustrate 
a continuation of the plan. We are grateful to Hymans 
Robertson for providing information to facilitate 
reconciliation. 

7.39 In relation to the funds advised by Hymans Robertson 
whose total employer contributions have reduced and 

their likelihood of success, at the previous valuation end 
point, has also decreased we note the following: 

• In respect of two funds London Borough of Brent 
Pension Fund and London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund we did not think it was appropriate 
to retain an amber flag. Both funds had 
contributed above the minimum required in 2019 
and had not reduced the minimum likelihood of 
success in 2022. Further we note a reasonable 
degree of prudence in the minimum likelihood of 
success probability.  We therefore considered this 
to be a white flag. 

• London Borough of Redbridge Pension Fund, 
where the funding level is 99%: total employer 
contributions have reduced by 2.7% of pay and 
the likelihood of success at the 2022 valuation on 
the 2019 time horizon has reduced. We recognise 
that contribution rates are set considering an 
analysis of future funding risk over a time horizon 
of 17 years, however we consider it appropriate to 
retain the amber flag. 

7.40 We engaged with Durham Pension Fund that flagged 
initially on this measure where the funding level is 97%: 
there was a reduction in total employer contributions of 
1.8% of pay and the end point increased by one year. 

7.41 In the engagement with Durham Pension Fund, it was 
noted that the fund is close to being fully funded and the 
end point increased by only one year. This was part of a 
package of changes which included an increase in 

Page 46 of 56 

P
age 116



  
 

 
  

 

   

    
   

   
   

  
 

  
      

  
  

 
 

 

  
   
     

 
  

  
  

  

  
   

  
  

 

 

    
  

    

 
   

 

   
 

 
    
    

 

   

  

  

  
  

 

  
 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

prudence within their funding basis; and an increase in 
the surplus buffer for those employers in surplus. 

7.42 Aon provided evidence that total contributions payable 
following the valuation are greater than those which 
would have been required had the 2019 valuation basis 
been retained with a three year reduction in the deficit 
recovery end point. In effect, the one year increase in 
end point reflected the new deficit arising due to the 
increase in prudence. The fund demonstrated they had 
considered relevant options and issues when deciding 
on funding strategy and agreed with the importance of 
being able to reconcile deficit recovery plans between 
valuations. 

7.43 In light of this evidence, we agreed that it would not be 
appropriate to maintain the amber flag under the deficit 
recovery plan metric for Durham Pension Fund, and 
agreed to adopt a white flag. We draw attention to the 
definition of white flags in Appendix D: an advisory flag 
that highlights a general issue but one which does not 
require an action in isolation. It may have been an 
amber flag if we had broader concerns. 

7.44 We recommend that the SAB consider if additional 
guidance on deficits would be helpful, and in particular 
how funds ensure that the deficit recovery plan can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation of the previous plan 
(see Recommendation 3). 

Surplus considerations 

7.45 At the 2022 valuations, 61 funds (over 70% of funds by 
number) were in surplus on a local basis, an increase 
from 24 at the 2019 valuations. 

7.46 There is a range of reasonable uses of fund surpluses, 
with strategies varying by fund to manage their specific 
risks and circumstances. Examples of surplus uses 
include (where the list below is not exhaustive): 

• Reductions in contributions, which may be 
managed via a surplus buffer (i.e. only surplus 
above an agreed funding level is utilised) or 
stability mechanism (with restrictions on the extent 
to which contribution rates can change over an 
agreed time period) 

• Review of investment strategy 

• Reviewing the level of prudence within funding 
strategies, which changes the chance that future 
experience is better/worse than assumed 

7.47 GAD does not comment on the investment strategy that 
LGPS funds should adopt, and it is proper that funds 
make decisions appropriate to their specific risks and 
circumstances. The statutory requirements for this 
review do require GAD to consider whether 
contributions have been set to ensure long term cost 
efficiency. Therefore, our focus is on contribution rate 
outcomes and intergenerational fairness, i.e. whether 

Page 47 of 56 

P
age 117



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
 

   

   

  

  
  

  
  

 
  

   
   

   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

   
   

    

  
  

    
    

    
 

 

 

 

 

  

     
   

        
     
   

        
   

   
  

     
       

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

the current generation of taxpayers is benefiting from 
any surplus appropriately relative to future taxpayers. 

7.48 Overall, there needs to be a balance between funds: 

• Utilising surplus too quickly; and 

• Retaining large surpluses 

7.49 On this basis, we have reviewed the different 
approaches adopted by funds in surplus at the 2022 
valuations. We are grateful to the actuarial advisors for 
providing general insights into the range of 
considerations taken into account by administering 
authorities. We also engaged with the SAB surplus 
working group on surpluses and have had regard to the 
SAB statement on surpluses issued in December 2023. 

7.50 We are aware of recent commentary around competing 
pressures on local authority (and other employers’) 
budgets, and whether current fund surpluses could help 
alleviate some of those pressures. Our approach to long 
term cost efficiency considers such points, in terms of 
whether the current generation of taxpayers is benefiting 
from surplus appropriately relative to future taxpayers. 
We consider it important that funds and employers take 
account of all relevant factors when making decisions 
on funding, considering risks and implications over an 
appropriate time horizon. 

7.51 Outcomes from the 2022 valuations depend on the 
priorities given by funds to different uses of surpluses. 

7.52 In our view, the uses outlined in 7.46 are consistent with 
current CIPFA and SAB guidance and SAB statements 
on scheme contributions. However, inconsistencies in 
outcomes across funds can arise where funds place 
different weights on the options for use of surplus. We 
support the SAB in facilitating a review of the guidance 
on Funding Strategy Statements with relevant 
stakeholders. We recommend that the treatment of 
surpluses and deficits, together with the governance on 
asset transfers, should be included as part of this 
review. 

Recommendation 3: 

We recommend that the Scheme Advisory Board 
consider the following: 

• Where funds are in surplus, whether additional 
guidance can be provided to support funds in 
balancing different considerations. 

• Where deficits exist, how can all funds ensure 
that the deficit recovery plan can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation of the 
previous plan. 

• Whether additional guidance is required in 
relation to the treatment of asset transfers from 
local authorities. 

Page 48 of 56 

P
age 118

https://lgpsboard.org/images/Other/SAB_Statement_on_Surpluses.pdf


  
 

 
  

 

   

  
  

 
   

   
  

 

 

  
 

   
  

  

 
  

  

  
 

  
 

 

   
 

 

  
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

  
 

 

  
 

 
   

  

 

  
 

 
 

   
  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

7.53 GAD has not flagged any funds on the utilisation of 
surplus at this review. This is in part because, from the 
discussions we have had at a high level, funds appear 
to have made decisions on surplus at the 2022 
valuations having considered relevant factors 
signposted in CIPFA and SAB guidance and SAB 
statements. Therefore, we instead set out our approach 
to this issue for future valuations. 

Funds utilising surpluses too quickly 

7.54 For future reviews, GAD will introduce a surplus 
retention metric to consider how quickly a surplus is 
being utilised on GAD’s best estimate basis, if the total 
employer contribution rate being paid is less than GAD’s 
best estimate contribution rate. The aim is to highlight 
any funds where contribution reductions in respect of 
surplus could lead to too great a funding risk in the 
short- to medium-term, measured on GAD’s best 
estimate basis. 

7.55 The rationale for this metric is to ensure 
intergenerational fairness. If surpluses are being 
realised too quickly, current taxpayers might be 
benefiting inappropriately relative to the risk being 
passed to future taxpayers. 

7.56 If we had introduced such a metric in the 2022 section 
13 review, all funds would have a green flag. 

Funds retaining “large” surpluses 

7.57 The counter risk to funds utilising surpluses too quickly 
is funds retaining too great a surplus and not 
recognising the strong funding position in the fund’s 
contribution rates. In such a scenario the fund may be 
seen as being unfair to current taxpayers, with future 
taxpayers expecting to benefit disproportionately. 

7.58 For future reviews, GAD will adopt a three-step 
approach: 

1. Identify the highest funded funds, considering both
the local bases and on a standard basis

2. Identify those funds which are relatively well funded,
on the local and standard basis, and are also paying
relatively high contributions

3. For those funds identified in steps one to two, we
would undertake qualitative analysis, for example
considering how contribution rates have evolved
since the previous valuation and any stated rationale
behind the approach adopted

7.59 Steps one to three aim to identify funds which are 
exceptionally well funded, or those which are relatively 
well funded and paying relatively high contributions. We 
propose considering results on two bases, initially using 
the SAB funding level to provide a consistent basis. 
However, as this is not a funding basis we will also 
consider the position on the local funding basis. The 
funds identified in steps one to three will not raise an 

Page 49 of 56 

P
age 119



  
 

 
  

 

   

 
 

  
  

 

    
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

 

 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

immediate flag as we also wish to consider any other 
relevant circumstances and the decision-making 
process. 

7.60 We would then engage with any funds identified from 
this process to discuss any concerns before deciding 
which funds to flag. 

7.61 In order to aid comparison on the approaches to 
surpluses and to facilitate this process, we will discuss 
with the fund actuaries if further information could be 
provided in their dashboard as discussed in Chapter 5. 

7.62 To illustrate the potential impacts of surpluses and the 
trade-offs between the considerations referred to above, 
we have undertaken an ALM analysis to illustrate the 
potential implications of different approaches and 
relationship to solvency risks. 

Page 50 of 56 

P
age 120



  
 

 
  

 

   

  

 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

  

   
 

  

    
    

 
  

 
 

   
 

 
  

 

    
 

 

 
     

 

   

 
 

 
   

 

   

  
    

  
  

  
  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

Asset Liability Modelling (ALM) 

Introduction 

7.63 An Asset Liability Model (ALM) allows us to 
simultaneously project the assets and liabilities of the 
scheme under a range of simulations to investigate 
possible outcomes for key variables and metrics. 
Modelling the scheme in this way allows us to 
understand not only central, expected outcomes but 
also the wider range of possible outcomes and 
uncertainties. It also demonstrates the importance of 
considering the assets and liabilities together to 
understand how particular risks and relationships might 
manifest in simultaneous movements on both sides of 
the balance sheet. 

7.64 The ALM exercise was undertaken to illustrate: 

• Uncertainty of future employer contributions and 
funding position 

• Impact of different surplus strategies 

7.65 The contribution and funding analyses in the ALM 
section are for illustrative purposes and are based on a 
set of assumptions and methodology set by GAD.  This 
type of analysis is particularly dependent on the 
assumptions and methodology adopted. Other models 
could produce different outcomes. 

7.66 The ALM models the whole scheme rather than 
individual funds. Whilst the positions of funds will vary, 

with differing contributions and funding levels, the risks 
considered in the ALM are expected to be relevant for 
individual funds. 

7.67 The methodology used for the ALM is set out in 
Appendix E. 

Uncertainty of future employer contributions and 
funding position 

7.68 Even though the overall scheme funding position has 
improved since 2019, with 61 funds in surplus on their 
local funding bases at March 2022, significant financial 
risks remain particularly over the longer term. 

7.69 Charts 7.2 and 7.3 illustrate the variability of total 
employer contributions (primary and secondary rates 
combined) and funding levels projected at future 
valuations from a large number of simulations of future 
asset returns and economic conditions. The projections 
assume that any funding deficits are paid off over a 20-
year period with no adjustment to contributions for any 
surplus. 

7.70 In both charts: 

• the thick black line represents the median 
simulation at each point in time (in other words, 
the scenario which falls exactly in the middle of 
the range of simulated values, with half of the 
simulations having higher outcomes than the 
median and half having lower) 

Page 51 of 56 

P
age 121



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
 

 
    

 

  
 
 

   
   

 

• 

   
 

   
  

  
  

   
    

   
  

 
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

each shade of purple represents the range of 
outcomes for a decile (10%) of scenarios, with the 
subsequent lighter shade representing the next 
decile - we have not shown the most extreme 
deciles (0-10% and 90-100%) 

• the limits of the shaded area illustrate the range of
outcomes whereby 80% of the simulations lie
within the shaded area and the most extreme 20%
are outside (with 10% of outcomes being above
the top of the shaded area, and 10% of outcomes
being below the bottom of the shaded area)

  

 

Chart 7.2 – Illustrations of the variability in total 
employer contributions relative to the median scenario 
(% of pay) 

15% 

e
 

a
ti
v

 
e

l
r

a
ri
o

 10% 

a
te

 
r 

s
c
e

n

5% 

io
n

 
e

 
b

u
t

e
ra

g 0% 

irt
a

v
o c
o

n
o

ta
l t

T

 

-5%

-10%

2025 2028 2031 

Year 

7.71 Chart 7.2 shows the uncertainty around future employer 
contributions. For example, Chart 7.2 shows that, 
relative to an expected (median) projected future 
employer contribution rate following the 2028 valuation, 
there is a 20% chance that the future employer 
contribution rate could be more than 5% of pay higher 
than this central expectation due to uncertainty in 
economic conditions. While the precise values shown in 
Chart 7.2 reflect the modelling assumptions used and a 
simplified approach to setting employer contribution 
rates, the feature being illustrated is the uncertainty in 
how future employer contribution rates might develop 
relative to current expectations. 

Page 52 of 56 

P
age 122



  
 

 
  

 

   

     
   

   
   

   
   

 
  
 

  

 

  
   

  
  

  
 

 

    
  

 
  

 
 
 

 
  

   

  
   

  
 

 
  

 

 

 
  

 
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

7.72 Chart 7.3 illustrates the modelled range of future funding 
levels under the same set of scenarios as in Chart 7.2. 
Chart 7.3 shows that, even with an assumed increase in 
aggregate funding level from around 106% at March 
2022 to 125% at March 2023, there remains a nearly 
one in ten chance of a funding deficit two years later at 
the March 2025 valuation. A material chance of 
valuation deficits remains in the longer-term despite the 
model assuming additional contributions are paid to 
meet deficits and any surplus is retained. 

Chart 7.3 –  Illustrations of funding level  

150% 

140% 

130% 

 120% 

110% 

100% 

90% 

e
l 

v
L

e
n

g
 

n
d
i

F
u

80% 
2022 2025 2028 2031 

Year 

7.73 Chart 7.3 also shows a high chance of very favourable 
outcomes. This reflects an expectation that, on average, 
future investment returns will exceed the prudent rates 
assumed in local funding bases; the modelling 
assumption that all surpluses are retained in the 

scheme; and a simplistic allowance for recent changes 
in economic conditions that might not be borne out in 
practice. 

7.74 The model has limitations with high funding level 
outcomes. Chart 7.3 is intended to illustrate the 
significant downside risk that remains despite a 
favourable central scenario, rather than to provide 
detailed forecasts of such a central scenario or potential 
favourable outcomes. In particular, it does not allow for 
any actions taken to utilise surplus at each valuation. 
For this reason, the chart is curtailed at a funding level 
of 150%. Nevertheless, the very wide range of possible 
future outcomes is clear from the chart. 

7.75 The output of the ALM should not be regarded as a 
prediction of future employer contribution rates or 
funding level but rather an illustration of the range of 
possible funding outcomes. Changes to employer 
contribution rates in the short term do not affect the long 
term cost of the scheme (which depends on the level of 
scheme benefits and scheme experience, including 
asset returns) but do affect the balance of costs 
between different generations of taxpayers. 

Impact of different surplus strategies 

7.76 The previous section in this Chapter outlined different 
approaches to surplus. We have considered the impacts 
on future employer contribution rates of two options 
adopted by funds, surplus buffers and stability 
mechanisms: 

Page 53 of 56 

P
age 123



  
 

 
  

 

   

    
 

  
 

   
  

 

  
   

  
 

  
 

 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

   
  

  
   

  
  
   

  

  
 

     

 
 

 
   

  
 

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

• “Surplus buffer” – For illustration, we have
assumed:

• Any valuation deficit is recovered over 20
years through additional contributions

• Any valuation surplus up to 20% of the liability
value (so where the funding level is between
100% and 120%) is retained in the scheme

• Any valuation surplus in excess of 20% of the
liability value (so a funding level above 120%)
is spread over 20 years through reduced
employer contributions

• “Stability mechanism” (or smoothing) – For
illustration, we have assumed the same approach
to setting contributions as the “Surplus buffer”
scenario, but employer contribution rate changes
are limited to 2% of pay each year (relative to the
previous year)

7.77 Some funding strategies set by LGPS funds seek to 
maintain stability of contributions at least for local 
authority employers. Stability assists year-to-year 
budgetary management and helps to avoid frequent 
upward and downward changes in employer 
contributions as a result of short-term volatility. 
However, it can be difficult to know whether recent 
experience at a valuation is a result of short-term 
volatility or the start of a long-term trend. Any delay in 
changes in employer contributions to reflect such 

experience could lead to more extreme funding levels in 
the medium-long term. 

7.78 While this discussion focuses on approaches to surplus, 
a stability mechanism also restricts contribution 
increases in response to a deficit which may delay a 
return to being fully funded. 

7.79 For illustration, the analysis in this part assumes a 
starting funding level of 100% at March 2023. 

7.80 Charts 7.4 and 7.5 illustrate the potential impacts of the 
two surplus scenarios on the changes in employer 
contribution rates at successive actuarial valuations. 
Each chart shows the distribution of increases (positive 
numbers) or decreases (negative numbers) in employer 
contribution rates at an actuarial valuation relative to the 
rates from the previous valuation. Chart 7.4 shows the 
“Surplus Buffer” scenario and Chart 7.5 shows the 
“Stability Mechanism” scenario. 

Page 54 of 56 

P
age 124



Chart 7.4  –  Illustrations of distribution of change in 
employer contributions (% of pay) between actuarial  
valuations for “Surplus Buffer” scenario  

100% 

 
 

80

io
n

 % 

t 60% 

ib
u

r 40% s
t

i
D 20% 

0% 

2028 2031 
Year 

Less than -6% -6% to -4% -4% to -2% -2% to 0% 

0% to 2% 2% to 4% 4% to 6% More than 6% 

Chart 7.5  –  Illustrations of distribution of change in 
employer contributions (% of pay) between actuarial  
valuations for “Stability Mechanism” scenario   

 

 

100% 

2028 2031 

80% 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
 

60% 

40% 

20% 

0% 

Year 

Less than -6% -6% to -4% -4% to -2% -2% to 0% 

0% to 2% 2% to 4% 4% to 6% More than 6% 

  
 

 
  

 

   

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

7.81  These charts reflect the underlying scenario,  with an  
increase in median funding level over time but 
significant volatility around  this median  position.  The  
modelling  adopted is a simplified approach to setting  
contribution rates,  as it  does not reflect all factors taken  
into account by funds in practice. In this case:  

•  The charts illustrate the impact of the stability  
mechanism limiting contribution rate changes. 
Chart 7.4  shows that,  without a stability 
mechanism, there is a  chance of relatively large  
contribution rate changes at valuations (for 
example,  a combined  chance of nearly 40% that 
contribution rates either increase or decrease  by 
more than  6% of pay at the 2028 valuation  relative  
to those  from the previous valuation). The stability 
mechanism illustrated in Chart 7.5  limits such  
contribution rate changes to  no  more than  6%  of 
pay (in either direction), equivalent to  2% a year 
over the 3 years  between valuations.  

•  In the  modelled scenario, the smallest contribution  
changes (increases or decreases of less than 2% 
of pay at a valuation) are more likely in the  
“Surplus Buffer” scenario in the 2028  and 2031  
valuations. This is due  to that scenario  adjusting  
more quickly to any change in economic 
conditions whereas the stability mechanism  
spreads changes over a longer period of time.  

7.82  As noted  above, the impacts of a stability mechanism  
depend  on whether recent experience  at a valuation is a  
result of short-term volatility or the start of a long-term  

Page 55 of 56 

P
age 125



  
 

 
  

 

   

  
  

  
  

  
 

 

 

    
    

 

 

  

  
  

 

   

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

    
 

   

 
  

 
   

 
 

  

Review of 2022 fund valuations (section 13) Local Government Pension Scheme 
Main report England and Wales 

trend, which can only be known over time. The central 
economic scenario adopted for these illustrations 
assumes the latter. However, if the expectation is that 
this is short-term volatility, we would expect the “stability 
mechanism” approach to maintain a more stable 
contribution rate between valuations when compared to 
the “surplus buffer”. 

Asset Liability Modelling Limitations 

7.83 None of the lines shown in the above charts represent a 
single simulated scenario – instead they are intended to 
represent the distribution of possible outcomes in the 
future and how the range of simulated scenarios 
changes over the projection period. 

7.84 The scenarios considered are only two illustrative 
surplus approaches. Funds may reasonably adopt other 
parameters and approaches. Further, for modelling 
purposes we have adopted a simplified approach to 
calculating funding levels and setting contribution rates 
which does not reflect all factors taken into account by 
funds in practice. 

7.85 The illustrations are based on one perspective of the 
future economic environment (using an economic 
scenario generator provided by Moody’s Analytics 
based on the March 2023 outlook) and scheme 
experience. Alternative assumptions and models are 
reasonable and would lead to different results. 

7.86 In particular, the projections reflect one view of the 
economic outlook at March 2023. This differs to the 

outlook three years ago, which explains in part why 
these illustrations are different from those shown in the 
2019 section 13 review report. 

7.87 Rather than placing too great a reliance on the precise 
values shown in this section, it is helpful to consider a 
range of measures of risk and the impacts of actions in 
response to future changes. For example, the solvency 
section illustrates a deterministic scenario, whereby 
there is an asset shock, with no immediate rebound, 
with the risk of higher employer contributions. The 
modelling in this section is not intended to illustrate 
likely future contribution rates since the modelling 
assumptions are too simplified for that purpose. Rather, 
the modelling is intended to illustrate the wide range of 
uncertainty in future outcomes and the importance of 
understanding this uncertainty. 

Page 56 of 56 

P
age 126



 

Local Government Pension 
Scheme England and Wales 
Review of LGPS fund valuations as at 31 
March 2022 under Section 13  

Appendices 

 

Fiona Dunsire FIA and Aidan Smith FIA 

14 August 2024 

 

 

 

Page 127



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

2 

Contents 

Appendix A: Compliance ........................................................................................ 3 

Appendix B: Consistency ....................................................................................... 9 

Appendix C: Solvency .......................................................................................... 24 

Appendix D: Long term cost efficiency ............................................................... 39 

Appendix E: ALM .................................................................................................. 52 

Appendix F: Data Provided .................................................................................. 55 

Appendix G: Assumptions ................................................................................... 60 

Appendix H: Section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 .................... 62 

Appendix I: Extracts from other relevant regulations ........................................ 63 

 

 

The Government Actuary’s Department is proud to be accredited under the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries’ Quality Assurance Scheme. Our website describes the standards we apply. 
 

Page 128

https://www.actuaries.org.uk/upholding-standards/quality-assurance-scheme-qas
https://www.gov.uk/gad/terms-of-reference


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

3 

Appendix A: Compliance 

A.1 In this appendix we set out the checks we conducted to determine whether the actuarial valuations 
of the 87 Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds have been completed in accordance 
with the scheme regulations.  

Statement of Compliance 

A.2 The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) selected one fund as a representative example from 
each of the firms of actuarial advisors. The following statements of compliance were contained 
within the chosen reports by each firm:   

Table A1: Statement of Compliance 

Fund Statement of compliance 

Powys County Council 
Pension Fund 
(Aon) 

This report was commissioned by and is produced solely for the use of the 
Administering Authority. It is produced in compliance with: Regulation 62 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

Buckinghamshire Pension 
Fund 
(Barnett Waddingham) 

The purpose of the valuation is to review the financial position of the Fund 
and to set appropriate contribution rates for each employer in the Fund for 
the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 as required under 
Regulation 62 of the Regulations. 

London Borough of 
Croydon Pension Fund 
(Hymans Robertson) 

We have been commissioned by Croydon Council (the Administering 
Authority) to carry out a valuation of the London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund (the Fund) as at 31 March 2022. This fulfils Regulation 62 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

Clwyd Pension Fund 
(Mercer) 

This report is addressed to the Administering Authority of the Clwyd 
Pension Fund (“the Administering Authority”) and is provided to meet the 
requirements of Regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 (as amended) (“the Regulations”). 

Compliance with valuation regulations 

Actuarial Valuation Reports Regulation 62 (1 - 2) 

A.3 Regulation 62 (1) requires the administering authority to obtain an actuarial valuation report on the 
assets and liabilities of each of its pension funds, including a rates and adjustments certificate, as at 
31st March 2016 and on 31st March in every subsequent valuation year (i.e. 31st March 2022). 
Regulation 62 (2) requires that the above documents be obtained by the first anniversary of the date 
at which the valuation is made, namely, 31 March 2023 in the case of the 2022 valuation.  

Page 129



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

4 

Publication 

A.4 Each chosen fund was published in accordance with the regulations. The following table sets out 
dates of publication of the actuarial report. 

Table A2: Publication date 

Fund Date of publication 

Powys County Council Pension Fund 
(Aon) 

30 March 2023 

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund 
(Barnett Waddingham) 

31 March 2023 

London Borough of Croydon Pension 
31 March 2023 

Clwyd Pension Fund 
30 March 2023 

Demographic Assumptions 

A.5 Regulation 62 (3) states that the actuarial valuation report must contain a statement of the 
demographic assumptions that have been used in making the valuation and must show how these 
assumptions reflect the experience that has occurred during the period since the last valuation. Each 
valuation report contains a section on demographic assumptions including all the assumptions that 
we would expect in an actuarial valuation report. 

(Mercer) 

(Hymans Robertson) 
Fund 

Page 130



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

5 

Table A3: Demographic Assumptions 

Demographic 

Powys County 
Council 

Pension Fund 
(Aon) 

Buckinghamshire 
Pension Fund 

(Barnett 
Waddingham) 

London 
Borough of 

Croydon 
Pension Fund 

(Hymans 
Robertson) 

Clwyd Pension 
Fund (Mercer) 

Pre-retirement mortality ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Post-retirement mortality ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Dependant mortality ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Ill health retirement ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Normal health retirements ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Withdrawals ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Promotional salary scale ✔ ✔ ✔ N/A 

Family details (partners 
and dependants) 

✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

50:50 option take-up ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Commutation ✔ ✔ ✔ ✔ 

Mercer did not make a separate promotional salary scale assumption and therefore effectively this was 
combined in their general pay increase assumption. 

Local Experience 

A.6 The regulation requires that the reports “must show how the assumptions relate to the events which 
have actually occurred in relation to members of the Scheme since the last valuation” in respect of 
the demographic assumptions.  For the four chosen funds: 

> All have shown differences between expectations and experience for the inter-valuation period

Additional information on demographic experience and assumption setting may be contained in 
supporting (non-public) reports/advice.  

Contribution Rates  

A.7 Regulation 62 sets out that employer contributions are separated into two components: 

> Primary rates which meet the cost of ongoing accrual for current active members; and

> Secondary rates, which are mainly established to meet deficit or eliminate surplus over a given
period (the deficit/surplus recovery period).

A.8 Regulation 62 (6) states that when setting the contribution rates the actuary must have regard to: 

> the existing and prospective liabilities arising from circumstances common to all those bodies

> the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate as possible

Page 131



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

6 

> the current version of the administering authority’s funding strategy mentioned in regulation 58
(funding strategy statements), and

> the requirement to secure the solvency of the pension fund and the long-term cost efficiency of
the Scheme, so far as relating to the pension fund.

A.9 Regulation 62 (4) states that the rates and adjustments certificate must specify both the primary rate 
of the employer’s contribution and the secondary rate of the employer’s contribution, for each year of 
the period of three years beginning with 1st April in the year following that in which the valuation 
date falls. 

A.10 Each valuation report must set out primary and secondary employer contribution rates.

Primary Rates 

A.11 Regulation 62 (5) defines the primary rate of an employer’s contribution as “the amount in respect of
the cost of future accruals which, in the actuary’s opinion, should be paid to a fund by all bodies 
whose employees contribute to it so as to secure its solvency”, and specifies that this must be 
expressed as a percentage of the pay of their employees who are active members. 

A.12 The following table shows the primary rate of employer contribution for the administering authorities’
whole fund: 

Table A4: Primary contribution rate 

Fund 
Primary 

contribution rate 
% of pay 

Powys County Council Pension 
Fund 
(Aon) 

21.4% 

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund 
(Barnett Waddingham) 

19.7% 

London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund 
(Hymans Robertson) 

20.4% 

Clwyd Pension Fund 
(Mercer) 

18.8% 

A.13 Each primary rate of employer contribution has been calculated to cover the cost of future benefits
accrued by their employees. Each valuation also provides a breakdown of the primary rate for each 
employer.

Page 132



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

7 

Secondary Rates 

A.14 Regulation 62 (7) states that the secondary contribution rate may be expressed as either a 
percentage or a monetary amount.  

A.15 Each valuation report provides a secondary rate for each employer (expressed as a cash amount 
and/or percentage of pay for each employer). The secondary rates of employer contributions for 
each valuation have been defined to be adjustments to the primary rate as required. In all cases, the 
secondary rates have been provided for the next three years for each employer. 

Table A5: Whole fund Secondary Contribution Rates 

Fund 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Powys County Council Pension 
Fund  
(Aon) 

£2,194,000 £1,919,000 £1,619,000 

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund  
(Barnett Waddingham) 

£8,870,000 £8,360,000 £7,920,000 

London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund  
(Hymans Robertson) 

£5,385,000 £5,526,000 £5,464,000 

Clwyd Pension Fund (Mercer) -£4,500,000 -£12,700,000 -£12,900,000 

 

Rates and Adjustments Certificate (Regulation 62 (8)) 

A.16 Regulation 62 (8) states that the rates and adjustments certificate must contain a statement of the 
assumptions on which the certificate is given as respects: 

(a) the number of members who will become entitled to payment of pensions under the provisions of 
the Scheme; and  

(b) the amount of the liabilities arising in respect of such members 

during the period covered by the certificate. 

A.17 In the following table we set out where the assumptions for each valuation can be found. 

  

Page 133



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

8 

Table A6: Location of assumptions 

Regulation 62 (9) 

A.18 Regulation 62 (9) states that the administering authority must provide the actuary preparing a
valuation or a rates and adjustments certificate with the consolidated revenue account of the fund 
and such other information as the actuary requests. 

A.19 For each of the four valuation reports examined we have seen evidence of having received relevant
data from the administering authority. 

Fund 
Statement in rates and 
adjustments certificate 

Location of assumptions in 
valuation report 

Powys County Council 
Pension Fund 
(Aon) 

✔ Further information - Assumptions 

Buckinghamshire Pension 
Fund 
(Barnett Waddingham) 

✔ Appendix 2 

London Borough of Croydon 
Pension Fund 
(Hymans Robertson) 

✔ Appendix 2 

Clwyd Pension Fund 
(Mercer) 

✔ Appendix A 

Page 134



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

9 

Appendix B: Consistency 

B.1 In this appendix we set out analysis we undertook in relation to whether the actuarial valuations were 
carried out in a way which is not inconsistent with other valuations completed under the scheme 
regulations. This appendix contains comments and a number of charts referring to the following 
aspects:  

> Key information

> Funding levels

> Discount rates

> Demographic assumptions

> Climate risk

Key Information 

B.2 All funds provided a standardised dashboard of results, which was originally recommended in the 
2016 section 13 review and subsequently refined following the 2019 review.  The agreed format of 
the dashboard for the 2022 valuations is as follows: 

Table B1: Dashboard 

Item requested Format 

Past service funding position – local funding basis 

Funding level (assets/liabilities) % 

Funding level (change since last valuation) % 

Asset value used at the valuation £m 

Value of liabilities (including McCloud liability) £m 

Surplus (deficit) £m 

Discount rate – past service % pa 

Discount rate – future service used for contribution rate setting % pa 

Assumed pension increases (CPI) % pa 

Method of derivation of discount rate, plus any changes since the previous 
valuation  

Freeform text 

Page 135



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

10 

Assumed life expectancies at age 65  

Life expectancy for current pensioners – men currently age 65  years 

Life expectancy for current pensioners – women currently age 65  years 

Life expectancy for future pensioners – men currently age 45  years 

Life expectancy for future pensioners – women currently age 45 years 

Past service funding position – SAB basis (for comparison purposes 
only)  

 

Market value of assets £m 

Value of liabilities £m 

Funding level on SAB basis (assets/liabilities) % 

Funding level on SAB basis (change since last valuation) % 

Contribution rates payable 
2022 

Valuation 
2019 

Valuation 

Primary contribution rate   % of pay % of pay 

Secondary contribution - 1st year of rates and adjustment certificate  £m £m 

Secondary contribution - 2nd year of rates and adjustment certificate £m £m 

Secondary contribution - 3rd year of rates and adjustment certificate £m £m 

Total expected contributions - 1st year of rates and adjustment certificate 
(£ figure based on assumed payroll) 

£m £m 

Total expected contributions – 2nd year of rates and adjustment certificate 
(£ figure based on assumed payroll) 

£m £m 

Total expected contributions – 3rd year of rates and adjustment certificate 
(£ figure based on assumed payroll) 

£m £m 

Assumed payroll - 1st year of rates and adjustment certificate £m £m 

Assumed payroll – 2nd year of rates and adjustment certificate £m £m 

Assumed payroll – 3rd year of rates and adjustment certificate £m £m 

3-year average total employer contribution rate % of pay % of pay 

Average employee contribution rate (% of pay) % of pay % of pay 

Employee contributions (£ figure based on assumed payroll of £m) £m pa £m pa 

  

Page 136



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

11 

Deficit recovery plan 
2022 

Valuation 
2019 

Valuation 

Latest deficit recovery period end date, where this methodology is used by 
the fund’s actuarial advisor  

Year Year 

Earliest surplus spreading period end date, where this methodology is 
used by the fund’s actuarial advisor 

Year Year 

The time horizon end date, where this methodology is used by the fund’s 
actuarial advisor 

Year Year 

The funding plan’s likelihood of success, where this methodology is used 
by the fund’s actuarial advisor 

% % 

Percentage of liabilities relating to employers with deficit recovery periods 
of longer than 20 years  

% % 

Additional information: 

Percentage of total liabilities that are in respect of Tier 3 employers % 

Included climate change analysis/comments in the 2022 valuation report Yes/No 

Value of McCloud liability in the 2022 valuation report (on local funding 
basis) 

£m 

B.3 All information was included for the sample fund reports we considered in more detail, as listed 
below: 

Powys County Council Pension Fund (Aon) 

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund (Barnett Waddingham) 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund (Hymans Robertson) 

Clwyd Pension Fund (Mercer) 

Funding Levels 

B.4 Chart B1 shows a plot of SAB funding level against the fund’s local basis funding level, with different 
firms of actuarial advisor plotted in different colours. If there was no difference in funding on the SAB 
standard basis and that on the local funding basis all funds would sit on the dotted line. If differences 
in bases were consistent across funds, all funds would sit along a different line. There is 
considerable variation, with most funds having a higher SAB funding level than that on the local 
basis (which means that the liability value is lower on the SAB standard basis than on the local 
funding basis), but to different extents (evidenced by variations in the distance from the dotted line). 
Some funds lie below the dotted line (i.e. the funding level on the SAB basis is less than on the local 
funding basis).  Note in this chart and throughout this chapter we have used shortened fund names 
in some charts for presentation ease. 

B.5 Chart B2 shows the same information in a different format by illustrating the difference between the 
SAB funding level and the local funding level for individual funds. There is a considerable range of 
differences both across the funds as a whole, the range is -4.5% to +35%, and between funds 
advised by the same advisors. 

Page 137



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

12 

B.6 The SAB standard basis is a helpful comparator but it is not useful for assessing liabilities for funding 
purposes. The standard nature of this basis assists in analysis of the difference in prudence adopted 
in the local funding bases; i.e. it is the relative differences that are of interest rather than the absolute 
difference. We do not suggest the SAB standard basis as an appropriate or target local funding 
basis. 

Chart B1: Standardising Local Valuation results 

Funding level on SAB/Local basis

180%

160%

140%

e
l

e
v

l
n
g
 

d
i

120%

u
n

f 
B

A
S

100%

80%

60%

60% 80% 100% 120% 140% 160% 180%

Local funding level

Aon

Barnett Waddingham

Hymans Robertson

Mercer

Page 138



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

13 

Chart B2: Difference Between Funding Level on SAB Standardised Basis and Funding Level on 
Local Basis 

Page 139



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

14 

Discount Rates 

B.7 Each firm of actuarial advisors applies a specific method for calculating discount rates as shown in 
the table below.  

Table B2: Discount Rate Methodology 

Fund Discount rate methodology 

Powys County Council Pension Fund (Aon) Stochastic modelling 

Buckinghamshire Pension Fund (Barnett 
Waddingham) 

Weighted average prudent estimated return on long 
term asset classes 

London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund 
(Hymans Robertson) 

Stochastic modelling 

Clwyd Pension Fund (Mercer) Stochastic modelling 

 

B.8 Some funds (advised by Mercer) used different discount rates to assess past service liabilities and 
future service contribution rates, we consider only the former here.  

B.9 The discount rates set by each fund are likely to be linked to the mix of assets held by the fund, and 
we would therefore expect to see differences in discount rate from fund to fund. These differences 
are clear in Chart B3 overleaf (all discount rates in this chart have been reduced by a constant risk 
free rate, however the relative differences remain). 

  

Page 140



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

15 

B.10 We assess implied asset outperformance as the discount rate less the risk-free rate, where the risk-
free rate is assumed to be the Bank of England UK nominal 20 year spot rate as at 31 March 2022 
(1.86%). 

Chart B3: Implied Asset Outperformance within Discount Rate 

*The implied asset outperformance for the Environment Agency closed fund is -0.1% (not shown in chart)

Page 141



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

16 

B.11 Assets can be considered in two broad categories, assets which are return seeking (for example equities) and those which are defensive (for
example UK government bonds). Chart B4 below orders funds by their proportion of return seeking assets in the bar chart (right hand axis) 
and shows the corresponding discount rate net of CPI inflation as a green line (left hand axis), split by actuarial firm. There is no clear 
correlation between the proportion of return seeking assets and the discount rate adopted, suggesting that other factors (such as risk 
appetite) influence discount rates.  

Chart B4: Link between the asset allocation of funds and the discount rate 

*The discount rate net of CPI for the Environment Agency closed fund is -1.4% (not shown in chart)

P
age 142



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

17 

Demographic assumptions 

B.12 Mortality assumptions determine how long members of a fund are expected to live and hence the
amount of pension benefits they will receive. The longer a member's life expectancy the more 
pension they will receive. Chart B5 shows the life expectancy for current pensioners, female and 
male, at age 65, and the life expectancy for future pensioners (active and deferred member currently 
aged 45) at age 65. The funds are ordered by increasing future life expectancy for females. We note 
these assumptions will be dependent on local variation. 

Chart B5: Life expectancy for pensioners and future pensioners at age 65 

The paler shade in the middle of the bar represents the life expectancy of current pensioners whilst the total 
bar including the darker shade represents the life expectancy of future pensioners.  

Page 143



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

18 

B.13 Chart B5 shows that overall members of funds advised by Barnett Waddingham are assumed to
have a lower life expectancy when compared to other advisors. For funds advised by Mercer, future 
pensioners generally have higher life expectancy than average, but this does not appear to be the 
case for current pensioners. There is more variation in the ranking of life expectancy for funds 

advised by Aon and Hymans Robertson. 

B.14 Commutation assumptions (the extent to which members on average exchange pension in favour of
a tax free cash benefit) are set as the percentage of the maximum commutable amount that a 
member can take on retirement. Chart B6 shows the assumed percentages for both pre 2008 and 
post 2008 pensions, which may be set separately. 

Chart B6: Commutation Assumptions for Pre and Post 2008 Pensions 

Page 144



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

19 

B.15 Other things being equal, it is more prudent to assume a lower rate of commutation, because the
cost of providing a pension benefit is higher than the commutation factor. Some cash lump sum was 
provided as of right in the LGPS prior to 2008 whereas for benefits accrued after that date, cash was 
available only by commutation of pension. 

B.16 Chart B6 shows that the funds advised by Barnett Waddingham assume that members commute
50% of the maximum allowable cash amount for both pre-2008 and post-2008 pension. Funds 
advised by Mercer assume that members take 43% of the maximum allowable cash amount for pre-
2008 pension and 75% of the maximum allowable cash amount for post-2008 pension. There is 
more variation in the commutation assumptions made by funds advised by Aon and Hymans 
Robertson.  

Page 145



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

20 

Climate risk 

B.17 Most funds completed climate risk analysis in accordance with an agreed broad principles document
agreed between MHCLG, fund actuaries and GAD, with the results of the analyses included in the 
2022 valuation reports.  The broad principles agreed for the 31 March 2022 valuations are shown in 
B.19.  Where the data has been provided, we have summarised the information provided on the
impact of two scenarios on funding positions at a single point in time, 31 March 2042. Results are
relative to the disclosed funding positions, the base case. The two scenarios are:

a. Paris aligned

b. High temperature scenario

B.18 Chart B7 shows the projected funding levels under each of these two scenarios at 31 March 2042
relative to the base case funding level, for Aon, Barnett Waddingham and Mercer funds who have 
disclosed a funding level for each scenario. Hymans Robertson funds disclosed a success 
probability and, as this is not directly comparable to funding level, we have shown this information 
separately in Chart B8.  Whilst we note Hymans Robertson have not given a funding level, the 
approach of considering the impact on success probability is consistent with their underlying 
valuation methodology. These charts are included for information only in order to illustrate the 
analyses set out in funds’ valuation reports. The values shown are at a single future point in time 
and looking at a different time could produce very different results. Further we acknowledge that this 
summary relates to two specific scenarios and therefore does not in any way represent the full range 
of possible future outcomes. A full comparison and understanding of these results must take into 
account differences in assumptions and methodology as well as the projected impacts. 

Chart B7: Ratio of funding level under climate change scenarios to base funding level, as at March 
2042 (for funds reporting projected funding level) 

Page 146



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

21 

Chart B8: Ratio of success probabilities under climate change scenarios to base scenario, as at 
March 2042 (for funds reporting success probabilities) 

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

105%

80% 85% 90% 95% 100% 105%

H
ig

h
 t

e
m

p
re

a
tu

re
 s

c
e
n
a
ri
o
/B

a
s
e
 s

c
e
n
a
ri
o

Paris scenario/Base scenario

Ratio of success probabilites

Hymans Robertson

Page 147



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

22 

B.19 The broad principles agreed for the 31 March 2022 valuation are shown below.  These principles
were agreed between the four actuarial firms, MHCLG and GAD. 

Page 148



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

23 
Page 149



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

24 

Appendix C: Solvency 

C.1 In this appendix we set out the analysis we undertook in relation to whether the rate of employer 
contributions to the LGPS pension fund is set at an appropriate level to ensure the solvency of the 
pension fund. This appendix contains a description of:  

> Solvency considerations

> Core Spending Power

> Mapping of solvency considerations to measures adopted

> Methodology used for solvency measures

> Table of outcomes for each fund

Potential for default 

C.2 In the context of the LGPS: 

> Our understanding based on confirmation from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) is that, in contrast to employers in the private sector, there is no
insolvency regime for local authorities

> Therefore, for the purposes of our analysis we assume that local authority sponsors cannot
default on their pension liabilities through failure

> Members’ benefits are therefore dependent on the assets of the scheme and future contributions
from employers including local authorities

Solvency considerations 

C.3 In assessing whether the conditions for solvency are met, we will have regard to: 

Risks already present:  

> funding level on the SAB standard basis

> whether or not the fund continues to be open to new members. If the fund is closed to new
members or is highly mature and without any guarantee in place, we will focus on the ability to
meet additional cash contributions.

> the ability of tax raising authorities to meet employer contributions

Emerging risks: 

> the risks posed by changes to the value of scheme assets (to the extent that these are not
matched by changes to the scheme liabilities)

> the proportion of scheme employers without tax raising powers or without statutory backing

C.4 We express the emerging risks in the context of Core Spending Power (for English local authorities, 
described below) or financing data (for Welsh local authorities). For funds which have no or limited 
Core Spending Power we have followed the same approach used in 2019 and previous reviews.  

Page 150



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

25 

Core Spending Power 

C.5 GAD’s stress tests are designed to test the ability of the underlying tax raising employers to meet a 
shock to the fund; one that results in a sustained reduction to the funding position, requiring remedial 
action from those employers in the form of long term additional contributions. 

C.6 The intention is to put this in the context of the financial resources available to those tax raising 
employers. In order to do that, MHCLG has pointed to an objective, well used and publicly available 
measure referred to as Core Spending Power. This applies for all local authorities across England 
and is published here.  

C.7 Core Spending Power has the following components: 

> Settlement Funding Assessment

> Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier

> Council Tax Requirement excluding parish precepts

> Improved Better Care Fund

> New Homes Bonus

> New Homes Bonus returned funding

> Rural Services Delivery Grant

> Transition Grant

> Adult Social Care Support Grant

> Winter Pressures Grant

> Social Care Support Grant

> Social Care Grant

> Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund

> Lower tier services grant

> 2022/23 Services Grant

C.8 GAD have referenced Core Spending Power for 2022-23 (to be consistent with the effective date of 
the data provided for section 13) as the measure of financial resource of the underlying (tax raising) 
employers, and amalgamated these up to the fund level, in order to compare like with like. After the 
date of the calculations, the Core Spending Power 2022-23 data was subsequently revised, however 
the results were not revised as this would not have materially changed the results of the solvency 
metrics. 

C.9 Core Spending Power is not a measure of total local authority income. It does not include 
commercial income, sales fees and charges, or ring-fenced grants (except improved Better Care 
Fund). Core Spending Power includes an assumed modelled amount of locally retained business 
rates and as such does not include growth (or falls) in actual retained business rates. In some 
authorities, non-uniformed police employees participate in the LGPS, but their funding comes from 
Home Office. On the basis that the majority of this applies to uniformed police officers, no 
adjustment is made for it. Similarly, DfE funding for academies is not included.  

Page 151

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/core-spending-power-final-local-government-finance-settlement-2022-to-2023


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

26 

C.10 Core Spending Power is publicly available and objective, therefore MHCLG have advised it is the
best such measure available currently. 

C.11 Core Spending Power does not apply to Welsh local authorities. For Welsh funds GAD have used
“financing of gross revenue expenditure” (“financing data”), which is broadly comparable with Core 
Spending Power, following discussions with Welsh Government in 2016. This applies for all local 
authorities in Wales and is published here. The 2022-23 “financing of gross revenue expenditure” 
data was also subsequently revised after these calculations were completed, however the results 
were not revised as this would not have materially changed the results of the solvency metrics. 

C.12 Financing data has the following components which GAD have included for the purpose of section
13 analysis: 

> Adjustments (including amending reports)

> Council tax reduction scheme (including RSG element)

> Discretionary non-domestic rate relief

> General government grants

> Share of re-distributed non-domestic rates

> Amount to be collected from council tax

C.13 Financing data also has the following components which we have not included for the purpose of
section 13 analysis: 

> Specific grants

> Appropriations from(+) / to(-) reserves  ie increasing reserves (+) / decreasing reserves (-)

C.14 Similarly to Core Spending Power, financing data excludes income from sales, fees, and charges
and we have excluded police funding from the analysis. 

Funds with no or low core spending 

C.15 There were four funds with no or low core spending:

> City of London Corporation Pension Fund

> Environmental Agency Active Fund

> Environmental Agency Closed Fund

> London Pension Fund Authority Pension Fund

C.16 For each of these funds, we have reverted to the methodology used in previous reviews for asset
shock and employer default, which expressed the resulting additional contributions to meet the 
emerging deficit as a percentage of pensionable pay. 

Mapping of solvency considerations 

C.17 The five solvency metrics adopted in the 2019 exercise have been retained for the 2022 exercise.
We developed and considered other measures but have excluded, for example the liability shock 
used previously as it did not add value under current circumstances beyond what was already 
measured under the asset shock. 

Page 152

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Financing/financingofgrossrevenueexpenditure-by-authority


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

27 

Table C1: 2022 solvency measures 

Consideration Measure Used 

Risks already present:  

The relative ability of the fund to meet its 
accrued liabilities 

The extent to which the fund continues to be 
open to new members. If a fund is closed to new 
members or is highly mature, we will focus on 
the ability to meet additional cash contributions 

The proportion of scheme employers without tax 
raising powers or without statutory backing 

SAB funding level: A fund’s funding level using the SAB 
standard basis, as set out in Appendix G 

Open fund: Whether the fund is open to new members 

Non-statutory members: The proportion of members 
within the fund who are/were employed by an employer 
without tax raising powers or statutory backing 

Emerging risks: 

The cost risks posed by changes to the value of 
scheme assets (to the extent that these are not 
matched by changes to the scheme liabilities) 

The impact that non-statutory employers 
defaulting on contributions would have on the 
income of sponsoring employers as a whole 

Asset shock: The change in average employer 
contribution rates expressed as a percentage of Core 
Spending Power (or financing data) after a 15% fall in 
value of return-seeking assets 

Employer default: The change in average employer 
contribution rates as a percentage of Core Spending 
Power (or financing data) if all employers without tax 
raising powers or statutory backing default on their 
existing deficits 

C.18 Emerging risk measures require assumptions. We used best estimate assumptions for this purpose,
details of which can be found in Appendix G. Details of the methods used to calculate scores under 
each measure and the criteria used to assign a colour code can be found in this Appendix. 

Solvency measures – methodology 

C.19 We detail the methodology behind the measures used to assess a fund’s solvency position. The
analysis is carried out a fund level, except where stated, but individual employers within any fund 
may be in a different position. Some of the measures listed below were calculated using a market 
consistent set of assumptions. For more information on this best estimate basis please see 
Appendix G. 

C.20 The 2016 section 13 exercise developed the approach of setting red, amber and green (‘RAG’) flags
for the solvency measure, where amber and red flags were raised when a fund breached thresholds 
set by GAD. For the 2019 and 2022 exercises, GAD has adopted the same RAG approach, however 
the flag allocations have been revised since 2016 taking into account the following: 

> The scheme funding position has improved significantly since 2016 when the metrics were
introduced;

> The size of funds has grown considerably since 2016 but the ability of tax backed employers to
increase contributions if required (as measured by core spending power and financing data) has
not kept pace. This could pose a risk to the LGPS, for example if there is a severe shock to
return seeking asset classes.

Page 153



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

28 

C.21 Following discussions with MHCLG, GAD agreed that it is not helpful to raise individual fund flags
which have been primarily driven by the relatively larger increase in the scale of liabilities relative to 
the possible contributions available, and introduced the “white” flag. The white flag is an advisory 
flag that highlights a general risk but does not require action in isolation.  

C.22 The chart below illustrates the steps taken by GAD in determining the flag colours for the metrics.

C.23 The text box below defines each flag colour.

C.24 GAD will assess the position again at the time of the 2025 section 13 report and will decide whether
to retain the white flag, return to the RAG approach or use other metrics/thresholds that are 
appropriate for the circumstances of the LGPS at that point in time. 

SAB funding level: A fund’s funding level using the SAB standard basis 

C.25 This measure highlights possible risks to a fund as a result of assets being significantly lower than
liabilities, where liabilities are those estimated on the SAB standard basis detailed in Appendix G. 

C.26 A fund in deficit will need to pay additional contributions in order to meet the liabilities that have
already been accrued. 

Qualitative analysis

Quantative analysis

Standard S13 metrics Initial analysis by GAD

Green

Green

Amber

Amber White

Red

Red

Key

 indicates a material issue that may result in the aims of section 13 not being 
met.  In such circumstances remedial action to ensure solvency may be considered. 

indicates a potential material issue that we would expect funds’ to be aware 
of.  In isolation this would not usually contribute to a recommendation for remedial 
action in order to ensure solvency.  

 is an advisory flag that highlights a general issue but one which does not require 
an action in isolation. It may have been an amber flag if we had broader concerns. 

indicates that there are no material issues that may contribute to a 
recommendation for remedial action in order to ensure solvency. 

RED

AMBER

WHITE 

GREEN

Page 154



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

29 

C.27 This measure assesses the relative funding levels of individual funds. All funds have been ordered 
by this measure (highest funding level first) and the five funds ranked 82 to 86 out of 86 (i.e. not 
including the Environment Agency Closed Fund) are assigned an initial amber code. All other funds 
are assigned a green colour code.  

C.28 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on 
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Open fund: Whether the fund is open to new members 

C.29 A scheme that is closed to new members will be closer to maturity than a scheme which is still open. 
This creates a possible risk to sponsoring employers as there is less scope to make regular 
contributions and receive investment returns on those contributions. Additionally, if problems do 
occur with the scheme funding level, the reduced time to maturity of the scheme means that 
additional contributions must be spread over a shorter timeframe and could be more volatile as a 
result. 

C.30 This measure is a ‘Yes’ when a fund is still open to new members and a ‘No’ otherwise. A ‘Yes’ 
results in a green colour code, while a ‘No’ results in a red colour code. As at 31 March 2022, the 
Environment Agency Closed Fund is the only closed fund.  However, given that this fund has a 
DEFRA guarantee we consider it appropriate to set the flag to green in this circumstance. 

Non-statutory members: The proportion of members within the fund who are employed by 
an employer without tax raising powers or statutory backing 

C.31 We have considered taxpayer-backed employers of stronger covenant value than other employers. 
It is important, in this context, that administering authorities and other employers understand the 
potential cost that may fall on taxpayers in the future if employers without statutory backing or tax 
raising powers are unable to meet their required contributions and those with such powers become 
responsible for the accrued costs.  

C.32 Data for this measure has been taken from the publicly available ‘Local government pension scheme 
funds local authority data: 2022 to 2023’ published by MHCLG here. The data contains the number 
of employees within each fund by employer group, where:  

> Group 1 refers to local authorities and connected bodies  

> Group 2 refers to centrally funded public sector bodies  

> Group 3 refers to other public sector bodies and  

> Group 4 refers to private sector, voluntary sector and other bodies  

C.33 For the purposes of this measure, and unless information has been provided to the contrary, it has 
been assumed that employers listed under groups 1 and 2 are those with tax raising powers or 
statutory backing and that employers listed under groups 3 and 4 are those without tax raising 
powers or statutory backing. 

C.34 The measure therefore gives the proportion of members within the fund that are/were employed by 
group 1 and 2 employers as a proportion of all members within the fund.  

C.35 Under this measure a fund has been allocated an amber colour code if its proportion of members 
who are employed by an employer without tax raising powers or statutory backing is between 25% 
and 50%, a red colour code would be allocated if the proportion is more than 50% and a green 
colour code is allocated in all other cases. It is not applicable to consider this metric in relation to the 
Environmental Agency funds. 

Page 155

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-government-pension-scheme


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

30 

C.36 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Asset shock: The change in average employer contribution rates expressed as a 
percentage of Core Spending Power or financing data after a 15% fall in value of return-
seeking assets  

C.37 This measure shows the effect on total employer contribution rates of a one-off decrease in the
value of a fund’s return seeking assets equal to 15% of the value of those assets expressed as a 
percentage of Core Spending Power or financing data. Defensive assets are assumed to be 
unaffected.  

C.38 For the purposes of this measure liabilities have been restated on the standardised best estimate
basis and deficit recovery periods have been standardised using a period of 20 years to ensure that 
results are comparable.  

C.39 For the scenario where a fund is in deficit on the standardised best estimate basis after the asset
shock (the funding level is less than 100% after the shock) and the relevant threshold has been 
breached (over 3%) as described below, then an initial amber flag is raised. However, where the 
fund is in surplus after the shock, the fund will not raise a flag even if it had breached the threshold 
but the risk remains that such an event could bring forward the need to increase contributions.  

C.40 Return-seeking asset classes are assumed to be:

> Equities (UK, Overseas and Unquoted or private equities)

> Property

> Infrastructure investments which are equity type

> “Multi asset” funds (examples include diversified growth funds, managed funds, balanced funds,
multi asset credit or absolute returns)

> “Other” return seeking investments

Defensive asset classes, which are less volatile but may still generate a return, are assumed to be: 

> Cash

> Bonds (Gilts, Corporate Bonds or index linked)

> “Other” defensive investments

C.41 We calculated the emerging deficit from the shock following a 15% fall in return seeking assets
which would be attributed to the employers covered by core spending or financing data (which we 
refer to as “% tax raising employers” below):  

New Deficit =  (Pre stress asset value –  post stress asset value) ×  % Tax raising employers 

We spread this over 20 years of annual payments and express as a percentage of Core Spending 
Power (or financing data for Welsh funds)  

New Deficit 

 ā20  ×  Core Spending Power

Where: 

Page 156



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

31 

> new deficit is calculated on the standardised best estimate basis as at 31 March 2022  

> ā20 is a continuous annuity over the 20-year deficit recovery period at the rate of interest equal to 
(1+i)

(1+e)
 – 1.  

> i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.  

> e is the general earnings inflation assumption on the standardised best estimate basis  

C.42 A fund is allocated an initial amber colour code if its result is above 3% and a green colour code 
otherwise.  

C.43 For those funds with no/low core spending the measure was expressed as a percentage of 
pensionable pay, with an amber flag raised if that was greater than 5% and is in deficit after the 
asset shock. Where such funds remain in surplus after the asset shock, we show a theoretical 
change in contributions. This is an illustration of sensitivity and there is no restriction on the 
theoretical contribution rate either pre or post asset shock. No results are available for the 
Environment Agency Closed Fund as there are no remaining active members within the fund with 
which to calculate a revised contribution rate.  

C.44 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis to 
consider whether it was felt that the risk identified was potentially material to the fund, and hence 
whether the initial amber flag should be maintained. 

Employer default: The change in average employer contribution rates as a percentage of 
payroll if all employers without tax raising powers or statutory backing default on their 
existing deficits  

C.45 LGPS regulations require employers to pay the contributions set in the valuation. MHCLG has 
confirmed that:  

> there is a guarantee of LGPS pension liabilities by a public body  

> that public body is incapable of becoming insolvent, and  

> the governing legislation is designed to ensure the solvency and long term economic efficiency 
of the Scheme.  

C.46 It is important, in this context, that administering authorities and other employers understand the 
potential cost that may fall on taxpayers in the future if employers without statutory backing or tax 
raising powers are unable to meet their required contributions and those with such powers become 
responsible for the accrued costs.  

C.47 A fund’s deficit will not change as a result of the default, but as the deficit is spread over a smaller 
number of employers, the contribution rate for each of the remaining employers will increase.  

C.48 For the purposes of this measure liabilities have been restated on the standardised best estimate 
basis and deficit recovery periods have been standardised using a period of 20 years to ensure that 
results are comparable.  

C.49 For funds in surplus under the standardised best estimate basis, the flag colour for a fund is green, 
as there would be no deficits attributed to non-taxed backed employers. The measure therefore 
solely considers those funds in deficit on the standardised best estimate basis. 

C.50 We calculated the amount of deficit attributed to tax raising authorities if other public sector bodies & 
private sector, voluntary sector and other bodies were to default:  

Page 157



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

32 

Share of Deficit =  Deficit ×  % non − tax raising employers 

C.51 We spread this over 20 years of annual payments and express as a percentage of Core Spending
Power for most funds (Welsh funds use financing data and funds with no/low Core Spending use 
pensionable pay, as set out in C.53 below). 

(Share of Deficit)

( ā20  ×  Core Spending Power)

Where: 

> Share of deficit is calculated on the standardised best estimate basis as at 31 March 2022

> ā20 is a continuous annuity over the 20 year deficit recovery period at the rate of interest equal to
(1+i)

(1+e)
– 1.

> i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.

> e is the general earnings inflation assumption on the standardised best estimate basis

C.52 A fund is allocated an initial amber colour code if its result is greater than 3% and a green colour
code otherwise. 

C.53 For those funds with no/low core spending the change of contribution rate was expressed as a
percentage of pensionable pay, with an amber flag raised if that was greater than 2% and is in deficit 
after the asset shock. It is not applicable to consider this metric in relation to the Environmental 
Agency funds. 

C.54 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on
whether initial flag colours should be revised. 

Page 158



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

33 

Solvency measures – by fund 

Table C2: Solvency measures by fund 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Avon Pension 
Fund 

Yes 107.5% 4.9% Deficit 1.9% Surplus N/A 

Bedfordshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 96.9% 6.8% Deficit 2.5% Deficit 0.1% 

Buckinghamshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 110.1% 3.9% Deficit 2.8% Surplus N/A 

Cambridgeshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 123.6% 7.2% Surplus 2.7% Surplus N/A 

Cardiff and Vale 
of Glamorgan 
Pension Fund 

Yes 108.8% 9.1% Deficit 1.6% Surplus N/A 

Cheshire Pension 
Fund 

Yes 135.7% 7.0% Surplus 2.8% Surplus N/A 

City and County 
of Swansea 
Pension Fund 

Yes 117.0% 3.4% Surplus 2.5% Surplus N/A 

City of 
Westminster 
Pension Fund 

Yes 127.3% 2.2% Surplus 3.5% Surplus N/A 

Clwyd Pension 
Fund 

Yes 116.5% 5.3% Surplus 2.0% Surplus N/A 

Cornwall Pension 
Fund 

Yes 100.7% 3.6% Deficit 2.2% Surplus N/A 

Cumbria Local 
Government 
Pension Scheme 

Yes 128.9% 6.4% Surplus 3.3% Surplus N/A 

Derbyshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 119.2% 5.5% Surplus 3.4% Surplus N/A 

Devon Pension 
Fund 

Yes 101.7% 4.7% Deficit 2.1% Surplus N/A 

Dorset County 
Pension Fund 

Yes 97.9% 3.9% Deficit 2.1% Deficit 0.0% 

Durham County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Yes 102.9% 4.2% Deficit 3.0% Surplus N/A 

Dyfed Pension 
Fund 

Yes 129.3% 3.6% Surplus 2.8% Surplus N/A 

East Riding 
Pension Fund 

Yes 126.2% 2.6% Surplus 4.1% Surplus N/A 

East Sussex 
Pension Fund 

Yes 129.4% 1.8% Surplus 3.0% Surplus N/A 

Page 159



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

34 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Essex Pension 
Fund 

Yes 132.9% 15.0% Surplus 2.9% Surplus N/A 

Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 121.4% 9.2% Surplus 2.5% Surplus N/A 

Greater Gwent 
(Torfaen) Pension 
Fund 

Yes 104.9% 7.9% Deficit 1.8% Surplus N/A 

Greater 
Manchester 
Pension Fund 

Yes 132.4% 22.4% Surplus 5.3% Surplus N/A 

Gwynedd 
Pension Fund 

Yes 136.2% 3.4% Surplus 3.2% Surplus N/A 

Hampshire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 118.2% 3.5% Surplus 3.3% Surplus N/A 

Hertfordshire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 126.3% 4.8% Surplus 2.7% Surplus N/A 

Isle of Wight 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Yes 123.5% 2.5% Surplus 2.6% Surplus N/A 

Islington Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 105.5% 5.8% Deficit 3.6% Surplus N/A 

Kent Pension 
Fund 

Yes 110.8% 8.1% Deficit 2.4% Surplus N/A 

Lancashire 
County Pension 
Fund 

Yes 132.0% 8.7% Surplus 3.1% Surplus N/A 

Leicestershire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 116.0% 1.3% Deficit 3.1% Surplus N/A 

Lincolnshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 118.2% 6.2% Surplus 2.2% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Barking and 
Dagenham 
Pension Fund 

Yes 112.1% 5.1% Deficit 3.0% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Barnet Pension 
Fund 

Yes 98.2% 35.5% Deficit 1.4% Deficit 0.1% 

London Borough 
of Bexley Pension 
Fund 

Yes 130.0% 5.2% Surplus 1.4% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Brent Pension 
Fund 

Yes 94.1% 17.9% Deficit 1.8% Deficit 0.2% 

Page 160



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

35 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

London Borough 
of Bromley 
Pension Fund 

Yes 149.6% 2.9% Surplus 1.4% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Camden 
Pension Fund 

Yes 119.1% 4.3% Surplus 4.0% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Croydon 
Pension Fund 

Yes 109.8% 4.5% Deficit 2.0% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Ealing Pension 
Fund 

Yes 108.4% 1.0% Deficit 1.9% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Enfield Pension 
Fund 

Yes 120.4% 1.7% Surplus 2.1% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Hackney 
Pension Fund 

Yes 113.6% 10.5% Deficit 3.0% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Hammersmith 
and Fulham 
Pension Fund 

Yes 110.6% 16.6% Deficit 2.9% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Haringey 
Pension Fund 

Yes 120.7% 2.6% Surplus 3.6% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Harrow 
Pension Fund 

Yes 102.1% 1.9% Deficit 2.0% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Havering 
Pension Fund 

Yes 98.1% 0.8% Deficit 2.0% Deficit 0.0% 

London Borough 
of Hillingdon 
Pension Fund 

Yes 97.6% 1.0% Deficit 2.3% Deficit 0.0% 

London Borough 
of Hounslow 
Pension Fund 

Yes 108.4% 12.6% Deficit 2.5% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Lambeth 
Pension Fund 

Yes 119.3% 0.3% Surplus 3.3% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Lewisham 
Pension Fund 

Yes 116.9% 3.8% Surplus 2.5% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Merton 
Pension Fund 

Yes 111.5% 3.3% Deficit 2.8% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Newham 
Pension Fund 

Yes 103.5% 22.9% Deficit 2.5% Surplus N/A 

Page 161



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

36 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

London Borough 
of Redbridge 
Pension Fund 

Yes 105.8% 1.6% Deficit 2.2% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Southwark 

Yes 126.2% 0.0% Surplus 3.6% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Tower Hamlets 
Pension Fund 

Yes 125.2% 5.8% Surplus 3.4% Surplus N/A 

London Borough 
of Waltham 
Forest Pension 
Fund 

Yes 84.7% 3.1% Deficit 1.7% Deficit 0.1% 

Merseyside 
Pension Fund 

Yes 120.3% 10.7% Surplus 3.7% Surplus N/A 

Norfolk Pension 
Fund 

Yes 115.9% 8.2% Surplus 2.7% Surplus N/A 

North Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 132.7% 5.0% Surplus 3.0% Surplus N/A 

Northamptonshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 120.9% 4.0% Surplus 2.3% Surplus N/A 

Nottinghamshire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 104.2% 5.7% Deficit 3.1% Surplus N/A 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 113.8% 5.1% Surplus 3.2% Surplus N/A 

Powys County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Yes 107.8% 6.3% Deficit 1.6% Surplus N/A 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County 
Borough Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 122.8% 5.8% Surplus 2.6% Surplus N/A 

Royal Borough of 
Greenwich 
Pension Fund 

Yes 104.4% 4.1% Deficit 2.5% Surplus N/A 

Royal Borough of 
Kensington and 
Chelsea Pension 
Fund 

Yes 164.4% 3.7% Surplus 4.4% Surplus N/A 

Royal Borough of 
Kingston-Upon-
Thames Pension 
Fund 

Yes 123.0% 7.7% Surplus 2.3% Surplus N/A 

Royal County of 
Berkshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 83.4% 6.6% Deficit 1.8% Deficit 0.2% 

Page 162



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

37 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Shropshire 
County Pension 
Fund 

Yes 106.8% 8.8% Deficit 2.8% Surplus N/A 

Somerset County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Yes 103.2% 8.3% Deficit 2.7% Surplus N/A 

South Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 125.3% 8.4% Surplus 3.9% Surplus N/A 

Staffordshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 127.9% 5.7% Surplus 3.4% Surplus N/A 

Suffolk Pension 
Fund 

Yes 130.7% 4.4% Surplus 2.1% Surplus N/A 

Surrey Pension 
Fund 

Yes 108.8% 4.3% Deficit 2.4% Surplus N/A 

Sutton Pension 
Fund 

Yes 109.2% 4.5% Deficit 1.9% Surplus N/A 

Teesside Pension 
Fund 

Yes 125.0% 4.4% Surplus 3.2% Surplus N/A 

Tyne and Wear 
Pension Fund 

Yes 125.9% 9.9% Surplus 3.7% Surplus N/A 

Wandsworth 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Yes 138.7% 5.0% Surplus 2.8% Surplus N/A 

Warwickshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 118.3% 7.3% Surplus 2.7% Surplus N/A 

West Midlands 
Pension Fund 

Yes 116.3% 8.9% Surplus 3.3% Surplus N/A 

West Sussex 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 159.1% 4.0% Surplus 2.9% Surplus N/A 

West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Yes 118.0% 19.8% Surplus 4.4% Surplus N/A 

Wiltshire Pension 
Fund 

Yes 115.3% 4.0% Surplus 2.4% Surplus N/A 

Worcestershire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Yes 112.8% 7.1% Deficit 2.8% Surplus N/A 

City of London 
Corporation 
Pension Fund* 

Yes 102.1% 10.5% Deficit 7.2% Surplus N/A 

London Pensions 
Fund Authority 
Pension Fund* 

Yes 123.1% 0.0% Surplus 10.2% Surplus N/A 

Environment 
Agency Active 
Fund* 

Yes 138.0% N/A Surplus 4.9% N/A N/A 

Page 163



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

38 

Pension fund 
Open 
fund 

SAB 
funding 

level 

Non-
Statutory 

employees 

Asset shock Employer default 

Deficit or 
surplus 

post 
shock 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Deficit or 
surplus 

Impact on 
core 

spending 

Environment 
Agency Closed 
Fund 

No 76.9% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 
 
Notes:  
1. Funding levels are on the 2022 SAB standard basis.  
2. For funds marked * the asset and employer default shocks are assessed as a percentage of pensionable 
pay (as we did in the previous exercises).

Page 164



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

39 

Appendix D: Long term cost efficiency 

D.1 We developed a series of relative and absolute considerations to help assess whether the 
contributions met the aims of section 13 under long term cost efficiency. This appendix contains a 
description of:  

> Mapping of long term cost efficiency considerations to measures adopted

> Methodology used for long term cost efficiency measures

> Table of outcomes for each fund

> Proposed future long term cost efficiency measures

Long term cost efficiency – considerations and methodology 

Table D1: Long term cost efficiency considerations and measures 

D.2 For the 2022 section 13 report, GAD has adopted the same measures as those in 2019.  As in 2019 
a qualitative step was introduced to consider whether it was felt that the risk identified was 
potentially material to the fund. 

Consideration Measure Used 

Relative considerations: 

The implied deficit recovery period Deficit Period: Implied deficit recovery period 
calculated on a standardised best estimate basis 

The investment return required to achieve full 
funding 

Required Return: The required investment return 
rates to achieve full funding in 20 years’ time on a 
standardised best estimate basis 

The pace at which the deficit is expected to be 
paid off 

Repayment Shortfall: The difference between: 
actual contributions in excess of GAD’s best 
estimate of future service cost and the annual 
deficit recovery contributions required as a 
percentage of payroll to pay off the deficit in 20 
years, where the deficit is calculated on a 
standardised best estimate basis  

Absolute Considerations: 

The extent to which the required investment 
return set out above is less than the estimated 
future return being targeted by a fund’s 
investment strategy 

Return Scope: The required investment return 
rates as calculated in required return, compared 
with the fund’s expected best estimate future 
returns assuming current asset mix maintained 

The extent to which any deficit recovery plan can 
be reconciled with, and can be demonstrated to 
be a continuation of, the previous deficit recovery 
plan, after allowing for actual fund experience 

Deficit Reconciliation: Confirmation that the 
deficit period can be demonstrated to be a 
continuation of the previous deficit recovery plan, 
after allowing for actual fund experience 

Page 165



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

40 

D.3 The analyses and calculations carried out under these long term cost efficiency measures are 
approximate. They rely on the accuracy of the data provided by the respective local firms of actuarial 
advisors.  

D.4 Although the calculations are approximate, we consider they are sufficient for the purposes of 
identifying which funds are a potential cause for concern. While the measures should not represent 
targets, these measures help us determine whether a more detailed review is required; for example, 
we would have greater concern where multiple measures triggered amber for a given fund.   

Long term cost efficiency measures – methodology 

D.5 We detail the methodology behind the measures used to assess a fund’s long term cost efficiency 
position below. The analysis is carried out a fund level, except where stated, but individual 
employers within any fund may be in a different position. Some of the measures listed below were 
calculated using a market consistent set of assumptions. For more information on this best estimate 
basis please see Appendix G. 

D.6 The 2016 section 13 exercise developed the approach of setting Red, Amber or Green (‘RAG’) flags 
for the long term cost efficiency measure, where amber and red flags were raised when a fund 
breached thresholds set by GAD. For the 2019 and 2022 exercises, GAD initially adopted the same 
RAG approach and thresholds, however the flag allocation has been revised to concentrate on funds 
which raised multiple flags. GAD also introduced a subsequent qualitative step, which utilised the 
graph showing relative funding level relative and contributions, which assisted GAD in determining 
whether to flag and/or engage with a fund. 

D.7 Following discussions with MHCLG, GAD agreed that it is not helpful to focus on all individual fund 
flags but rather to concentrate on funds with multiple flags or those highlighted from consideration of 
the graph of relative funding level and contributions. This resulted in the introduction of a “white” flag. 
The white flag is an advisory flag that highlights a general risk but does not require action in 
isolation.  

D.8 The chart below illustrates the steps taken by GAD in determining the flag colours for the metrics. 

Qualitative analysis

Quantitaive analysis

Standard S13 metrics Initial analysis by GAD

Green

Green

Amber

Amber White

Red

Red

Page 166



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

41 

D.9 The text box below defines each flag colour: 

D.10 GAD will assess the position again at the time of the 2025 section 13 report and will decide whether
to retain the white flag, return to the RAG approach or use other metrics/thresholds that are 
appropriate for the circumstances of the LGPS at that point in time. 

Deficit period: The implied deficit recovery period calculated on a standardised best 
estimate basis   

D.11 This is a market related metric and calculations are done on a standardised best estimate basis.

D.12 The implied deficit recovery period in years on the standardised best estimate basis was found by
solving the following equation for x: 

D.13 āx   =
Deficit on standardised BE basis

Annual deficit recovery payment on standardised BE basis

Where: 

> x is the implied deficit recovery period.

> ā𝒙 is a continuous annuity over x years at the rate of interest equal to 
(1+i)

(1+e)
– 1.

> i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.

> e is the general earnings inflation assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.

> The deficit on the standardised best estimate basis is as at 31 March 2022.

> The annual deficit recovery payment on the standardised best estimate basis is calculated as the
difference between the average employer contribution rate for the years 2023/24 to 2025/26,
allowing for both contributions paid as a percentage of salary and fixed monetary contributions
into the fund, where deficit contributions are fixed (i.e. the fixed monetary contributions, if any,
have been converted so that they are quoted as a percentage of salary roll), and the employer
standard contribution rate on the standardised best estimate basis for the years 2023/24 to
2025/26 (which is assumed to be equal to the future cost of accrual of that particular fund).

D.14 Funds that were in surplus or where the implied deficit recovery period was less than 10 years were
flagged as green. Those with recovery periods greater than or equal to 10 years were flagged as 

Key

 indicates a material issue that may result in the aims of section 13 not being 
met.  In such circumstances remedial action to ensure long term cost efficiency may be 
considered.  

indicates a potential material issue that we would expect funds’ to be aware 
of.  In isolation this would not usually contribute to a recommendation for remedial 
action in order to ensure long term cost efficiency.  

 is an advisory flag that highlights a general issue but one which does not require 
an action in isolation. It may have been an amber flag if we had broader concerns. 

indicates that there are no material issues that may contribute to a 
recommendation for remedial action in order to ensure long term cost efficiency. 

AMBER

WHITE 

WHITE 

GREEN

Page 167



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

42 

amber. If there were any funds that were paying contributions at a level that would result in an 
increase in deficit, they would have been flagged as red.  

D.15 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on 
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Required return: The required investment return rates to achieve full funding in 20 
years’ time on the standardised best estimate basis  

D.16 This is a market related metric and calculations are done on a standardised best estimate basis.  

D.17 The following assumptions were made for the purposes of this calculations:  

> Time 0 is 31 March 2022.  

> Time 20 is 31 March 2042.  

> A0 is the value of the fund’s assets at time 0 and was obtained from the data provided by the 
local firms of actuarial advisors.  

> A20 is the projected value of the fund’s assets at time 20 (using the equation below) 

> L0 is the value of the fund’s liabilities at time 0, on a standardised best estimate basis  

> L20 is the projected value of the fund’s liabilities at time 20 (using the equation below) 

> C0 is one year’s employer contributions paid from time 0  

> C0−20 is the total employer contributions payable over the period time 0 – 20, assumed to occur 
mid-way between time 0 and time 20 (i.e. at time 10) 

> B0 is the value of one year’s benefits paid (excluding transfers) from time 0 

> B0−20  is the total value of benefits payable (excluding transfers) over the period time 0 – 20, 
assumed to occur mid-way between time 0 and time 20 (i.e. at time 10).  

> SCR0 is the standard contribution rate payable from time 0 to time 1 on a standardised best 
estimate basis.  

> SCR0−20 is the standard contribution rate payable from time 0 – 20, assumed to occur mid-way 
between time 0 and time 20 (i.e. at time 10).  

> Sal0  is the salary roll at time 0 and was obtained from the data provided by the local firms of 
actuarial advisors.  

> i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.  

> e is the general earnings assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.  

> x is the required investment return that is to be calculated 

D.18 The membership profile is assumed to be constant.  

D.19 The assets and liabilities at time 20 were then equated and the resulting quadratic equation solved 
to find the required rate of investment return to achieve full funding, i.e.:  

𝐴20  – 𝐿20  = 0 

Page 168



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

43 

Where: 

> A20= [A0 × (1 + x)20] + [(C0−20– B0−20  ) × (1 + x)10]

> L20 = [L0 x (1 + i)20] + [(SCR0−20  – B0−20) × (1 + i)10]

> C0−20 = C0 × 20 × (1 + e)10

> B0−20 = B0 × 20 × (1 + e)10

> SCR0−20 = Sal0 × SCR0 × 20 × (1 + e)10

D.20 Where the required investment return was higher than the nominal discount rate on the standardised
best estimate basis (i.e. i where i = 4.80%) funds would be classified as amber, whereas funds were 
classified as green if the required return was less than 4.80%.  

D.21 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Repayment shortfall: The difference between the actual contribution rate net of 
GAD’s best estimate future service cost and the annual deficit recovery contributions 
(on a standardised best estimate basis and assuming deficit is paid off in 20 years), 
as a percentage of payroll 

D.22 This is a market related metric and calculations are done on a standardised best estimate basis.

D.23 For this calculation we determine the difference between:

> The employer contributions in excess of GAD’s best estimate future service cost, and

> The required annual deficit recovery contribution rate on a standardised best estimate basis to
pay off the deficit in 20 years’ time

D.24 The required annual deficit recovery contribution rate to be paid on a standardised best estimate
basis is equal to: 

 Deficit on standardised best estimate basis 

ā𝟐𝟎 ×  Salary Roll 

Where: 

> The deficit on the standardised best estimate basis is as at 31 March 2022.

> ā20 is a continuous annuity over the 20 year deficit recovery period at the rate of interest equal to
(1+i)

(1+e)
– 1.

> i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.

> e is the general earnings inflation assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.

> The salary roll is as at 31 March 2022 and has not been adjusted.

D.25 The difference in deficit recovery contribution rates is then defined as:

(Avg ER cont rate paid –  ER SCR on BE basis) −
Deficit on BE basis

ā20 x Salary Roll 

Page 169



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

44 

Where:  

> The average employer contribution rate is for the years 2023/24 – 2025/26, allowing for both 
contributions paid as a percentage of salary and fixed monetary contributions into the fund 
where deficit contributions are fixed (i.e. the fixed monetary contributions, if any, have been 
converted so that they are quoted as a percentage of salary roll).  

> The employer standard contribution rate on the standardised best estimate basis is for the years 
2023/24 – 2025/26. It is assumed that the standard contribution rate is equal to the future cost of 
accrual of that particular fund.  

D.26 The data required for each of the funds to carry out the above calculation was provided by their 
respective firms of actuarial advisors.  

D.27 Where appropriate, data has been restated on the standardised best estimate basis.  

D.28 Funds in surplus on GAD’s best estimate basis or where the difference in deficit recovery 
contribution rates is greater than 0% are flagged as green. Where the difference between 
contribution rates is between 0% and -3%, the funds would be flagged as amber and if the difference 
in deficit recovery contribution rates is less than -3%, then the fund would be flagged as red.  

D.29 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on 
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Return scope: The required investment return rates as calculated in required return, 
compared with the fund’s expected best estimate future returns assuming current 
asset mix maintained  

D.30 This is a market related metric and calculations are done on a standardised best estimate basis.  

D.31 The required investment return (x) calculated in the required return measure was compared against 
the best estimate investment return expected from the fund’s assets held on 31 March 2022.  

D.32 The asset data used in this calculation was provided by each fund’s respective firm of actuarial 
advisors.  

D.33 Funds where the best estimate future returns were higher than the required investment return by 
0.5% or more were flagged as green. Those funds where this difference was between 0% and 0.5% 
would be flagged as amber whilst those where the best estimate returns were lower than the 
required investment returns were flagged as red.  

D.34 As set out in the methodology section above, GAD undertook a subsequent qualitative analysis on 
whether initial amber flag colours should be revised to white. 

Deficit reconciliation: Confirmation that the deficit period can be demonstrated to be 
a continuation of the previous deficit recovery plan, after allowing for actual fund 
experience  

D.35 This measure is used to monitor the change in the deficit recovery end point set locally by the fund 
at each valuation and what the underlying reasons are for any adverse changes in this period.  

D.36 This measure considers the following:  

> Whether contributions have decreased since the previous valuations (reducing the burden on 
current tax payers)  

Page 170



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

45 

> Whether the deficit recovery end point has moved further into the future, compared with the
previous valuation (increasing the burden on future tax payers)

D.37 Funds where both of the above have occurred are initially flagged amber otherwise funds are
flagged green. A subsequent qualitative assessment considered whether the flag was affected by 
new deficit emerging over the inter-valuation period or by considered funding decisions at either the 
previous or current valuations. 

Long term cost efficiency measures – by fund 

Table D2: Long term cost efficiency measures by fund 

Pension fund 
Deficit 
period 
(rank) 

Required 
return/(rank) 

Repayment 
shortfall 

Return 
scope/(rank) 

Deficit 
recovery 

plan 

Avon Pension Fund Surplus 3.5% 56 Surplus 0.7% 81 Green 

Bedfordshire 
Pension Fund 

2 (81) 3.5% 57 8.3% 1.0% 75 Green 

Buckinghamshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.4% 50 Surplus 1.1% 69 Green 

Cambridgeshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.1% 38 Surplus 1.9% 24 Green 

Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.9% 76 Surplus 0.9% 77 Green 

Cheshire Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.4% 10 Surplus 1.6% 41 Green 

City and County of 
Swansea Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.3% 46 Surplus 1.9% 23 Green 

City of London 
Corporation Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 72 Surplus 1.5% 46 Green 

City of Westminster 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 29 Surplus 2.1% 20 Green 

Clwyd Pension Fund Surplus 3.7% 66 Surplus 1.3% 51 Green 

Cornwall Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.9% 77 Surplus 1.3% 58 Green 

Cumbria Local 
Government 
Pension Scheme 

Surplus 2.9% 25 Surplus 1.6% 38 Green 

Derbyshire Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.2% 43 Surplus 1.5% 47 Green 

Devon Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 73 Surplus 0.9% 78 Green 

Dorset County 
Pension Fund 

3 (82) 4.1% 83 5.1% 0.5% 86 Green 

Durham County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.0% 78 Surplus 0.8% 79 White 

Page 171



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

46 

Pension fund 
Deficit 
period 
(rank) 

Required 
return/(rank) 

Repayment 
shortfall 

Return 
scope/(rank) 

Deficit 
recovery 

plan 

Dyfed Pension Fund Surplus 3.1% 37 Surplus 1.9% 28 Green 

East Riding Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 31 Surplus 2.2% 18 Green 

East Sussex 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 22 Surplus 2.1% 19 Green 

Environment Agency 
Active Fund 

Surplus 2.6% 14 Surplus 1.3% 55 Green 

Essex Pension Fund Surplus 2.1% 5 Surplus 2.8% 5 Green 

Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.2% 8 Surplus 2.4% 14 Green 

Greater Gwent 
(Torfaen) Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.5% 55 Surplus 1.1% 68 Green 

Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.4% 12 Surplus 2.2% 17 Green 

Gwynedd Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.8% 23 Surplus 2.6% 8 Green 

Hampshire County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.4% 52 Surplus 1.3% 53 Green 

Hertfordshire County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.9% 24 Surplus 1.7% 35 Green 

Isle of Wight Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.6% 15 Surplus 1.9% 27 Green 

Islington Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 60 Surplus 1.5% 43 Green 

Kent Pension Fund Surplus 3.3% 45 Surplus 1.5% 48 Green 

Lancashire County 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 21 Surplus 1.8% 29 Green 

Leicestershire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.4% 11 Surplus 2.6% 7 Green 

Lincolnshire Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.3% 9 Surplus 2.5% 11 Green 

London Borough of 
Barking and 
Dagenham Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 63 Surplus 1.3% 52 Green 

London Borough of 
Barnet Pension 
Fund 

1 (79) 3.3% 44 9.9% 1.3% 57 Green 

London Borough of 
Bexley Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.6% 16 Surplus 1.5% 44 Green 

London Borough of 
Brent Pension Fund 

3 (84) 3.0% 32 12.2% 1.9% 25 White 

Page 172



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

47 

Pension fund 
Deficit 
period 
(rank) 

Required 
return/(rank) 

Repayment 
shortfall 

Return 
scope/(rank) 

Deficit 
recovery 

plan 

London Borough of 
Bromley Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 1.9% 3 Surplus 3.1% 1 Green 

London Borough of 
Camden Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.1% 6 Surplus 2.9% 3 Green 

London Borough of 
Croydon Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.5% 53 Surplus 1.7% 32 White 

London Borough of 
Ealing Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.4% 49 Surplus 1.2% 61 Green 

London Borough of 
Enfield Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.3% 47 Surplus 1.3% 56 Green 

London Borough of 
Hackney Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 20 Surplus 1.8% 30 Green 

London Borough of 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 59 Surplus 1.0% 74 Green 

London Borough of 
Haringey Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.1% 39 Surplus 1.7% 33 Green 

London Borough of 
Harrow Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.1% 84 Surplus 0.5% 85 Green 

London Borough of 
Havering Pension 
Fund 

2 (80) 3.7% 65 6.9% 1.1% 66 Green 

London Borough of 
Hillingdon Pension 
Fund 

3 (83) 4.0% 80 5.3% 0.6% 83 Green 

London Borough of 
Hounslow Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.7% 67 Surplus 1.1% 72 Green 

London Borough of 
Lambeth Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 19 Surplus 2.5% 12 Green 

London Borough of 
Lewisham Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.4% 51 Surplus 1.2% 65 Green 

London Borough of 
Merton Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.0% 81 Surplus 0.9% 76 Green 

London Borough of 
Newham Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.0% 79 Surplus 0.6% 82 Green 

London Borough of 
Redbridge Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.3% 86 Surplus 0.6% 84 Amber 

Page 173



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

48 

Pension fund 
Deficit 
period 
(rank) 

Required 
return/(rank) 

Repayment 
shortfall 

Return 
scope/(rank) 

Deficit 
recovery 

plan 

London Borough of 
Southwark 

Surplus 2.5% 13 Surplus 2.3% 15 Green 

London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.0% 4 Surplus 3.1% 2 Green 

London Borough of 
Waltham Forest 
Pension Fund 

10 (85) 3.8% 71 5.7% 1.1% 70 Green 

London Pensions 
Fund Authority 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.1% 35 Surplus 2.2% 16 Green 

Merseyside Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.7% 64 Surplus 1.0% 73 Green 

Norfolk Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.9% 26 Surplus 1.9% 22 Green 

North Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 28 Surplus 1.3% 54 Green 

Northamptonshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 30 Surplus 2.0% 21 Green 

Nottinghamshire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 69 Surplus 1.1% 71 Green 

Oxfordshire County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 62 Surplus 1.3% 60 Green 

Powys County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.5% 54 Surplus 1.2% 63 Green 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.2% 41 Surplus 1.4% 50 Green 

Royal Borough of 
Greenwich Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 4.1% 82 Surplus 0.8% 80 Green 

Royal Borough of 
Kensington and 
Chelsea Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 17 Surplus 2.5% 13 Green 

Royal Borough of 
Kingston-Upon-
Thames Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.1% 36 Surplus 1.6% 40 Green 

Royal County of 
Berkshire Pension 
Fund 

12 (86) 4.2% 85 3.3% 1.2% 64 Green 

Shropshire County 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 75 Surplus 1.3% 59 Green 

Somerset County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 61 Surplus 2.6% 10 Green 

Page 174



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

49 

Pension fund 
Deficit 
period 
(rank) 

Required 
return/(rank) 

Repayment 
shortfall 

Return 
scope/(rank) 

Deficit 
recovery 

plan 

South Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.1% 40 Surplus 1.7% 37 Green 

Staffordshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 1.9% 2 Surplus 2.9% 4 Green 

Suffolk Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 2.7% 18 Surplus 1.7% 36 Green 

Surrey Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.7% 68 Surplus 1.1% 67 Green 

Sutton Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.3% 48 Surplus 1.5% 42 Green 

Teesside Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 70 Surplus 1.4% 49 Green 

Tyne and Wear 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.2% 42 Surplus 1.5% 45 Green 

Wandsworth Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.1% 7 Surplus 2.7% 6 Green 

Warwickshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 33 Surplus 1.8% 31 Green 

West Midlands 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 2.9% 27 Surplus 1.9% 26 Green 

West Sussex County 
Council Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 1.8% 1 Surplus 2.6% 9 Green 

West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.8% 74 Surplus 1.2% 62 Green 

Wiltshire Pension 
Fund 

Surplus 3.0% 34 Surplus 1.6% 39 Green 

Worcestershire 
County Council 
Pension Fund 

Surplus 3.6% 58 Surplus 1.7% 34 Green 

Environment Agency 
Closed Fund 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Long term cost efficiency measures – proposed future metrics 

D.38 GAD propose introducing two new metrics to consider if funds are:

a. Utilising surpluses too quickly

b. Retaining “large” surpluses

Surplus retention: contributions from funds in surplus could lead to too great a 
funding risk in the future (not utilising surpluses too quickly) 

D.39 The fund would need to pay sufficient contributions after allowing for future costs of accrual, such
that either: 

Avg ER cont rate paid − ER SCR on GAD′s best estimate basis > 0 

Page 175



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

50 

Or where 

Avg ER cont rate paid − ER SCR on GAD′s best estimate basis < 0 

The implied surplus sharing period on GAD’s best estimate basis was found by solving the following 
equation for x: 

āx   =
Surplus on GAD′s best estimate basis

Annual deduction to GAD′s best estimate ER SCR
 

Where:  

• x is the implied surplus sharing period.  

• ā𝒙 is a continuous annuity over x years at the rate of interest equal to 
(1+i)

(1+e)
 – 1.  

• i is the nominal discount rate assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.  

• e is the general earnings inflation assumption on the standardised best estimate basis.  

• The surplus on the standardised best estimate basis is as at 31 March 2022  

• The average employer contribution rate is for the years 2023/24 – 2025/26, allowing for both 
contributions paid as a percentage of salary and fixed monetary contributions into the fund 
where deficit contributions are fixed (that is, the fixed monetary contributions, if any, have 
been converted so that they are quoted as a percentage of salary roll). 

• The employer standard contribution rate on the best estimate basis is for the 2023/24 – 
2025/26. It is assumed that the standard contribution rate is equal to the future cost of 
accrual of that fund. 

D.40 Funds flag green where:  

> the difference in contribution is greater than zero; or  

> the difference in contributions is less than zero and the implied surplus sharing is greater than 10 
years.  

Otherwise, the funds are flagged amber. 

Surplus retention: proposed approach to consider if funds are retaining too much 
surplus 

D.41 GAD will adopt a three-step approach: 

1. Identify the highest funded funds, considering both the local bases and on a standard basis 

2. Identify those funds which are relatively well funded, on the local and standard basis, and are 
also paying relatively high contributions 

3. For those funds identified in steps one to two, we would undertake qualitative analysis, for 
example considering how contribution rates have evolved since the previous valuation and 
any stated rationale behind the approach adopted. 

D.42 Steps one to three aim to identify funds which are exceptionally well funded, or those which are 
relatively well funded and paying relatively high contributions. We propose considering results on 
two bases, initially using the SAB funding level to provide a consistent basis. However as this is not 
a funding basis we will also consider the position on the local funding basis. The funds identified in 

Page 176



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

51 

steps one to three will not raise an immediate flag as we also wish to consider any other relevant 
circumstances and the decision-making process. 

D.43 We would then engage with any funds identified from this process to discuss any concerns before 
deciding which funds to flag. 

 

Page 177



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

52 

Appendix E: ALM  

Why perform an Asset Liability Modelling (ALM) exercise?  

E.1 An ALM exercise allows us to simultaneously project the assets and liabilities of the scheme under a 
range of simulations (known as stochastic economic scenarios), to investigate possible outcomes for 
key variables and metrics. Modelling the scheme in this way allows us to understand not only 
central, expected outcomes but also the wider range of possible outcomes and associated 
probabilities.  

E.2 A common use of ALM studies is to help pension scheme managers and sponsors determine 
investment, contribution and funding policy by illustrating the impact of changing policy on key 
variables, such as the funding level (i.e. ratio of assets to liabilities) of the scheme under a range of 
scenarios.  

E.3 For this piece of work, we modelled the whole LGPS Scheme rather than individual funds and our 
focus was on variation in the employer contribution rates and funding level over time. We also 
analysed the impact of two potential surplus strategies (“surplus buffer” and “stability mechanism”), 
as a broad measure of long term cost efficiency. We are primarily interested in the extent to which 
contribution rates can vary from current levels as well as the projection of funding levels. 
Consequently, we have assumed that the current investment policy remains in place and is constant 
over the projection period. 

E.4 Stochastic modelling techniques allow us to simulate a large number of economic scenarios – with 
different outturns and paths of key parameters and variables. The simulations are calibrated to 
reflect views on expected returns and relative behaviours between key variables, but importantly 
include an element of randomness in order to capture volatility observed in financial markets. By 
running the scenario generator many times, the spread of different possible outcomes can be 
illustrated, and the probability of certain outcomes can be estimated. 

E.5 As with all models, the outcomes are a function of the assumptions adopted, and the outcomes are 
not intended to be predictors of the future but are illustrations of the range of possible outcomes. It is 
highly unlikely that the assumptions made will be borne out in practice and adjustments might be 
made to manage any pressures that arise. Actual future experience could be more extreme than any 
of the outcomes shown. 

E.6 Our study models changes in economic outcomes only – we have not looked at any other possible 
changes such as demographic changes, including mortality, nor management changes such as 
changes to the investment approach or the impacts of climate change.  

Methodology  

E.7 Our model projects the entire Scheme and assumes that the asset strategy and demographic future 
valuation assumptions are an average of those used for the individual funds as at 31 March 2022. In 
practice, schemes are likely to have specific asset strategies and valuation assumptions, for 
example the discount rate will have regard to the expected return for each fund. 

E.8 Projected contribution rates are determined based on the liability and asset values at each future 
triennial valuation and these are assumed to remain consistent for the following three years. 

E.9 To project the development of the scheme we must make assumptions about the following:  

> Expected new entrants into the scheme 

Page 178



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

53 

> The way in which liabilities will evolve – for example, the rate at which current active liabilities
“migrate” to being non-active (i.e. deferred/pensioner liabilities) over time or the extent to which
liabilities are increased by CPI inflation and wage inflation at each point in time

> The way in which liabilities are assessed, and

> The way in which contributions are determined – both in respect of ongoing accrual and in
respect of any surplus or deficit that arises.

E.10 Any change to manage up or down employer contribution rates in the short term do not alter the long
term cost of the scheme (which depends on the level of scheme benefits and scheme experience, 
including asset returns) and more generally might have some other less desirable outcomes, for 
example: 

> increasing the length of recovery periods transfers costs onto future generations

> choosing a more return seeking investment strategy would be expected to increase volatility and
risk

> maintaining stable contributions when in surplus may result in a greater burden falling on current
tax payers

Assumptions 

E.11 An ALM produces a broader amount of information than a traditional deterministic actuarial
valuation. Consequently, we need to make more assumptions to simplify the calculations involved in 
the projections and make it practical to analyse all the key outcomes we are interested in.  

E.12 The box below provides details on the key assumptions made in respect of the ALM.

Key assumptions made in the ALM 

For the purpose of assessing liabilities and determining contribution rates, assumptions are needed 
to carry out an actuarial valuation at each future point in time. In our modelling we have assumed 
that: 

> The discount rate is set based on a constant margin above the expected yiel d on
government bonds (gilts).

> The length of the recovery period is reset at each valuation, with deficit being  spread
over a time horizon of 20 years (based on typical historical recovery periods in the 
scheme).

> New entrants assumption – the scheme’s active membership is assumed to remai n
stable over time

> The Scheme investment strategy is assumed to remain stable i.e. we assume the assets 
are rebalanced each year to the same allocation as that in the 2022 valuation.

> Demographic experience is as assumed in the underlying GAD LGPS 2022 valuation

E.13 To project the development of the scheme we must make assumptions about the key economic
variables and financial assumptions for example price inflation, salary growth and returns on assets 
held. These are determined from the economic scenario generator (ESG).  

Page 179



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

54 

E.14 The ESG was provided by Moody’s, with a calibration date of 31 March 2023, and reflected the 
market expectations at that time. The ESG is calibrated to conditions at that moment in time and 
Moody’s expectations for the future and specifies how key economic variables may vary 
(stochastically, according to probability distributions) in future. Moody’s ESG calibration is only one 
view of possible future experience. Different assumptions would lead to different results. 

E.15 GAD made the following adjustments:

> As the calibration was as at 31 March 2023 and the individual fund valuations were as at 31
March 2022, asset returns for the 2022/23 scheme year were introduced to allow for the known
financial outcomes and ensuring that the asset value as at 31 March 2023 is consistent with
publicly available SF3 data

> CPI simulations are derived based on projected RPI simulations less a margin. The margin, set
at 1.15% at 31 March 2023, is based on GAD’s house view for the current difference between 
RPI and CPI and is expected to reduce to 0.1% at 2030, to reflect the RPI reforms which are
expected to be implemented in 2030.

E.16 The annualised mean return over the projection period is 6.7%. The expected return in the ALM is in
line with GAD’s expectation based on the economic environment as at 31 March 2023. 

E.17 Chart E.1 shows the distribution of the annualised portfolio returns over the twenty-year period and
compares the projection to that of the 2016 and 2019 ALM exercises. The distributions of the returns 
show: 

> Current expectations are better than those at the previous exercises, which is expected due to
the change in the economic outlook since the previous valuations.

> Volatility in projected returns, even when annualised over a 20 year period. The chart illustrates
that whilst annualised returns are mainly clustered between 0% and 14%, with the mean just
below 7%, significant risks of low returns over the 20-year period remain but so does the upside
potential.

Chart E1: Distribution of annualised nominal investment returns 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

-6% -4% -2% 0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

%
 o

f 
s
c
e

n
a

ri
o

s

Return (%pa)

2016 2019 2022

Page 180



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

55 

Appendix F: Data Provided 

F.1 At the request of MHCLG, GAD collected data from each fund’s 2022 valuation via the fund 
actuaries. These actuarial funding valuations were conducted by four firms of actuarial advisors:  

> Aon  

> Barnett Waddingham  

> Hymans Robertson  

> Mercer  

F.2 Data was received from the relevant firm of actuarial advisors for all 87 pension funds and included 
additional information provided to the fund actuaries by administrators in respect of their fund’s 
employers.    

F.3 Limited checks, consisting of spot checks to make sure that data entries appear sensible, have been 
performed by GAD and the data received appears to be of sufficient quality for the purpose of 
analysing the 2022 valuation results. These checks do not represent a full, independent audit of the 
data supplied. The analysis contained in this report relies on the general completeness and 
accuracy of the information supplied by the administering authority or their firms of actuarial 
advisors.  

F.4 In addition, data has been collated from the ‘Local government pension scheme funds local authority 

data’, which is published annually by MHCLG at Local government pension scheme funds for 
England and Wales: 2022 to 2023 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). This published data may be 
referred to elsewhere as SF3 statistics.  

F.5 Unless otherwise stated the data detailed above has been used to inform the analysis contained in 
the LGPS England and Wales section 13 2022 Report.  

F.6 The information provided to GAD is, in many instances, more detailed than that provided in the 
actuarial valuation reports.  

Page 181

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-pension-scheme-funds-for-england-and-wales-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-government-pension-scheme-funds-for-england-and-wales-2022-to-2023


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

56 

Data specification  

1) Membership Data  
Data split by gender 

a) Active Members 

Number of Members 

Unweighted average age (to 2dp) 

Total rate of annual actual pensionable pay at 31 
March 2022 and 31 March 2019 (2014 pay definition) 

b) Deferred Member 

Number of members 

Unweighted average age (to 2dp) 

Total annual preserved pension revalued to 31 March 
2022 for both 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019.  
 
Note this should exclude undecided members.  

c) Pensioners (former members) 

Number of Members 

Unweighted average age (to 2dp) 

Total annual pensions in payment at 31 March 2022 
and 31 March 2019 

d) Pensioners (dependants including partners       
    and children) 

Number of Members 

Average age (weighted as appropriate) 

Total annual pensions in payment at 31 March 2022 
and 31 March 2019 

 

2) Financial Assumptions 

 

Assumptions used to value the liabilities of the most secure employers (e.g. local authorities) 

a) Specify what proportion of the liabilities is calculated using the assumptions below 
  

b) Provide assumptions used for past service  
    liabilities, these have been given for both as at  
    31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019. 

Nominal discount rate (pre & post retirement 
separately if applicable) 

RPI inflation 

CPI inflation rate 

Earnings inflation 

c) Provide assumptions used for future  
    contributions, these have been given for both as  
    at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019. 

Nominal discount rate (pre & post retirement 
separately if applicable) 

RPI inflation 

CPI inflation rate 

Earnings inflation 

d) Short term assumptions used in the valuation (if  
     applicable) 

CPI 

Salary Increases 

Discount Rate 

e) Maximum deficit recovery period 

f)  Minimum surplus spreading period 

g) Likelihood of success of valuation funding plan on the previous valuation time horizon (where a fund is  
    in deficit at the valuation date) 

 

 

Page 182



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

57 

 

3) Demographic Assumptions  
Rates to be provided at sample ages split by gender  
Each could be split further in Group 1, Group 2, Group 3, Group 4, and Group 5  

a) Assumed life expectancy for 
members retiring in 
normal health 

Pensioner members aged 65 (for members retiring on normal 
health) (to 2dp) (with mortality improvements)  

Pensioner members aged 65 (for members retiring on normal 
health) (to 2dp) (without mortality improvements)  

Active / deferred members at age 65 if they are currently aged 45 
(to 2dp) (with mortality improvements)  

Active / deferred members at age 65 if they are currently aged 45 
(to 2dp) (without mortality improvements) 

b) Commutation 

Pre 2008 pension Commutation Assumptions (as % of maximum 
lump sum allowed under HMRC rules).   

Post 2008 pension Commutation Assumptions (as % of maximum 
lump sum allowed under HMRC rules). 

4) ASSETS 
 

 
These are split to provide information for 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019 

a) Market value of assets     

b) Value of assets used in the valuation   

c) Do you use a smoothed asset value in the valuation? If yes please attach an explanation 
  
  

d) Were there any “asset transfer” arrangements, as classified in the 2019 S13 report (page 59) for local  
    authorities? If so please include 

e) Actual Asset Distribution split 
into the following: 

Proportion of assets held in 
Bonds 

Proportion of bonds which are fixed 
interest government bonds 

  Proportion of bonds which are fixed 
interest non-government bonds 
(investment grade) 

  Proportion of bonds which are fixed 
interest non-government bonds (high 
yield) 

  Proportion of bonds which are 
inflation linked bonds 

Proportion of assets held in 
Equities 

Proportion of equities which are UK 
equities 

  Proportion of equities which are 
overseas equities 

  Proportion of equities which are 
unquoted or private equities 

Proportion of assets held in Property 

Proportion of assets held in Deferred or immediate fully insured 
annuities 

Proportion of assets held in Hedge funds 

Proportion of assets held in Cash and net current assets 

Proportion of assets held in ABC arrangements 

Proportion of assets held in Infrastructure – debt type 

Page 183



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

58 

Proportion of assets held in Infrastructure* – equity type 

Proportion of assets held in Multi asset funds (examples include 
diversified growth funds, managed funds, balanced funds, multi 
asset credit or absolute returns) 

Proportion of assets held in “Other” investments – defensive 

Proportion of assets held in “Other” investments – return seeking 

f) Weighted best estimate return     

g) Strategic asset distribution (if    
    significantly different to actual 
asset  
    distribution) 

Proportion of assets held in: 

Bonds   

Equities   

Property   

Infrastructure   

Cash and current assets   

Other investments – defensive 

Other investments – return seeking 

h) Weighted best estimate return (strategic asset distribution)    

 

5) LIABILITIES AND FUTURE CONTRIBUTION RATE  

These are split to provide information for 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019 

i) Local Assumptions 

a) Past service liability – split between Actives, Deferred,  
    Pensioners and Total 

b) Funding level 

c) Surplus / deficit 

d) Assumed member contribution yield 

e) Total employer contributions paid in respect of  
     2022/23 

f) Other notable events that have occurred in respect of  
    2022/23 

g) Other notable Post valuation events that have been  
    considered as part of the 2022 valuation (including  
    asset transfer or large contributions not covered  
    in 4d) 

ii) SAB Standardised Basis 

a) Past service liability – split between Actives, Deferred,  
    Pensioners and Total 

b) Funding level 

c) Surplus / deficit 

d) SAB future service costs (excluding expenses) % 

 

6) EMERGING ISSUES AND ACADEMIES 
 

a) Is there a comment in your report that climate change is implicitly included in the funding basis 

b) Is climate change acknowledged in your FSS 

c) The next section is split for 4 distinct climate  
    scenarios, Base case, Paris scenario, High  
    temperature scenario, Alternative scenario (if  
    applicable) 

Funding level at 31 March 2042 

Success percentage at 31 March 2042 

Nominal discount rate, pre and post retirement 

RPI inflation 

Page 184



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

59 

CPI inflation rate 

Earnings inflation 

Change in assumptions volatility 

d) General allowances made for COVID-19 in 2022 valuation.  

 

7) Post 2014 scheme 

a) Assumption for members in 50/50 scheme (if a proportion of members include details in 7b below) 

b) Proportion of members assumed to be in 50/50 scheme 

 

8) Documentation required 

Valuation Report @ 31 March 2022 

Relevant related reports 

Compliance Extract 

Statement of Investment Strategy 

Funding Strategy Statement 

Other 

 

ALTERNATIVE FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

Specify where a significant proportion of employer liabilities have been valued using alternative 
assumptions – provided as above in section (2) above. 

 

Page 185



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

60 

Appendix G: Assumptions  

G.1 Each piece of analysis contained in the main report is based on one of three sets of assumptions:  

> The local fund assumptions, as used in the fund’s 2022 actuarial valuation 

> The SAB standardised set of assumptions, or SAB standard basis: this is used as a comparator 
between funds but is not market related 

> A best estimate set of assumptions: this is a standardised market consistent basis which is used 
to assess potential impacts to solvency and long term cost efficiency. 

G.2 Details of local fund assumptions can be found in each fund’s actuarial valuation report as at 31 
March 2022. Details of the SAB standard basis and the standardised best estimate basis can be 
found in the table below. 

Table G1: SAB standard basis and best estimate basis 

Assumption SAB standard basis Best Estimate basis 

Methodology 
Projected Unit Methodology with 1 

year control period 
Projected Unit Methodology with 1 

year control period 

Rate of pension increases 2% per annum 2.4% per annum 

Public sector earnings 
growth 

3.5% per annum 3.9% per annum 

Discount rate 4.45% per annum 4.8% per annum 

Changes to State Pension 
Age (SPA) 

As legislated As legislated 

Pensioner Baseline 
mortality 

Set locally based on Fund 
experience 

Set locally based on Fund 
experience 

Mortality improvements 

Core CMI_2021 (no allowance for 
2020 and 2021 mortality data) with 

long term reduction in mortality 
rates of 1.5% per annum 

Improvements in line with those 
underlying the ONS 2020-based 

principal population projections for 
the UK 

Age retirement 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 

Ill health retirement rates 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 

Withdrawal rates 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 

Death before retirement 
rates 

Set locally based on Fund 
experience 

Set locally based on Fund 
experience 

Promotional salary scales None As set out in GAD’s 2020 valuation 

Commutation 
SAB future service cost 

assumption of 65% of the 
maximum allowable amount 

As set out in GAD’s 2020 valuation 

Page 186



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

61 

Assumption SAB standard basis Best Estimate basis 

Family statistics 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 
Set locally based on Fund 

experience 

G.3 The financial assumptions for the best estimate basis are based on GAD’s neutral assumptions for 
long term inflation measures and asset returns, and the split of LGPS assets held, as at 31 March 
2022. These neutral assumptions are not deliberately optimistic nor pessimistic and do not 
incorporate adjustments to reflect any desired outcome. We believe there is around a 50% chance 
of outcomes being better and a 50% chance of outcomes being worse than these assumptions 
imply, based on market conditions as at 31 March 2022.  

G.4 Future asset returns are uncertain and there is a wide range of reasonable views on what future 
asset returns will be and therefore the best estimate discount rate should be. We have presented 
GAD’s neutral view above, but there are other reasonable best estimate bases which may give 
materially different results. 

Page 187



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

62 

Appendix H: Section 13 of the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 

13 Employer contributions in funded schemes  

(1) This section applies in relation to a scheme under section 1 which is a defined benefits scheme with a 
pension fund.  

(2) Scheme regulations must provide for the rate of employer contributions to be set at an appropriate level 
to ensure 

(a) the solvency of the pension fund, and  

(b) the long term cost efficiency of the scheme, so far as relating to the pension fund.  

(3) For that purpose, scheme regulations must require actuarial valuations of the pension fund.  

(4) Where an actuarial valuation under subsection (3) has taken place, a person appointed by the 
responsible authority is to report on whether the following aims are achieved 

(a) the valuation is in accordance with the scheme regulations  

(b) the valuation has been carried out in a way which is not inconsistent with other valuations under 
subsection (3)  

(c) the rate of employer contributions is set as specified in subsection (2).  

(5) A report under subsection (4) must be published and a copy must be sent to the scheme manager and 
(if different) the responsible authority. 

(6) If a report under subsection (4) states that, in the view of the person making the report, any of the aims 
in that subsection has not been achieved  

(a) the report may recommend remedial steps  

(b) the scheme manager must  

i. take such remedial steps as the scheme manager considers appropriate, and  

ii. publish details of those steps and the reasons for taking them  

(c) the responsible authority may 

i. require the scheme manager to report on progress in taking remedial steps  

ii. direct the scheme manager to take such remedial steps as the responsible authority 
considers appropriate.  

(7) The person appointed under subsection (4) must, in the view of the responsible authority, be 
appropriately qualified. 

The section of the legislation can be viewed on legislation.gov.uk, Public Service Pensions Act 2013  

Page 188

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/section/13#:~:text=13%20Employer%20contributions%20in%20funded%20schemes%20%281%29%20This,%28a%29%20the%20solvency%20of%20the%20pension%20fund%2C%20and


Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

63 

Appendix I: Extracts from other 
relevant regulations 

Regulations 58 and 62 of ‘The Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013’  

Funding strategy statement (Regulation 58) 

(1) An administering authority must, after consultation with such persons as it considers appropriate, 
prepare, maintain and publish a written statement setting out its funding strategy.  

(2) The statement must be published no later than 31st March 2015.  

(3) The authority must keep the statement under review and, after consultation with such persons as it 
considers appropriate, make such revisions as are appropriate following a material change in its policy 
set out in the statement, and if revisions are made, publish the statement as revised.  

(4) In preparing, maintaining and reviewing the statement, the administering authority must have regard to 

(a) the guidance set out in the document published in October 2012 by CIPFA, the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and called “Preparing and Maintaining a Funding 
Strategy Statement in the Local Government Pension Scheme 2012” and  

(b) the current version of the investment strategy under regulation 7 (investment strategy statement) 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016.    

Actuarial valuations of pension funds (Regulation 62) 

(1) An administering authority must obtain 

(a) an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of each of its pension funds as at 31st March 
2016 and on 31st March in every third year afterwards  

(b) a report by an actuary in respect of the valuation, and  

(c) a rates and adjustments certificate prepared by an actuary.  

(2) Each of those documents must be obtained before the first anniversary of the date (“the valuation date”) 
as at which the valuation is made or such later date as the Secretary of State may agree.  

(3) A report under paragraph (1)(b) must contain a statement of the demographic assumptions used in 
making the valuation and the statement must show how the assumptions relate to the events which 
have actually occurred in relation to members of the Scheme since the last valuation.  

(4) A rates and adjustments certificate is a certificate specifying 

(a) the primary rate of the employer’s contribution and  

(b) the secondary rate of the employer’s contribution, 

Page 189



Appendices to the 2022 section 13 review 

64 

for each year of the period of three years beginning with 1st April in the year following that in which the 
valuation date falls.  

(5) The primary rate of an employer’s contribution is the amount in respect of the cost of future accruals 
which, in the actuary’s opinion, should be paid to a fund by all bodies whose employees contribute to it 
so as to secure its solvency, expressed as a percentage of the pay of their employees who are active 
members. 

(6) The actuary must have regard to- 

(a) the existing and prospective liabilities arising from circumstances common to all those bodies  

(b) the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate as possible  

(c) the current version of the administering authority’s funding strategy mentioned in regulation 58 
(funding strategy statements) and  

(d) the requirement to secure the solvency of the pension fund and the long term cost efficiency of 
the Scheme, so far as relating to the pension fund.  

(7) The secondary rate of an employer’s contributions is any percentage or amount by which, in the 
actuary’s opinion, contributions at the primary rate should, in the case of a Scheme employer, be 
increased or reduced by reason of any circumstances peculiar to that employer.  

(8) A rates and adjustments certificate must contain a statement of the assumptions on which the certificate 
is given as respects 

(a) the number of members who will become entitled to payment of pensions under the provisions of 
the Scheme and  

(b) the amount of the liabilities arising in respect of such members 

during the period covered by the certificate.  

(9) The administering authority must provide the actuary preparing a valuation or a rates and adjustments 
certificate with the consolidated revenue account of the fund and such other information as the actuary 
requests. 

Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



 

The Society of London Treasurers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To whom it may concern, 

I am writing on behalf of the Society of London Treasurers (SLT) in response to the letter 
dated 15th May 2024 from the then Minister for Local Government, Simon Hoare, on the 
topic of efficiencies in the management of Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds. 

As the group representing Section 151 officers across London, with a keen interest in 
protecting the strength and sustainability of the LGPS in London, we are pleased to report 
on our ongoing self-improvement efforts, highlight several key issues critical to the 
continued strength of the LGPS, and outline our critical concerns on more radical 
harmonization efforts like pension merging.  

Consolidation ambitions should be tempered with an understanding of the significant 
operational risks involved, particularly for scheme members and employers. We welcome 
open discussions on the benefits of scale while maintaining local accountability in scheme 
management. The starting point is one of significant variation in the relative strength of 
funds and then the potential costs associated with any merging of those funds. Ultimately, 
the local fiduciary responsibility to members of pension schemes must be paramount. 
Excessive pension consolidation that does not fully take these responsibilities into account 
could increase the longer-term risk to the sustainability of the LGPS system, threatening 
local control and reducing diversification. 

With this in mind, next year marks the 10-year anniversary of the London Collective 
Investment Vehicle (LCIV). To date, the LCIV has: 

 achieved over £70 million of savings within the London pension system 

 over 60% of clients' funds pooled (including passive arrangements) 

 worked closely with member funds to create and provide a more diversified suite of 
investment opportunities than other Pools. 

Through the LCIV, London continues to make significant progress realising the substantial 
benefits of pooled assets (see appendix). The LCIV has proven to be an effective pooling 
mechanism, enabling funds to benefit from economies of scale, reduced fees and improved 
access to investment opportunities. However, local authorities have been clear that, given 
the complexities involved, the 31 March 2025 deadline was not a realistic target for pooling 
liquid assets and it is therefore not surprising that just under one half of boroughs aim to 
have achieved this milestone by that date, whereas 31 March 2026 would provide a more 
realistic and pragmatic target. 

Page 193



The recent regulatory permissions obtained by the LCIV provide substantial opportunities to 
further reduce waste and duplication by expanding services for reporting and investment 
strategy development. The LCIV’s strong governance model allows for the streamlining of 
operations and enhance overall efficiency while maintaining crucial local control. The LCIV 
has established a modern governance structure that supports timely decisions and robust 
oversight. This includes experienced board members, ongoing training and regular 
performance audits. A member of SLT (i.e. a s151 officer) is also appointed to the LCIV Board 
as an observer, providing further oversight. 

Pension administration is another area of growth where London can build on the work of 
the LCIV and other existing joint delivery models like the Tri-Borough Treasury and Pensions 
Team, Wandsworth-led Pensions Admin Shared Service and other models. Roughly half of 
London boroughs are already utilising one of these models, with the remaining half 
providing their own in house administration solutions - in an increasingly specialised 
environment, succession planning and resilience are key risks. By enhancing collaboration 
and harmonisation across boroughs, improvement to the services offered to pension 
members can be made. Joint delivery models enable standardisation of processes, share 
best practices and leverage technology to provide more efficient and higher quality service. 
This approach ensures that we not only meet the current demands but also adapt to future 
challenges effectively. The answer here is not necessarily a move to a single function, but 
instead may be a small number of arrangements, which, as highlighted above, many 
boroughs are already part of. This allows freedom of competition amongst providers (and 
subsequently benchmarking and Value for Money for funds), rather than a monopolistic 
solution. 

SLT is committed to optimising asset pooling, maintaining robust governance and exploring 
efficiency opportunities while carefully managing risks. We look forward to engaging with 
the new government to improve the management, governance and administration of the 
LGPS for all stakeholders. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



Appendix – London LGPS - Progress on Asset Pooling 

Source: London CIV – as of March 31st, 2024 

  

 

 

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the: 
 

 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Pensions Administration Report – June 2024 

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report provides Committee members with information on the administration and 
performance of the Scheme for the quarter to June 2024. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the contents of this report; 
2. Note the employer admissions in the pipeline;  
3. Note the late despatch of Annual Benefit Statements due to a technical 

hitch; and 
4. Note the progress and ongoing effort to improve the quality of the 

pensions data. 
 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The Committee receives this report on a quarterly basis in the discharge of 

its duty. 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 There are no alternative options to this report. 

 
 3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 

 
ADMINISTRATION UPDATE 

 
3.1 The administration of the Scheme is carried out in-house by the pensions team. 

It involves maintenance of accurate Scheme records to enable Scheme 
benefits to be calculated correctly, effective processing of members joining and 

Page 197

Agenda Item 5.4



leaving the Scheme, and employer-related issues including new employer 
admissions and cessations. The table below shows the Scheme membership 
at 30 June 2024. 
 
Table 1A: Analysis of Membership at 30 June 2024 

 
Membership 

 

 
Active 

 
Deferred 

 
Undecided 

 
Pensioner 

 
Frozen 

LGPS 7,778 8,456 270 7,415 2,495 

% of Membership 29.45 32.01 1.02 28.07 9.45 

Change from last 
quarter 

90 -2 63 196 13 

 
 
Table 1B: Change in Membership – Quarter to 30 June 2024 

 
Membership 

 
30 Jun 2024 

 
31 Mar 2024 

 
Change 

(%) 

Active 7,778 7,688 1.2 

Deferred 8,456 8,458 0.0 

Undecided 270 207 30.4 

Pensioner (incl. spouse & 
dependant members) 

7,415 7,219 2.7 

Frozen 2,495 2,482 0.5 

Total 26,414 26,054 1.4 

 
 

 
3.2 The table below shows the tasks completed and outstanding during the quarter 

to 30 June 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table1C: Analysis of Case types – Quarter to 30 June 2024 
 

Page 198



 
 
3.3 The above table excludes tasks received via the pension team inbox and 

telephone queries. Currently, most queries are actioned immediately without 
logging them to avoid further delay to existing backlog. However, some queries 
such as refunds, opt outs, death notifications, leavers and retirement quotes 
are logged as tasks and allocated to members of the pensions team to action. 

 
 Annual Benefit Statements 2024 
 
3.4 Annual Benefit Statements were issued a couple of days after the 31 August 

deadline due to technical issues with the ABS template for active members that 
took Heywoods longer than anticipated to rectify. A total of 15,105 statements 
were issued including 6,997 active, 8,026 Deferred (UK) and 82 Deferred 
(Overseas).   

 
 Workflows 
 
3.5 During the quarter to 30 June 2024, a total of 2390 workflows were produced. 
 
3.6 The table below shows the performance relative to the CIPFA benchmark. 

Some tasks such as transfers in, transfers out, processing of deaths and 
retirements are contingent upon initial responses from third parties, other 
pension funds, lawyers or scheme members. 

 
Table 3A: Performance against CIPFA suggested timelines (April – June 2024)
   

Page 199



      April May June 

Retirements Altair Workflow 
Target 
Days 

% Within 
Target 

% Within 
Target 

% Within 
Target 

Voluntary AHEARLYA 15 50 50 62.5 

Redundancy AHREDUNA 15 100 85.71 66.67 

Medical AHIHRETA 15 100 100 0 

Late AHLATERA 15 80 75 33.33 

Flexible AHFLEXRA 15 66.67 - 100 
Deferred into 
Payment AHDBPAYA 15 50 52.17 44.44 

          

Transfers         
Transfer In - 
Quotes AHTVIQ 10 14.29 44.44 36.36 
Transfer Out - 
Quotes AHTVOQ 10 57.14 50 20 
Transfer In - 
Actual IFAIN03 & TVIN03 0       
Transfer Out - 
Actual IFAOUT02 & TVOUT02 0       

          

Refunds         
Refund 
Calculations AHRFNDF 10 52 81.25 91.67 
Refund 
Payments AHRFNDA 10 44.44 57.14 66.67 

          

Estimates         

Voluntary 
AHBENEST & 
AHEARLYQ 15 80.77 53.57 66.67 

Redundancy AHREDUNQ 15 96.43 95.83 0 

Medical AHIHRETQ 15 100 100 0 

Late AHLATERQ 15 0 66.67 50 

Flexible AHFLEXRQ 15 - 100 75 
Deferred into 
Payment AHDBPAYQ 15 68.75 76.19 66.67 

          

Deferred           
Deferred 
Calculations AHDEFLV 30 55.56 88 82.14 

          

Opt Out         

Opt Out OPTOPRT2 2 26.67 59.26 57.14 

          

New Starters         

New Starters AHNEWST 40 98.77 100 100 

          

Nominations         

Page 200



Nomination 
Changes AHNOMIN 10 71.43 53.33 63.64 

          

Address         
Address 
Changes AHADDRES 15 80 76 82.76 

          

Bank Account         
Bank Accoun 
Change BANKCHGE 0 40 50 66.67 

          
General 
Enquiry         
General 
Enquiry AHMEMBER 10 77.37 76.51 58.87 

          

Deaths         
Death Cases - 
General AHDEATH 15 98.44 89.29 69.57 

          

       
            

 
 
 EMPLOYER UPDATE 
 
3.8 The table below shows the employers with active members in the Scheme on 

30 June 2024. 
 

Administering Authority Scheduled Bodies 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets Attwood Academy (Ian Mikardo 
School) 

 Boleyn Mult-Academy Trust 

Admitted Bodies Bishop Challoner 

Age UK East London Canary Wharf College 

Atlantic Cleaning Services  

Compass Contract Services Limited Cyril Jackson Academy 

East End Homes  

Juniper Cleaning St Saviours Letta Trust (Stebon and Bygrove 
Schools) 

Mediquip London Enterprise Academy 

Olive Dining Mulberry Academy 

 Paradigm Trust (Culloden, Old Ford 
and Solebay Primary Schools) 

 Sir William Burrough 

Purgo Supplies Services Ltd St. Pauls Way Community School 

Tower Hamlets Community Housing 
Limited 

Wapping High School 

Page 201



Vibrance (formerly Redbridge 
Community Housing Limited) 

Stepney Green (Mulberry Trust) 

Wettons Cleaning Limited Taylor Shaw (Stepney Green) 

Nourish Catering Phoenix Trust (Open Scheme) 

Ridgecrest Phoenix Trust – Closed Scheme 

East London Arts & Music Canon Barnett Academy 

Swan Housing Association  

 
 Data Quality 
 
3.9 During the quarter officers developed plans to improve the quality of pensions 

data. Ahead of procuring specialist support, the Pensions team: 

 amended most of the dependant’s records (Status 6) which were showing 
the short-term pension being paid on the pensions administration system, 
Altair. This has now been amended to the long-term pension, to ensure that 
this matches Resourcelink, the payroll system. 

 produced reports to establish the difference between the two systems – 
Altair and Resourcelink. 

 worked on some of the GMP cases, ahead of procuring a pensions data 
specialist. 

 checked all new pensioners annual figures on Altair and Resource link to 
ensure that the annual values match. Slight differences between the two 
systems were due to rounding on the different systems. 

 checked all existing records for consistency before and after all calculations. 

 ensured that the pensions increase was checked on Altair to ascertain that 
the different components are correct. 

 investigated the none GMP cases and then recalculated the straightforward 
cases. 

 Encouraged scheme members to register for member self-service (MSS), 
to enable them to check their records. 

 worked with Zellis (provider of the Resource link system) to produce a new 
iConnect report. Zellis are improving the information provided by the 
employer, which in turn improves iConnect. 

 compared the Bacs report to iConnect, routinely, to ensure that the amounts 
are correct, and the two systems matched. All cases are checked on both 
systems, the monthly payroll is checked, and a member of the treasury team 
also checks the payroll independently. 

 
 

Employer Insourcing 
 
3.10 There were no employer insourcing during the period. 
 
 Employer Admissions 
 
3.11 Employer admissions in the pipeline include Caterlink and Atlas FM Payroll Ltd. 
 
 Employer Cessations 
 

Page 202



3.12 There were no employer cessations during the quarter.  
 
 SCHEME and LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
 
           McCloud legislative Update 
 
3.13 The process of data collection from employers is ongoing and templates were 

issued to employers. About 30% of employers have provided data.  Additional 
resources will be required for the McCloud exercise. 

 
 Member Self Service (MSS) Roll Out 
 
3.14 The role out of Member Self Service (MSS) continues. Take-up is low. Officers 

will be visiting school over the next few months to register LGPS members. 
 
 OUTSTANDING WORK 
 
3.14 In total there are currently 297 cases classified as ‘Undecided Leavers’ i.e. 

members that have left employment or opted out of the pension scheme and 
have yet to be processed as refunds, deferred beneficiaries, pensioners of 
transfers out. 

 
3.15 Possible incoming transfer currently being processed – 271. In these cases, we 

are either waiting for a response from the transferring scheme, waiting for a 
response from the member, or waiting for payment of the transfer. 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no specific equalities implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no specific statutory implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration.  

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the contents of this report. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1  The Pensions Committee is required to consider pension matters and ensure 

that the Council meets its statutory duties in respect of the fund. It is appropriate 
having regard to these matters for the Committee to receive information from 
the Pensions Administration team about the performance of the administration 
function of the pension fund. 

 

Page 203



7.2   When carrying out its functions as the administering authority of its pension 
fund, the Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to advance equality of 
opportunity and the need to foster good relations between persons who share 
a protected characteristic and those who don’t (the public sector duty). 

 
____________________________________ 

 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE  
 
Appendices 

 NONE 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report. 

 NONE 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu – Head of Pensions and Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 
Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 204

mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


Non-Executive Report of the: 
 

 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources 

Classification: 
Restricted (Exempt) 

Pension Fund Risk Register – 30 June 2024 

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report updates the Pensions Committee on changes to the Pension Fund’s Risk 
Register during the quarter to 30 June 2024. Risk Management is the practice of 
identifying, analysing and controlling in the most effective manner all threats to the 
achievement of the strategic objectives and operational activities of the London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets Pension Fund (“the Fund”). A certain level of risk is 
inevitable in achieving the Fund objectives, but it must be controlled. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the detailed Risk Register appended to this report (Appendix 1). 
 

1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 Tower Hamlets Council as the administering authority of Tower Hamlets 

Pension Fund recognises that effective risk management is an essential 
part of good governance. 
 

1.2 The Terms of Reference of the Pensions Committee sets out its 
responsibilities regarding risk management, namely: 
 

 To review the risks inherent in the management of the Pension Fund. 
 

1.3 The Board is established by Public Sector Pensions Act 2013 and the first 
core function of the Board is to assist the Administering Authority in securing 
compliance with the Regulations, any other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of the Scheme, and requirements imposed by 
the Pensions Regulator (TPR) in relation to the Scheme. 
 

1.4 The consideration of the risks associated with administering the Pension 
Fund properly falls within the Terms of Reference of the Committee. Setting 

Page 205

Agenda Item 5.5



out a policy recognises the importance that is placed in this area in 
accordance with the CIPFA guidance and recognise the increased role of the 
Pensions Regulator following the Public Service pensions Act 2013. 
 

1.5 The Risk Register is presented in Appendix 1 for the Committee to review to 
demonstrate compliance with both guidance and regulations provided by 
CIPFA and TPR. 
 

1.6 Not all risks can be eliminated, however with proper management and 
monitoring the impact to the Fund will be minimised.  
 

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 Not reviewing the Risk Register for the Pension Fund potentially exposes the 

Fund and Council to action by the Pensions Regulator. 
 
 3.  DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
  
3.1 The Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice recommends that a Pension Fund 

has a Risk Management Policy in place and reviewed periodically. The Risk 
Management Policy covers key areas such as: 

 

 The Fund’s attitude to, and appetite for risk 

 Aims 

 Risk measurement and management 

 Responsibility 
  
3.2 The Pension Board undertakes quarterly detailed review of the identified risks 

and the process for maintaining the Risk Register and report back to the 
Pensions Committee on any areas of concern. The Pensions Committee carries 
out an annual review of the high-level and emerging risks identified from the 
Fund’s Risk Register. 

 
 Risks under review  
 
3.3 The report discusses the risks with severe (or 16) risk rating. Officers are taking 

the required actions to control these risks and consider the risks to be 
moderating for the reasons explained in the report. 

  
 Risk HRP0019 – Risk of increased liabilities due to yields/inflation out of synch 

with actuarial assumptions/forecasts. 
 
3.4 The funding level of the Fund was 163% at 30 June 2024 compared to 123% 

at the 2022 actuarial valuation.  This implies that the probability of the Fund 
achieving the required future investment return to be fully funded has risen from 
78% in 2022 to 91%, due to improved investment outlook driven by higher 
interest rates.   

 
 Risk HRP0021 – Risk that the London CIV and fund managers underperform. 

Page 206



 
3.6 Officers and the investment consultant engage with London CIV regularly. The 

Pensions Committee receives quarterly updates on the governance and 
investment management arrangements at the London CIV. 

 
 Risk HRP0027 – Risk of high pensions administration costs, processing errors, 

and IDRP costs. 
 
3.7 Officers are recruiting more staff to ensure that the pensions service is 

adequately resourced. Officers are working collaboratively with external 
pensions data specialists to carry out comprehensive data cleanse. The data 
work is expected to benefit the 2023/24 closing and the upcoming triennial 
actuarial valuation in 2025. 

 
 Risk HRP0030 – Risk of inaccurate records due to GMP reconciliations not 

being carried out. 
 
3.8 Officers are acting to carry out a comprehensive data cleanse. Pensions 

administration and Payroll staff are working with pensions systems and data 
specialists to identify and correct defective data. It is anticipated that this work 
will continue to and beyond the upcoming March 2025 actuarial valuation.  

 
 Risk HRP0031 – Data quality issues. 
 
3.9 All pension fund data is in scope of officers’ data cleanse activity. The aim is to 

identify and rectify all legacy cases and then, establish structures and 
processes to ensure the collection and processing of quality data going forward. 
In this regard, officers are seeking to work collaboratively with various service 
providers including the Fund Actuary, the Council’s payroll systems provider, 
the pensions systems provider, and an independent pensions data specialist. 

 
Risk HRP0039 – McCloud implementation. 

 
3.10 Officers will again be seeking to obtain data to establish the potential scheme 

members in scope for the McCloud remedy. There are about 31 employers with 
active members in the scheme, and few have provided data to the Heywood 
data validation portal. The LGA has published its suggested approach to 
McCloud calculations in the absence of member data.  Also, Heywood’s 
McCloud calculation functionality is expected to be operational at the end of this 
calendar year. 

 
3.11 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities conducted a 

closed consultation regarding scheme Guidance to support the McCloud 
legislation.  TH Pension was not involved in the consultation but will liaise with 
Heywood and/or LGA who participated in the consultation. Officers will obtain 
the Guidance when published to determine the required actions. 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 207



4.1 There are no specific equalities implications that are either not covered in the 
main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no specific statutory implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
 Risk Management 
 
5.2 Section 249A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 
(a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
(b) in accordance with the requirements of the law. 

 
The Risk Register, Risk Management Policy which is the subject of this report 
is designed to ensure compliance with the Council’s statutory duties regarding 
managing risk related to the administration and management of the Pension 
Fund. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising because of this report, other 

than that by regularly reviewing the Risk Register, the Fund is trying to minimise 
the chance of financial and reputational loss occurring. 

 
6.2 There are clearly some risks which would be difficult to transfer or manage, 

such as the impact that increased longevity will have on the liabilities of the 
Pension Fund, but the understanding of such risks could well impact on the 
other aspects of the decision-making process to lower risks elsewhere.  

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1  Section 249A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 

  (a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
  (b) in accordance with the requirements of the law 
 
7.2   The Risk Register, Risk Management Policy which is the subject of this report 

is designed to ensure compliance with the Council’s statutory duties regarding 
managing risk related to the administration and management of the Pension 
Fund. 

 
____________________________________ 

 
 

Page 208



Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE  
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Risk Register (30 June 2024) 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report. 

 NONE 
 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu – Head of Pensions and Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 
Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 
 
 

Page 209

mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Status Report (Current Risk Score)

03 September 2024

Tower Hamlets

Details Rating Target Date Proposed In Progress In Place Total % Implemented

Current Risk Rating Controlled Control Measures

Business Unit 12/23 03/24 06/24 09/24

Risk 

Ref/Corporat

e Priority

 2  0%HRP0009 n/a 16 16  2  0  0There is a risk that historical errors in Pension 

Scheme member data will lead to materially 

incorrect calculation of the Pension's liability 

figure and qualification of the Council's 

Statement of Accounts and Pension Fund 

Accounts.

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 30/11/2024 16

 12  67%HRP0035 n/i n/i 16  4  0  8Inability to meet legal and performance 

expectations (including inaccuracies and delays 

and potential legal breaches) due to lack of or 

poor-quality data from the council and other 

employers

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 16

 5  20%HRP0039 n/i n/i 16  4  0  1McCloudPensions and 

Treasury

9 16

 8  0%HRP0014 n/i n/i 15  8  0  0Material misstatement of accounts and 

potentially a qualified audit opinion

Pensions and 

Treasury

3 15

 11  55%HRP0019 n/i n/i 16  5  0  6There is a Risk of increased liabilities due to 

market yields/inflation moving out of line from 

actuarial assumptions/forecasting.

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 12

 11  0%HRP0020 n/i n/i 12  11  0  0Investment Strategy fails to deliver appropriate 

returns

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 12

 8  0%HRP0021 n/i n/i 16  8  0  0There is a Risk that the London CIV and 

Investment Managers underperform.

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 12

 8  63%HRP0027 n/i n/i 16  3  0  5There is a risk to the Pension Service's Budget 

due to high administration costs and/or errors 

by way of rectification costs, IDRP costs or 

Fraudulent activities. There is also further 

financial risk and reputational risk if the 

Ombudsman rules against the Fund.

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 30/09/2024 12

Page 1 of 4Report produced by JCAD CORE © 2001-2024 JC Applications Development

P
age 211



Risk Status Report (Current Risk Score)Tower Hamlets

Details Rating Target Date Proposed In Progress In Place Total % Implemented

Current Risk Rating Controlled Control Measures

Business Unit 12/23 03/24 06/24 09/24

Risk 

Ref/Corporat

e Priority

 7  57%HRP0030 n/i n/i 16  3  0  4Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 

reconciliation. Inaccurate record keeping

Suggested Wording: There is a risk to the 

Guaranteed Minimum Pension reconciliation if 

records are not kept accurately.

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 12

 7  43%HRP0031 n/i n/i 16  4  0  3Data Quality IssuesPensions and 

Treasury

4 12

 7  71%HRP0017 n/i n/i 10  2  0  5Investment and/or funding objectives and/or 

strategies are inappropriate, inconsistent or 

otherwise no longer fit for purpose such that 

asset values fall/liabilities rise and funding 

levels fall and/or employer costs rise 

unexpectedly

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 10

 10  80%HRP0038 n/i n/i 10  2  0  8Employer contributions are insufficient and/or 

inappropriate relative to the employer's risk 

profile, potentially leading to other employers 

having to meet their liabilities

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 10

 10  90%HRP0010 n/i n/i 9  1  0  9The Fund's objectives/legal responsibilities are 

not met or are compromised - external factors

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 9  0%HRP0011 n/i n/i 9  9  0  0Key Person Risk and staff turnover, Risk of loss 

of key/senior staff

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 11  9%HRP0012 n/i n/i 9  10  0  1Appropriate objectives are not agreed or 

monitored - internal factors

Pensions and 

Treasury

1 9

 4  0%HRP0015 n/i n/i 9  4  0  0Failure to comply with TPR Cyber requirements 

for Pension Schemes

Pensions and 

Treasury

3 9

 9  67%HRP0016 n/i n/i 9  3  0  6Failure to secure and manage personal data in 

line with GDPR requirements

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 7  86%HRP0018 n/i n/i 9  1  0  6Investment targets are not achieved therefore 

materially reducing solvency / increasing 

contributions

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 9

Page 2 of 4Report produced by JCAD CORE © 2001-2024 JC Applications Development

P
age 212



Risk Status Report (Current Risk Score)Tower Hamlets

Details Rating Target Date Proposed In Progress In Place Total % Implemented

Current Risk Rating Controlled Control Measures

Business Unit 12/23 03/24 06/24 09/24

Risk 

Ref/Corporat

e Priority

 13  46%HRP0024 n/i n/i 9  7  0  6McCloud JudgementPensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 2  50%HRP0025 n/i n/i 9  1  0  1Climate Change Impact. Climate change risk can 

be grouped into two categories - Physical risks 

arising from changes in weather that impact on 

the economy and Transition risks arising from 

the transition to a low carbon economy.

Pensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 5  60%HRP0026 n/i n/i 9  2  0  3Unable to meet legal and performance 

expectations due to external factors

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 9

 2  50%HRP0034 n/i n/i 9  1  0  1Delay in Transfer in processing timePensions and 

Treasury

9 9

 11  64%HRP0036 n/i n/i 9  4  0  7Failure to provide an Annual Benefit Statement 

to 100% of active members due to incorrect 

data provided by employers in the scheme

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 9

 6  0%HRP0022 n/i n/i 6  6  0  0Value of liabilities/contributions change due to 

demographics being out of line with 

assumptions

Pensions and 

Treasury

6 6

 8  50%HRP0028 n/i n/i 6  4  0  4Scheme members do not understand or 

appreciate their benefits and cannot make 

informed decisions

Pensions and 

Treasury

2 6

 6  83%HRP0037 n/i n/i 6  1  0  5Employer unable to pay cessation deficits 

leading to other employers becoming liable for 

such deficits

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 6

 9  67%HRP0029 n/i n/i 4  3  0  6Service provision is interrupted or incorrect 

benefits paid and/or records are lost, including 

data breaches

Pensions and 

Treasury

3 4

 2  50%HRP0032 n/i n/i 4  1  0  1Scam detection and Prevention - There is a risk 

that a Scheme Member could be the victim of 

fraud

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 4

 2  50%HRP0033 n/i n/i 4  1  0  1Failure to address financial irregularity may 

result in a financial loss to the Fund and scheme 

employers, as well as reputational damage to 

the Council

Pensions and 

Treasury

4 4

Page 3 of 4Report produced by JCAD CORE © 2001-2024 JC Applications Development

P
age 213



Risk Status Report (Current Risk Score)Tower Hamlets

Details Rating Target Date Proposed In Progress In Place Total % Implemented

Current Risk Rating Controlled Control Measures

Business Unit 12/23 03/24 06/24 09/24

Risk 

Ref/Corporat

e Priority

 15  0%HRP0013 n/i n/i 2  15  0  0Inappropriate or no decisions are madePensions and 

Treasury

2 2

 9  0%HRP0023 n/i n/i 2  9  0  0Insufficient cash to pay benefits as they fall 

due, resulting in disinvestment at depressed 

asset prices

Pensions and 

Treasury

2 2

 139  0  97  236  41% 0  16  308  288  184 31

Page 4 of 4Report produced by JCAD CORE © 2001-2024 JC Applications Development

P
age 214



Non-Executive Report of the: 
 

 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Training  

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report updates the Pensions Committee on the Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
Training arrangements for Committee and Board members.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the content of this report. 
2. Note that Committee and Board members have been enrolled on the 

LGPS Online Learning Academy (LOLA) and will have received individual 
email confirmation of enrolment. 

3. Note that Committee and Board members can now access the LOLA 
portal to review the modules they have been enrolled to complete the 
learning at their own pace. 

4. Note that Hymans will be launching the 2024 National Knowledge 
Assessment (NKA) on 17 September 2024. 

5. Note that it is recommended that Committee and Board members 
commence the assessment as soon as possible after the launch date. 

6. Note that Committee and Board members will be provided with a link to 
the assessment prior to the launch of the NKA. 

7. Advise officers of any training completed and event(s) attended not 
recorded in the training log. 
 

 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 An up-to-date training strategy and training plan is essential in supporting 

Pensions Committee and Pension Board members in performing and 
developing in their roles and are well-equipped with the requisite skills and 
knowledge to carry out their responsibilities effectively. 

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

Page 215

Agenda Item 5.6



 
2.1 None. 

 
 3.  DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
  
3.1 Officers are developing a training strategy to reflect: 
 

 The Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice on the requirements of the 
knowledge and understanding of the Pension Board and Pensions 
Committee members – a link to the Regulator’s toolbox is provided in 
the Appendices section of this report; 

 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Knowledge and Skills Framework;  

 The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Guidance covering the knowledge 
and skills of the Board; and 

 The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014 (MiFID II) 
requirements regarding the Pensions Committee’s investment 
knowledge to maintain the Fund’s professional investor status. 

  
3.2 The objectives of the training strategy are to ensure that: 
 

 The Fund is well-managed, and its services are delivered by people with 
the appropriate knowledge and skills; 

 The Fund is effectively governed and administered; and 

 Informed decisions are made in accordance with the Regulations, and 
guidance from the Pensions Regulator, the Scheme Advisory Board and 
DLUHC.  

 
3.3 The scope of the training strategy will ensure consistency and compliance with 

the key areas of knowledge and understanding including: 
 

 LGPS Regulations and other relevant Pensions legislation 

 Public service pensions governance 

 The fundamentals of financial markets and pension fund investments 

 Pension Fund operation and administration 

 Actuarial approach, standards and practices 

 Pension Fund procurement and relationship management; and 

 Other pertinent matters 
 
3.4 The Board and Committee will consider a training plan annually, following an 

assessment of members’ knowledge using a questionnaire.  Members will be 
required to undertake learning and development activities including attendance 
at training events, reading material and conferences/seminars in person or 
online. 

 
3.5 The delivery of training will be in the form of: 
 

 Induction training; 

 LGPS Online Learning Academy (LOLA); 

Page 216



 Pensions Regulator’s online learning tool; 

 Courses, seminars and conferences; 

 Internal training including pre/post meeting sessions; 

 Targeted regular updates and other materials from advisers and fund 
managers (including London CIV); and 

 Bulletins and circulars on regulations and practices, and other guidance 
materials. 

 
3.6 There is the risk that the delivery of the training strategy is undermined by: 
 

 Lack of commitment by members of the Pension Board and/or Pensions 
Committee; 

 High turnover in the membership of the Pension Board and/or Pensions 
Committee; 

 Insufficient or poor resources 

 Poor quality training 

 Unsuitable or unstructured training plans  
 
3.7 Officers are working collaboratively with Hymans to deliver training to 

Committee and Board members. Officers will monitor the training strategy 
including via feedback from Board and Committee members to ensure the 
continued relevance and effectiveness of the training strategy. 

 
 LGPS Online Learning Academy (LOLA) 
 
3.8 Committee and Board members have been enrolled on the LGPS Online 

Learning Academy (LOLA) and should have all received email confirmation to 
that effect. Committee and Board members can now access the portal to review 
the modules they have been enrolled to complete the learning at their own 
pace. 

 
3.9 Hymans will be launching the 2024 National Knowledge Assessment (NKA) on 

17 September 2024. LOLA users can go-live with the assessment from that 
date until mid-October.  It is recommended that Committee and Board members 
commence the assessment as soon as possible after the launch date.  To 
facilitate the process, officers have provided the completed data capture form 
with the required information to Hymans in advance of the launch. The form 
requests the name and position of all Committee and Board members who will 
be asked to complete the assessment. A blank form is included in this report 
(Appendix 1). Committee and Board members will be provided with a link to 
the assessment prior to the launch.  

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no specific equalities implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

Page 217



 
5.1 There are no specific statutory implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
 Risk Management 
 
5.2 Section 249A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 
(a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
(b) in accordance with the requirements of the law. 
The Risk Register, Risk Management Policy which is the subject of this report 
is designed to ensure compliance with the Council’s statutory duties regarding 
managing risk related to the administration and management of the Pension 
Fund. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising as a result of this report, other 

than that by regularly reviewing the Risk Register, the Fund is trying to minimise 
the chance of financial and reputational loss occurring. 

 
6.2 There are clearly some risks which would be difficult to transfer or manage, 

such as the impact that increased longevity will have on the liabilities of the 
Pension Fund, but the understanding of such risks could well impact on the 
other aspects of the decision-making process to lower risks elsewhere.  

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1  The proposed training strategy is intended to ensure that pension board and 

committee members’ knowledge is in line with the requirements of the relevant 
legislation, code of practice and guidance which apply to them 

 
____________________________________ 

 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 

 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – TH Pension Fund Training and Development Policy 
 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report. 

 https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-
role/trustee-toolkit 

Page 218

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-role/trustee-toolkit
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-role/trustee-toolkit


 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu – Head of Pensions and Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 
Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk  

Page 219

mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



2024 National Knowledge Assessment

The purpose of this sheet is to collect the information for the Committee and Board members who are going to be invited to complete the National Knowledge Assessment.

Please complete the tables below - one for the Committee, and the other for the Board.

For each table, please enter the name for the Committee/Board member, and ensure the correct position (member or Chair) is selected.

Please make sure that there is an entry in the table for each and every member of the Committee and Board respectively.

Name Position

Pension Committee

Page 221



The purpose of this sheet is to collect the information for the Committee and Board members who are going to be invited to complete the National Knowledge Assessment.

For each table, please enter the name for the Committee/Board member, and ensure the correct position (member or Chair) is selected.

Please make sure that there is an entry in the table for each and every member of the Committee and Board respectively.

Name Position

Pension Board

Page 222



Non-Executive Report of the: 
 

 

Pensions Committee 

Monday, 30 September 2024 

 
Report of: Julie Lorraine, Corporate Director, Resources 

Classification: 
Open (Unrestricted) 

Work Programme  

 

Originating Officer(s) Paul Audu, Head of Pensions and Treasury (Interim)  

Wards affected All 

 

Executive Summary 

This report updates the Pensions Committee on the Tower Hamlets Pension Fund 
Work Programme for Committee and Board members.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Pensions Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the content of this report. 
2. Consider the Work Programme for the Committee and Board included in 

this report (Appendix 1) and (Appendix 2) respectively. 
3. Read this report in conjunction with the separate report titled “Training” to 

this Committee, and that Committee and Board members have been 
enrolled on the LGPS Online Learning Academy (LOLA) and will have 
received individual email confirmation of enrolment. 

4. Note that Hymans will be attending this meeting and the Board to provide 
training on actuarial valuation. 

5. Advise officers of any training completed and event(s) attended not 
recorded in the training log. 

 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The Committee is asked to consider the Work Programme for 2024/25. An 

up-to-date training strategy and training plan is essential in supporting 
Pensions Committee and Pension Board members in performing and 
developing in their roles and are well-equipped with the requisite skills and 
knowledge to carry out their responsibilities effectively. 

 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 None. 

 

Page 223

Agenda Item 5.7



 3.  DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
  
3.1 The Work Programme clarifies the proposed agenda items for future Pensions 

Committee and Pension Board meetings over 2024/25. The Work programme 
is included on the agenda for quarterly meetings. 

  
3.2 The Work Programme also provides information pertaining to other work 

programmes outside of the main meetings, such as sub-Committees, Panels 
and working groups if any, proposed training and requests made by the 
Committee and Board. 

 
3.3 The Work Programme provides Committee and Board members the 

opportunity to reflect on the training they have completed, and it is a useful 
reminder of the training or other event Committee and Board members wish to 
attend. 

 
3.4 The Board and Committee will consider the Work Programme quarterly and 

annually. Committee and Board members will be required to undertake learning 
and development activities including attendance at training events, reading 
material and conferences/seminars in person or online to help them fulfil their 
responsibilities as per the Work Programme. 

 
3.7 Officers are working collaboratively with Hymans to deliver training to 

Committee and Board members. Officers will monitor the training strategy 
including via feedback from Board and Committee members to ensure the 
continued relevance and effectiveness of the training strategy. 

 
3.8 Committee and Board members have been enrolled on the LGPS Online 

Learning Academy (LOLA) and should have all received email confirmation to 
that effect. Committee and Board members can now access the portal to review 
the modules they have been enrolled to complete the learning at their own 
pace.  

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no specific equalities implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no specific statutory implications that are either not covered in the 

main body of the report or are required to be highlighted to ensure decision 
makers give them proper consideration. 

 
 Risk Management 
 
5.2 Section 249A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the administering authority to 

manage risk by establishing and operating internal controls which are adequate 
for the purpose of securing that the scheme is administered and managed: 

Page 224



(a) in accordance with the scheme rules 
(b) in accordance with the requirements of the law. 
The Risk Register, Risk Management Policy which is the subject of this report 
is designed to ensure compliance with the Council’s statutory duties regarding 
managing risk related to the administration and management of the Pension 
Fund. 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising as a result of this report. The 

Work Programme sets out the work of the Committee and Board throughout the 
year.  It ensures regularity of agenda items to support the effective governance 
of the Fund. 

 
6.2 There are clearly some risks which would be difficult to transfer or manage, 

such as the impact that increased longevity will have on the liabilities of the 
Pension Fund, but the understanding of such risks could well impact on the 
other aspects of the decision-making process to lower risks elsewhere.  

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1   
   The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require that 

members of the pension board must be conversant with the rules of the LGPS 
and have knowledge and understanding of the law relating to pensions.  The 
work programme allows for consideration of the members’ training 
requirements and review of the training undertaken in addition to providing an 
overview of the work to be undertaken by the board. 

 
____________________________________ 

 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – TH Pensions Committee Work Programme – 2024/25 

 Appendix 2 – TH Pension Board Work Programme – 2024/25 
 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report. 

 https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-
role/trustee-toolkit 
 

 
Officer contact details for documents: 
Paul Audu – Head of Pensions and Treasury Tel: 020 7364 4248 (Ext. 4248) 
3rd Floor, Town Hall, 160 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1BJ 
Email: paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk  

Page 225

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-role/trustee-toolkit
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/trustees/understanding-your-role/trustee-toolkit
mailto:paul.audu@towerhamlets.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Tower Hamlets Pensions Committee – Work Programme 2024/2025 
 
 

 

Pensions Committee Agenda 

Item 
 
Description 

 
Responsibility 

Standing items (to appear on each agenda) 

Pension Board Update Presentation by the Chair of the Pension Board to the Committee on the 

discussions of the last Pension Board. 

Chair of the Pension 
Board/Deputy Chair/Head of 
Pensions & Treasury 

Pensions Administration 
Report 

Update on the performance of the Pensions Administration service and In-house 

pensions team activity including projects and KPIs. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Employer Engagement and 

Communications Report 

Update on Employer Engagement, Employer Contributions, Admissions and 

Cessations and Communications from the Fund 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Governance Report Update on governance issues affecting the Fund, developments in the LGPS and 

regulatory environment, policy changes and LCIV Pool updates. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

TH Pension Fund Risk 
Register 

Review of the Pension Fund’s Risk Register – by exception. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Quarterly Investment Report Review of the Pension Fund’s investments Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

P
age 227



 

TH Pension Fund Breaches 

Log 

Update on the Pension Fund’s breaches log Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

TH Pension Fund Quarterly 

Budget and Cashflow 

monitoring 

Update on the Pension Fund budget and cashflow. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Work Programme Review of the Pension Board and Pensions Committee’s work programme. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Training Receive training and consider Committee members’ participation in upcoming 
events/training. Feedback from events/training attended. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury with the 

Chair of the 

Committee 

1 July 2024 

TH Pension Fund Closing 

2023/24 and External Audit 

Update on the 2023/24 TH Pension Fund year-end closing, preparation of financial 
statements and external audit work. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Governance and Compliance 

Statement 

Review of TH Pension Fund Governance and Compliance Statement Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Admissions Policy Review of TH Pension Fund Admissions Policy Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Annual Review of the Pension 

Committee 

Annual review of the Pensions Committee on the work completed during the year Head of Pensions & 

Treasury with the Chair of 

the Committee 

Training Strategy Review/update of the Pension Fund Training Strategy Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

P
age 228



 

Annual Benefits Statements 
(ABS) 2024 

Update the Committee on the preparation for issuing ABS by the statutory deadline 
of 31 August 2024. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

30 September 2024 

2025 Actuarial Valuation Update on preparation and data quality. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Pension Fund Annual Report 
and Accounts 2023/24 

2023/24 Annual Report and Accounts for review. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

11 November 2024 

External Auditor’s Report on 

the Pension Fund Accounts 

2023/24 

Review the External Auditor’s findings for the Pension Fund financial Statements. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Annual Employer Forum 
Agenda 

Discuss the upcoming Pension Fund Employer Forum Agenda. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of the 

Committee 

Annual Training Plan Review Training completed during the year and training 

proposals/recommendations for 2025/26 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of 

the Committee 

10 March 2025 

Business Plan and Budget  Review 2024/25 Pension Fund Business Plan and Budget and discuss proposals for 

2025/26. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of the 

Committee 

2025 Actuarial Valuation Update on preparation. Discuss Actuary’s key assumptions. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

P
age 229



Pensions Committee - Actions, Requests and Queries 

Subject / Issue(s) Detail Status 
(Pending/Complete) 

   

 
 

 

   

   

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 230



 

Working Groups 

Title  Meetings and actions since the last Pensions Committee Membership 

 
  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 231



 

 

 

Training and Development – attendance monitoring 

Date Topic Committee 
Member(s) 

Feedback 

    
 

 
 

    

    

    

    

 

P
age 232



 

 
 

 

P
age 233



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Tower Hamlets Pension Board – Work Programme 2024/2025 
 
 

 

Pension Board Agenda 

Item 
 
Description 

 
Responsibility 

Standing items (to appear on each agenda) 

Pensions Committee Update Consideration of the draft agenda of the upcoming Pensions Committee and 

summary minutes of the last Pensions Committee. 

Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Pensions Administration 
Report 

Update on the performance of the Pensions Administration service and In-house 

pensions team activity including projects and KPIs. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Employer Engagement and 

Communications Report 

Update on Employer Engagement, Employer Contributions, Admissions and 

Cessations and Communications from the Fund 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Governance Report Update on governance issues affecting the Fund, developments in the LGPS and 

regulatory environment, policy changes and LCIV Pool updates. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

TH Pension Fund Risk 
Register 

Review of the Pension Fund’s Risk Register – by exception. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

P
age 235



 

TH Pension Fund Breaches 

Log 

Update on the Pension Fund’s breaches log Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

TH Pension Fund Quarterly 

Budget and Cashflow 

monitoring 

Update on the Pension Fund budget and cashflow. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Work Programme Review of the Pension Board and Pensions Committee’s work programme. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Training Receive training and consider Board members’ participation in upcoming 
events/training. Feedback from events/training attended. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury with the 

Chair of the Board 

24 June 2024 

TH Pension Fund Closing 

2023/24 and External Audit 

Update on the 2023/24 TH Pension Fund year-end closing, preparation of financial 
statements and external audit work. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Governance and Compliance 

Statement 

Review of TH Pension Fund Governance and Compliance Statement Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Admissions Policy Review of TH Pension Fund Admissions Policy Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

Annual Report of the Pension 

Board 

Annual report of the Pension Board to the Scheme manager outlining the work 

throughout the year 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury with the Chair of 

the Board 

Training Strategy Review/update of the Pension Fund Training Strategy Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

P
age 236



 

Annual Benefits Statements 
(ABS) 2024 

Update the Board on the preparation for issuing ABS by the statutory deadline of 31 
August 2024. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

16 September 2024 

2025 Actuarial Valuation Update on preparation and data quality. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Pension Fund Annual Report 
and Accounts 2023/24 

2023/24 Annual Report and Accounts for review. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

4 November 2024 

External Auditor’s Report on 

the Pension Fund Accounts 

2023/24 

Review the External Auditor’s findings for the Pension Fund financial Statements. Head of Pensions & 
Treasury 

Annual Employer Forum 
Agenda 

Discuss the upcoming Pension Fund Employer Forum Agenda. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of the 

Board 

Annual Training Plan Review Training completed during the year and training 

proposals/recommendations for 2025/26 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of 

the Board 

3 March 2025 

Business Plan and Budget  Review 2024/25 Pension Fund Business Plan and Budget and discuss proposals for 

2025/26. 

Head of Pensions & 

Treasury / Chair of the 

Board 

2025 Actuarial Valuation Update on preparation. Discuss Actuary’s key assumptions. Head of Pensions & 

Treasury 

P
age 237



Pension Board - Actions, Requests and Queries 

Subject / Issue(s) Detail Status 
(Pending/Complete) 

   

 
 

 

   

   

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 238



 

Working Groups 

Title  Meetings and actions since the last Pension Board  Membership 

 
  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 239



 

 

 

Training and Development – attendance monitoring 

Date Topic Board Member(s) Feedback 

30 May 
2024 

Active vs Passive Management Revisited & Should ‘Buy and Maintain’ Fixed Income be 
seen as a ‘Passive’ Strategy Now? [PFIF Seminar] 

John Jones (Chair)  
 

 
 

01-02 
July 2024 

LAPF Strategic Investment Forum John Jones (Chair)  

    

    

    

 

P
age 240



 

 
 

 

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 7.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 253

Agenda Item 7.2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 257

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

Agenda Item 7.3
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 267

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

Agenda Item 7.5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 307

Agenda Item 7.6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 359

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 371

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



welcome to brighter

London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Pension Fund

CMA assessment

Steve Turner

September 2024

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

This report is private and not for public publication as it contains exempt
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular person as
defined in and paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972
and publication is not in the public interest.

P
age 377



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated companies.

© 2024 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This report contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was
provided by Mercer. Its content may not be modified, sold or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without
Mercer’s prior written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed herein are the intellectual property of Mercer and are subject to change without notice.
They are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital markets
discussed. Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s ratings do not constitute individualised investment advice.

This does not contain regulated investment advice in respect of actions you should take. No investment decision should be made based on
this information without obtaining prior specific, professional advice relating to your own circumstances.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources. While the information is believed to be reliable, Mercer
has not sought to verify it independently. As such, Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information
presented and takes no responsibility or liability (including for indirect, consequential or incidental damages), for any error, omission or
inaccuracy in the data supplied by any third party.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities and/or any other financial instruments or
products or constitute a solicitation on behalf of any of the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may
evaluate or recommend.

For Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest

IMPORTANT NOTICES

2

P
age 378

http://www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest


Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Overview

In this presentation we provide a reminder on the DWP regulations impacting the Fund, and we also provide a
summary of each of the objectives set by the Pensions Committee (the “Committee”) in January 2023, and
provide a brief overview of:

• Where to find information related to the objectives based on advice provided over the year to end
December 2023.

• Mercer’s comments (self-assessment) on how we believe we have delivered versus the objectives set for
us over the year.

• A red/amber/green (“RAG”) rating against each of the objectives.

We note that the assessment and scoring of Mercer versus the objectives set is ultimately the responsibility of
the Committee. The intention of these initial views is to help the Committee arrive at their overall assessment
of Mercer, and we would be happy to discuss further once the Committee have agreed on their overall
scoring.

As part of the scoring, we have proposed the use of RAG indicators to assess each objective. This will
naturally focus the attention on any items marked as red in order to resolve any issues. To the extent that the
Committee need or wish to assess the service delivery in total we would argue that a holistic overview of all of
the colours would provide a useful guide without resorting to arbitrary and exclusive weightings.

3

P
age 379



Update on DWP Regulations

P
age 380



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

CMA Order – New DWP Regulations
Background and key changes

5

• The Occupational Pension Schemes (Governance and Registration) (Amendment) Regulations 2019 (the Regulations)
came into force on 1 October 2022. The Regulations integrate certain parts of the Investment Consultancy and Fiduciary
Management Market Investigation Order 2019 (the Order), introduced by the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) on
10 June 2019, into pensions law.

• The Regulations supersede two Parts of the Order that, in certain circumstances, require occupational pension scheme
Committee to:

• Set and review objectives for their providers of investment consultancy services, and
• Carry out a competitive tender process when engaging fiduciary management (FM) providers (this doesn’t apply to the

Fund).

Background

TPR Guidance

• TPR has issued updated guidance in response to the Regulations. https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-
management-detailed-guidance/funding-and-investment-detailed-guidance/tender-and-set-objectives-for-investment-service-providers/set-
objectives-for-your-investment-consultant

P
age 381

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/scheme-management-detailed-guidance/funding-and-investment-detailed-guidance/tender-and-set-objectives-for-investment-service-providers/set-objectives-for-your-investment-consultant


Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Investment Objectives - Setting, Reviewing
and Assessing

6

Objectives – Setting, Reviewing and Assessing

• Pensions Committee should:
• set objectives for each investment consultant appointed to provide in-scope investment consultancy services*. Objectives must be set

by the end of the date that that any new appointment takes effect
• have regard to the Investment Strategy Statement (“ISS”) in setting the objectives
• review the objectives (and, if appropriate, revise) (i) at least every three years and (ii) without delay after any significant change in

investment policy. The Committee must complete the first review of those existing objectives within three years of the date that the
objectives were set under the Order.

• review the performance of the investment consultancy service provider against the objectives they have set, at least every 12 months.

* In scope investment consultancy services are when advising on: exercising of any of the Committee’s powers of investment in any particular case (including the making or retaining of any
investment), the appointment of a particular fund manager, strategic asset allocation, adopting a particular investment strategy, the preparation/revision of a scheme’s ISS

Objectives – Setting, Reviewing and Assessing

• Actions required:
• ensure you have reviewed the performance of the investment consultancy service provider against the objectives set, within 12 months

of the previous review. Diarise in the business plan the deadline for the next annual review, and
• review the objectives by December 2025, or following any significant changes to the Plan’s investment strategy.

The CMA objectives and Mercer’s performance against those objectives were last assessed at the Pensions Committee meeting held on 12 January 2023.

P
age 382



Committee assessment
Balanced Scorecard

P
age 383



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (1/8)

RAGMercer EvidenceObjective

Investment Strategy Design

Mercer has provided advice throughout the year in a
number of these areas. Revisions to the ISS were
provided over the year to account for various
investment strategy changes.

Advice has been provided over the year on the Index-
Linked Gilts allocation to move it from Schroders to a
true index-tracking fund with BlackRock.

Mercer assisted the Committee in reviewing key
carbon metrics arising from the Fund’s assets and
suggested actions that would help improve the Fund’s
carbon footprint profile.

• Advice on Investment Strategy Statement

• Advising on alternative investments

• Advising on Environmental, Social, Corporate Governance and Socially
Responsible Investment policies and climate change considerations

• Have an understanding of the changing circumstances and appreciation of the
risks and opportunities inherent in a rapidly changing business environment in the
UK, Europe and rest of the world.

• Assist with developing policy on currency hedging

• Assist with formulating investment beliefs

• Ensure Members understand the role of each asset class

Committee commentary

8

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 384



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (2/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective
Investment Strategy Implementation

Costs are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Following the Committee’s decision to explore a true
index-tracking and cost effective solution for the Index-
Linked Gilts held with Schroders, a fund manager
selection was provided by Mercer to the Committee. A
number of managers were reviewed that had a Mercer ‘A’
rating. This advice resulted in the BlackRock Aquila Life
Over 5 Years UK Index Linked Gilt Index Fund being
selected.

• Advising on controlling investment costs including fees and
transaction related costs

• Advising on fund manager selection

• Arrange the implementation of asset transitions in a timely manner
and ensure that the Pensions Committee is given sufficient notice of
their Responsibilities

Committee commentary

9

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 385



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (3/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Monitoring the investment strategy and investment managers
Mercer provided an investment strategy review to the Committee in Q4
2023 which explored alternative investment strategies to replace the
existing 5% allocation to Baillie Gifford Diversified Growth Fund due to
performance and liquidity concerns and ongoing fit with the Fund’s
wider investment strategy.

Quarterly Investment Performance reports are provided for each
Committee meeting.

Ad hoc investment advice has been provided in Q1 2024 in light of
actual asset allocations drifting outside of the strategic asset allocation
rebalancing ranges.

• Review of asset allocation

• Review of investment strategy

• Review of investment management structure

• Monitoring and reporting of investment managers

• Produce quarterly reports based on data provided by
measuring and incorporating other third party reporting as
may be required in a cost-effective manner

• Advising on investment markets and the outlook for different
asset classes

• Produce investment advice, ad hoc and other briefing papers
in advance of Committee meetings on a timely basis.

Committee commentary

10

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 386



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (4/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Ongoing Service Standards
Mercer provide advice and relevant information when requested in a
timely manner.

Mercer explored various managers as part of the passive Index-
Linked Gilts manager selection in Q4 2023 with fees charged a key
consideration given no outperformance expectations for a passive
fund.

• Advising on the Pension Fund Annual Report and accounts

• Assist the Pensions Committee to implement their strategy
efficiently through manager fee negotiations and periodic
benchmarking of fees

• Provide advice in a clear and concise manner, limiting use
of jargon and assuming that Members and Officers
understand the key messages

Committee commentary

11

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 387



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (5/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Governance
Advice is provided by Mercer in these areas as and when
required.

Briefing notes have been provided over the year for
example: Mercer thought piece on Efficiencies in the
management of LGPS funds (sent in July 2024).

• Ensure the Committee is up to date with respect to the
legislations, regulations, risks and opportunities with respect to
the management of pensions and investment funds

• Assisting with consideration of appropriate governance
structures and to ensure investment decisions are made
effectively

Committee commentary

12

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 388



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (6/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Training
Training is provided by Mercer on an ongoing basis especially when
new Committees are elected to ensure all are up to speed. This
includes a recent training session on the role of Index Linked Gilts in
the Fund and a session on asset allocation.

When introducing new asset classes, Mercer provides appropriate
training.

Asset allocation training was provided to the Committee in Q2 2023.

Provide training to Members as required to enable the
Pensions Committee to take sufficiently informed
investment decisions

Committee commentary

13

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 389



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (7/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Proactivity
Mercer has proactively advised on new investment opportunities and
emerging risks. Recently (in Q2 2024), discussions began on
diversifying the Fund’s equity portfolio by seeking to address the bias
towards the Growth/Quality investment style. Mercer has also
highlighted the potential to invest in the LCIV’s Global Equity Value
Fund.

The Committee is kept up to date on market dynamics and how if any
this could impact the Fund, such as the UK General Election in July
2024 and the global market volatility briefly observed in August 2024.

• Advising on new investment opportunities or
emerging risks

• Advise on opportunities to mitigate or transfer risks

Committee commentary

14

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 390



Copyright © 2024 Mercer. All rights reserved.

Pro Forma Balanced scorecard (8/8)

RAGMercer CommentaryObjective

Relationship Management
Mercer works proactively to meet this criteria.

Fees are charged in line with the contract.

Thorough checks are performed on the investment advice produced to
ensure accuracy before it is presented to the Committee.

Independent peer review process in place.

Mercer works collaboratively with Officers and the independent
advisor.

• Working with the Fund Actuary to undertake asset
liability modelling as required

• Manage potential conflict of interest appropriately
• Charge fees in line with agreements
• Maintain appropriate quality and accuracy of work to

meet the needs and requirements of the Fund
• Appropriate management and mitigations of any

conflicts of interest

Committee commentary

15

KEY

In line with objectives, no action needed
Keep under review, includes where action is required
but has already been agreed
Committee to consider taking action

P
age 391



P
age 392


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
	2 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	4 SUBMISSIONS / REFERRALS FROM PENSION BOARD
	5.1 Training by Hymans Robertson - Triennial Actuarial Valuation
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Actuarial valuation basics
	Slide 3: How the Fund works
	Slide 4: How do we get the sides to balance?
	Slide 5: Why else we do a valuation?
	Slide 6: How we do the valuation
	Slide 7: Key decision of the valuation
	Slide 8: Setting strategy is a balancing act
	Slide 9: Funding update and change in environment
	Slide 10: What’s happened since 2022?
	Slide 11: High inflation
	Slide 12: Investment outlook
	Slide 13: Key funding risks
	Slide 14: Key uncertainty: Investment returns
	Slide 15: Key uncertainty: Cashflow position
	Slide 16: Key uncertainty: Life expectancy
	Slide 17: Recent longevity trends
	Slide 18: Key uncertainty: Climate risk
	Slide 19: A challenging environment?
	Slide 20: 2025 valuation
	Slide 21: Surplus – what now?
	Slide 22: Surplus – what are the options?
	Slide 23
	Slide 24

	5.2 Employer Engagement and Communications Report
	commumications-strategy-and-policy-statement-2023-24

	5.3 Governance Report
	Appendix. 1 for Governance Report
	Structure Bookmarks

	Appendix. 2 for Governance Report
	Structure Bookmarks

	Appendix. 3 for Governance Report
	Appendix. 4 for Governance Report

	5.4 Pensions Administration Report - June 2024
	5.5 Pension Fund Risk Register - 30 June 2024
	Appendix. 1 for Pension Fund Risk Register - 30 June 2024

	5.6 Training
	Appendix. 1 for Training

	5.7 Work Programme
	Appendix. 1 for Work Programme
	Appendix. 2 for Work Programme

	7.1 RESTRICTED MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	7.2 Triennial Actuarial Valuation 2025 and Funding Update
	Appendix. 2 for Triennial Actuarial Valuation 2025 and Funding Update

	7.3 Draft Annual Report and Accounts 2023-24 - Update
	Appendix. 1 for Draft Annual Report and Accounts 2023-24 - Update

	7.5 Liquidity and Cashflow Monitoring - 30 June 2024
	7.6 Quarterly Investment Review - June 2024
	Appendix 1 - London Borough of Tower Hamlets - Quarter to 30 June 2024_Final
	Appendix 2a - 2024.09 LBTH ISS_Draft (changes tracked)_v6
	Appendix 2b - 2024.09 LBTH ISS_Draft (clean)_v6
	Appendix 3 - Independent Adviser's Report _TH Q2 2024 pdf
	Appendix 4 - LBTH_CMA Objectives - scorecard September 2024_vF




